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1. CALL TO ORDER  [6:30 PM] 
 

2. AGENDA ADDITIONS/CHANGES 
 

3. APPROVE AGENDA  
 

4. PUBLIC TO BE HEARD   
a. Comments from Public  

 

5. BUSINESS ITEMS  
a. FY23 Audit Presentation, Bill Keyser 
b. *Discussion and Consideration of an Executive Session to discuss pending or probable civil litigation 
c. *Discussion and Consideration of an Executive Session to discuss the City Manager’s Six-Month check-in  

 
6. CONSENT ITEMS                                                                              

a. Approve Meeting Minutes: February 28, 2024 
b. ARPA Funds Obligation and Expenditure 
c. Acting as The Liquor Control Commission, Liquor & Tobacco License Approval 
d. Approve Street Vending Permit 

 
7.         COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS & CITY MANAGER REPORT 

 

8. READING FILE 
a. Check Warrant #24038  03/08/24 
b. FY25 Annual Financial Plan (TA-60) for the State of Vermont 
c. February Financial Reports 
d. Bike Walk Advisory Committee Minutes 02/21/24 
e. Tree Advisory Committee Minutes 02/20/24 
f. Police Community Advisory Board Minutes 02/20/24 

 

9. EXECUTIVE SESSION  
a.    *An Executive Session may be needed to discuss pending or probable civil litigation 
b.    *An Executive Session may be needed to discuss the City Manager’s Six-Month check-in   
    

10. ADJOURN 
      

 
Members of the public are encouraged to speak during the Public to Be Heard agenda item, during a Public Hearing, or, when recognized by the 
President, during consideration of a specific agenda item. The public will not be permitted to participate when a motion is being discussed 
except when specifically requested by the President. Regarding zoom participants, if individuals interrupt, they will be muted; and if they 
interrupt a second time they will be removed. This agenda is available in alternative formats upon request. Meetings of the City Council, like all 
programs and activities of the City of Essex Junction, are accessible to people with disabilities. For information on accessibility or this agenda, 
call the City Manager's office at 802-878-6944 TTY: 7-1-1 or (800) 253-0191. 

CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION  
CITY COUNCIL  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
Online & 2 Lincoln St. 

Essex Junction, VT 05452 
Wednesday, March 13, 2024 

6:30 PM 
E-mail: admin@essexjunction.org  
 

www.essexjunction.org Phone: (802) 878-6944 

This meeting will be in-person at 2 Lincoln Street and available remotely. Options to watch or join the 
meeting remotely:  
• WATCH: the meeting will be live streamed on Town Meeting TV  
• JOIN ONLINE:  Join Zoom Meeting   
• JOIN CALLING: (toll free audio only): (888) 788-0099 | Meeting ID: 944 6429 7825; Passcode: 635787  

mailto:admin@essexjunction.org
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?app=desktop&list=PLljLFn4BZd2NDBcfrHVdIR7eUeko7haxg
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/94464297825?pwd=T0RTL0VteHZXNHlteTJpQi83WUg4QT09
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To the City Council 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
Essex Junction, Vermont 

Opinions 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Essex Junction, 
Vermont as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont, as of June 30, 2023, and 
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

154 North Main Street, St. Albans, Vermont 05478 I P 802.524.9531 I 800.499.9531 I F 802.524.9533 

www.kbscpa.com 



To the City Council 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes 
our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in· the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion 
is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, the schedule of proportionate share of the net 
pension liability and the schedule of contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's basic financial statements. The combining and individual 
nonmajor fund financial statements, budgetary comparison schedules of the enterprise funds and schedule 
of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as 
a whole. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial statements and 
our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other 
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, 
we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 21, 
2023, on our consideration of City of Essex Junction, Vermont's internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering City of Essex Junction, Vermont's internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

Stl~~m~--r-~ ~ 
December 21, 2023 



City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

 
Management of the City of Essex Junction (the “City”) herein sets forth an overview and analysis of its financial 
operations for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 Assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources on June 30, 2023 by $43,864,741 (net 
position).  Of this amount, $9,719,180 (unrestricted net position) may be used by the various funds of 
the City to meet the City’s ongoing obligations.  The balance of net position is made up of $34,123,419 
invested in capital assets net of related debt and $22,142 restricted for specific purposes.  
 

 The City’s total net position increased by $5,649,143.  Of this amount, net position attributable to 
governmental activities increased by $5,157,196.  Net position attributable to business-type activities 
increased by $491,947. 

 
 Fund balances of total governmental funds decreased by $780,897 in FY23.   The General Fund had 

$886,806 of unassigned fund balance at June 30, 2023, which is equal to 7.76% of the approved FY24 
General Fund Budget. 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The annual financial report consists of three components:  1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund 
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Essex Junction’s finances, in a manner similar to a 
private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City of Essex Junction’s assets and liabilities 
with the difference between the two reported as net position. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the past 
fiscal year.  The statement of activities is on the full accrual basis (i.e. all changes in net position are reported 
as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash 
flows) whereas the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances of governmental funds 
is on the modified accrual basis (i.e. revenue is recognized when it becomes measurable and available as 
net current position and expenditures are recognized when the related liability is incurred).  Thus in the 
statement of activities revenues and expenses are reported for some items that will only result in cash flows 
in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements combine information from governmental funds (which are 
supported primarily by tax dollars) with information from enterprise funds which are supported by user fees 
and charges (business-type activities).   The governmental activities of the City of Essex Junction include 
general government, public works, community development, public safety, and culture and recreation.  The 
business-type activities of the City include water operations, wastewater treatment, and sanitation lines 
maintenance.  The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 1 & 2 of the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Fund financial statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City has three types of funds:  
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.  The proprietary funds of the City are all Enterprise 
Funds.  Fund financial statements can be found on pages 3 through 9 of the Financial Statements.  
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Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is necessary for an 
understanding of the information in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The Notes to the 
Financial Statements follow the basic financial statements in this report.   
 
Other Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain supplementary information. This supplementary information includes combining statements 
for various funds and budgetary comparison statements for funds other than the City’s general fund.  The 
supplementary information can be found immediately following the notes to the financial statements. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Assets:

Cash 11,424,961$   1,181$            3,070,000$   -$                   14,494,961$ 1,181$           
Other Assets 3,116,643 10,804,084 7,313,685 7,252,716 10,430,328 18,056,800
Capital Assets 28,242,952 24,164,467 18,604,679 18,918,334 46,847,632 43,082,801

Total Assets 42,784,556 34,969,732 28,988,364 26,171,050 71,772,921 61,140,782

Deferred Outflows of Resources 500,818          -                  344,135        -                 844,953        -                 

Liabilities:
Other Liabilities 10,450,558 7,687,786 2,084,604 2,036,021 12,535,162 9,723,807
Noncurrent Liabilities 2,301,071 1,905,397 13,916,899 11,295,980 16,217,970 13,201,377

Total Laibilities 12,751,629 9,593,183 16,001,503 13,332,001 28,753,132 22,925,184

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 26,621,166 22,407,546 7,502,253 7,064,551 34,123,419 29,472,097
Restricted 22,142 23,633 -                -                 22,142 23,633
Unrestricted 3,890,437 2,945,370 5,828,743     5,774,498      9,719,180 8,719,868

Total Net Position 30,533,745$   25,376,549$   13,330,996$ 12,839,049$  43,864,741$ 38,215,598$  

Summary Statement of Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government

 
 
As stated in the chart titled Summary Statement of Net Position, assets exceeded liabilities by $43,864,741 
at the end of fiscal year 2023.  Assets at the end of fiscal year 2022 exceeded liabilities by $38,215,598.   
 
The largest portion of the City’s net position is in its net investment in capital assets (77.79%).  These assets 
are used to provide services to its citizens (e.g. land, buildings, equipment, and infrastructure).  Therefore, 
these assets are not available for future spending. 
 
An amount of $22,142 of the City’s net position is subject to restrictions on how it may be used.  These funds 
are restricted for Veterans Memorial Park and for the Senior Center.  Unrestricted net assets of $9,719,180 
may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  Some of the amounts 
included in unrestricted net position are committed by the City or assigned by the City Council for particular 
purposes (e.g. capital projects). 
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2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues:

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services 513,263$        499,012$        10,641,975$ 10,221,591$  11,155,238$ 10,720,603$  
Operating Grants & Revenues 2,003,736       1,526,014       251,460        393,400         2,255,196     1,919,414      
Capital Grants & Revenues 4,101,627       289,460          585,899        587,748         4,687,526     877,208         

General Revenues:
Property Taxes 4,011,137       3,869,496       -                -                 4,011,137     3,869,496      
Local Option Tax 655,824          -                  -                -                 655,824        -                 
Unrestricted investment 

earnings 66,841            10,258            70,634          11,798           137,475        22,056           
Loss on diposal of equipment (5,300)             -                  (5,200)           -                 (10,500)         -                 
Other 37,145            17,657            -                (7,000)            37,145          10,657           

Total Revenues 11,384,273     6,211,897       11,544,768   11,207,537    22,929,041   17,419,434    

Expenses:
General Government 1,448,143       1,214,378       -                -                 1,448,143     1,214,378      
Public Safety 495,940          482,014          -                -                 495,940        482,014         
Highways and Streets 2,053,025       1,965,645       -                -                 2,053,025     1,965,645      
Culture and Recreation 2,164,649       1,986,161       -                -                 2,164,649     1,986,161      
Interest on Long-Term Debt 59,995            64,801            -                -                 59,995          64,801           
Water -                  -                  4,176,004     4,072,405      4,176,004     4,072,405      
Sanitation -                  -                  677,934        590,029         677,934        590,029         
Wastewater -                  -                  3,300,728     3,093,934      3,300,728     3,093,934      
Recreation -                  -                  2,896,655     2,581,569      2,896,655     2,581,569      

Total Expenses 6,221,752       5,712,999       11,051,321   10,337,937    17,273,073   16,050,936    

Change in Net Position before Transf 5,162,521       498,898          493,447        869,600         5,655,968     1,368,498      
Transfers 1,500              1,500              (1,500)           (1,500)            -                -                 

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position 5,157,196       500,398          491,947        868,100         5,649,143     1,368,498      
Beginning Net Position 25,376,549     24,876,151     12,839,049   11,970,949    38,215,598   36,847,100    

Ending Net Position 30,533,745$   25,376,549$   13,330,996$ 12,839,049$  43,864,741$ 38,215,598$  

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government

Summary of the Statement of Activities

 
 
Governmental activities.  Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $5,157,196 in FY23. 
The City increased its investment in capital assets by $4,213,620 and unrestricted net position increased by 
$945,067.  Restricted net position decreased by $1,491. 
  
Business-type activities.   Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $491,947.   
 
Water Fund 
 
The Water Fund had a budgetary net loss of $80,039 in FY23.  Disregarding GlobalFoundries pass through 
revenues and expenses, Water Fund revenues were $58,027 less than budget and expenses were $69,047 
over budget.  The Water Fund started construction on the Main St water line replacement.  
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Sanitation Fund 
 
The Sanitation Fund had a budgetary net income of $233,251 against a budget of $199,750 in net income.  
Sanitation revenues were $88,580 more than budgeted and expenses were $55,079 more than budgeted.  
Hook-on fees were $22,000 less than budgeted.  City customer charges included $199,750 for the WWTF 
Refurbishment Bond payment. The Sanitation Fund participates by paying 2/3 of the cost of the Meter 
Replacement Program as it funds the costs for both the Sanitation Fund (underground piping) and the 
Wastewater Treatment Fund (wastewater treatment).  Meter replacement costs totaled $47,938, the vac truck 
was replaced partially with sanitation funds, the South St pump station pump and valves were replaced, and 
a lift gate for a truck was purchased in FY23. 
 
Wastewater Treatment Fund 
 
The Wastewater Treatment Fund had budgetary net loss of $13,334 in FY23.  Revenues were over budget 
by $18,224 while expenses were over budget by $55,557.  At year-end 2014, a reconciliation was done of 
revenues versus expenses and it was found that each of the Tri-Town communities was responsible for a 
portion of the surplus.  Each community in the Tri-town was designated a portion of the surplus to be a buffer 
against future losses. These funds have been set aside for each community.  This reconciliation has continued 
annually and the amounts designated to each community as of June 30, 2023 include Essex Junction 
$315,273; Town of Essex $124,440; and Town of Williston $183,383.  Each community determines how much 
it wants to leave in this rate stabilization fund.  Work was completed in FY23 on capacitor replacement, Cogen 
engine, generator and aeration valve control upgrade. Work continued on the PePhloe project. 
 
Recreation Programs Fund 
 
On July 1, 2017 the Essex Junction Recreation and Parks (EJRP) became a department of the City.  EJRP 
had previously been a department of the school district.  EJRP operates the Recreation Programs enterprise 
fund.  The Recreation Programs Fund ended the year with a net position of $730,113.  As an enterprise fund 
it is expected that program revenues generated will cover the costs of programing. Program revenues came 
in over budget by $142,682.  Program expenses were over budget by $11,750.  Pool day admissions, youth 
program, and day camps all exceeded budgeted revenue.  There were significant increases in personnel 
related costs and professional services. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
The General Fund 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City.  The General Fund had a net increase in fund 
balance of $649,199 for the year ended June 30, 2023.  The fund balance of the General Fund increased 
from $822,411 at the end of FY22, to $1,471,610 at the end of FY23.  Of the $1,471,610 fund balance, 
$435,951 is nonspendable (inventories and prepaid expenses), $148,853 is assigned (see Note 12 for 
additional detail) and $886,806 is unassigned.  The unassigned fund balance is equal to 7.76% of the FY24 
Budget.  To comply with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 54, the City has adopted 
a fund balance policy.  Basically, this fund balance policy states that the fund balances of governmental funds 
are classified as nonspendable (not in spendable form or legally required to remain intact); restricted 
(constraints on the use of resources are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, or donors, or 
imposed by law through enabling legislation); committed (constraints on the use of resources are imposed by 
formal action of the voters); assigned (reflecting the City Council intended use of the resources); and 
unassigned.  As of June 30, 2023 the City General Fund has no committed or restricted fund balance.  In 
addition the City has a policy limiting unassigned fund balance to 15% of the current budget. 
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The City budget for the year ended June 30, 2023 passed on the first vote at Annual Meeting in April of 2022 
and there were no amendments made to the budget during the year.   
 
On the revenue side, the City recorded revenues greater than budget by $829,863.  The majority of this 
overage is a result of Local Option Tax revenue collected that was not budgeted for ($655,824).  The revenue 
from Local Option Taxes will be used to fund future capital projects. 
 

 General government expenditures were under budget by $7,396.  General government departments 
include Finance, Administration and Buildings.  This was a result of small savings on a variety of 
expenditure lines within the Administration, Finance and Buildings budgets. 

 
 Public works expenditures were over budget by $27,891.  The primary drivers for this were increased 

costs related to repairs and maintenance for aging equipment and general increases in 
parts/materials/labor, and increased salt/sand costs. 
 

 Community and economic development expenditures were under budget by $19,444.  This was a 
result of personnel vacancy savings.   
 

 Culture and recreation expenditures were over budget by $86,335 offset primarily by the unbudgeted 
grant revenue in the amount of $64,892.  The remaining overage was driven by increased personnel, 
and repairs and maintenance costs in recreation. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund  
 
The Capital Reserve Fund had a fund balance deficit of $839,491 as of June 30, 2023 and a fund balance of 
$854,320 as of June 30, 2022.  The Crescent Connector Project progressed for a cost of $3,867,139 with 
federal grant reimbursement in the year of $1,663,653, the difference is a result of timing between expenditure 
recognition and when the City receives grant revenues.  This project is funded by a grant from the US 
Department of Transportation through the State of Vermont Agency of Transportation and does not require 
matching funds. Additional major projects during the year included: Densmore Drive Culvert project was 
completed. 
 
Whitcomb Terrace Loan Fund 
 
In April of 2004, the City received a grant of up to $270,000 from the Vermont Agency of Commerce and 
Community Development.  This grant was used in FY05 to construct Whitcomb Terrace, 19 new barrier-free 
units of affordable housing at 128 West Street in Essex Junction.  The grant money was used to provide a 
deferred loan to Whitcomb Terrace Housing Limited Partnership for the purpose of constructing Whitcomb 
Terrace.  The interest free loan is due to be paid back to the City on December 17, 2034.  The City has a note 
receivable that is not likely to be paid back and so is carrying a $-0- balance for this note. 
 
Rolling Stock Reserve Fund 
 
The Rolling Stock Reserve Fund had fund balance of $701,305 as of June 30, 2023 and $599,941 as of June 
30, 2022.  This fund received an appropriation from the general fund of $258,900 and $9,964 in other 
revenues.  
 
EJRP Capital Reserve Fund  
 
The EJRP Capital Reserve Fund had a deficit fund balance of $88,342 as of June 30, 2023 and a deficit fund 
balance of $120,777 as of June 30, 2022.  There are planned annual transfers in the amount of $55,000 per 
year through FY25 to reduce the deficit fund balanced as a result of the replacement of the playground 
equipment in FY21.   



City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The City of Essex Junction’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business–type activities as 
of June 30, 2023 totaled $46,847,632 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This is a net increase of $3,764,831 
from June 30, 2022, when the total was $43,082,801.   
 
These assets include buildings, roads and bridges, land, machinery and equipment, library books, park 
facilities, vehicles and distribution and collection systems.  Asset additions totaled $5,796,662 and were 
concentrated in infrastructure and roads/curbs/sidewalks categories.  These additions were offset by 
accumulated depreciation which increased by $2,031,832, to cause the increase in capital assets net of 
accumulated depreciation.  
 
The major capital asset transactions during the year for the Governmental Activities were as follows: 
 

 Paving on Acorn Circle, Rivendell Drive, Sycamore Lane, Juniper Ridge Road and Old Colchester 
Road/Grove Street/Educational Drive areas 

 Stormwater improvements on Densmore Drive 
 HVAC installation at Park St School and Brownell Library 

 
The major capital assets transactions during the year for the enterprise activities were as follows: 

 
 Began construction on Main St water line replacement 
 Vac truck replacement 
 Backhoe replacement 
 Actuators at the wastewater treatment facility 
 Water meter purchase and installation is ongoing 

 
A table that shows the values of the City’s capital assets net of depreciation is shown below.  Additional 
information can be found in Note 7 of this report.  
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Capital Assets:
Land 127,876$        127,876$        118,077$      118,077$       245,953$      245,953$       
Construction in Progress 7,885,735       4,053,873       303,959        226,566         8,189,694     4,280,439      
Antiques and Works of Art 7,550              7,550              -                -                 7,550            7,550             
Buildings and Improvements 4,704,912       4,681,637       15,171,806   15,171,806    19,876,718   19,853,443    
Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 8,703,668       8,528,169       6,411,376     5,876,579      15,115,044   14,404,748    
Library Books 808,424          810,783          -                -                 808,424        810,783         
Parks 2,078,606       2,037,631       -                -                 2,078,606     2,037,631      
Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks, and -                

 Storm Sewers 17,683,481     16,583,419     164,182        164,182         17,847,663   16,747,601    
Water and Sewer infrastructure -                  -                  22,442,964   22,427,806    22,442,964   22,427,806    

42,000,252     36,830,938     44,612,364   43,985,016    86,612,616   80,815,954    
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (13,757,300)    (12,666,471)    (26,007,685)  (25,066,682)   (39,764,985)  (37,733,153)   

Total Assets, Net 28,242,952$   24,164,467$   18,604,679$ 18,918,334$  46,847,631$ 43,082,801$  

Summary of Capital Assets

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government
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LONG TERM DEBT 

June 30, 2022 Additions Deletions June 30, 2023

Governmental Activities
General Obligation Bonds 1,756,921$     -$                135,135$      1,621,786$    

Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Bonds 1,433,079       3,070,000       84,865          4,418,214      
Notes Payable 10,420,704     -                  666,492        9,754,212      

Total Government 13,610,704$   3,070,000$     886,492$      15,794,212$  

Summary of Long Term Debt

 
 
On April 8, 2014 the City voters agreed to issue general obligation bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$3,300,000.  In July 2015 $3,300,000 was received from the Vermont Municipal Bond Bank for the purpose 
of performing five infrastructure projects.  In FY15 the School St. south Roadway/Water/Sewer line project 
was completed.  In FY16 the Hillcrest Drainage project, the Main St. Drainage, the Maple St. Culvert/Water 
line were completed and the Briar Lane Roadway/Sidewalk/Water Line projects were continued.  The last 
project, Briar Lane Roadway/Sidewalk and Water Line was completed in FY17. At June 30, 2023 the 
outstanding principal on this bond is $1,980,000; with $1,621,786 in governmental activities and $358,214 in 
business-type activities. 
 
In FY10 the City was awarded a loan of $566,938 under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act 
(ARRA) to fund two projects.  The projects funded were for a high efficiency blower for the Wastewater 
Treatment Facility and a comprehensive rehabilitation of the City’s sanitary sewers.  Under the ARRA program 
half of the loan was forgiven in the form of a grant.  Interest is at 0% but there is a 2% administrative fee.  The 
loan was for 20 years and the principal balance due at June 30, 2023 is $126,995. 
 
In FY11 the City began two long term projects in the Wastewater Treatment Fund and the Sanitation Fund.  
In a special meeting on April 12, 2011, the City voters authorized the City to issue bonds for $15,230,000 for 
improvements to the Wastewater Treatment Facility and $1,287,000 for the upgrade of City pump stations.  
As of June 30, 2016, the High School Pump Station project was complete and the City had borrowed 
$1,212,300 and received a subsidy of $114,800 from the State Clean Water Revolving Fund in the Sanitation 
Fund.  The principal due on the loan as of June 30, 2023 is $656,888.  As of June 30, 2015 the City had 
borrowed $13,525,000 for the Wastewater Treatment Refurbishment Project from the State Clean Water 
Revolving Fund and received a subsidy of $600,000 making the amount due $12,925,000.   The first payment 
on this loan of was made in FY17 and the principal due on the loan as of June 30, 2023 is $8,970,329.  A 
bond payable for the Wastewater Treatment Refurbishment Project for $1,705,000 was assumed from the 
Town of Bradford.  Principal and interest payments were started in FY12.  As of June 30, 2023, the principal 
outstanding on this bond was $990,000.  The Wastewater Treatment Facility, while owned by the City of 
Essex Junction serves three towns, the City of Essex Junction, the Town of Essex and the Town of Williston. 
The debt payments for the Wastewater Treatment Facility are distributed to the Tri-town members according 
to capacity owned in the Facility. 
 
On April 12, 2022 the City voters agreed to issue general obligations bonds in an amount not to exceed 
$3,070,000.  In July 2023 $3,070,000 was received from the Vermont Bond Bank for the purposes of replacing 
the waterline on Main Street.  Work on this project began in the summer of 2023.  At June 30, 2023 the 
outstanding principal on this bond is $3,070,000. 
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 
 
Consolidation of Service Delivery Systems 
 
 Starting in FY15 the Town of Essex entered into an agreement with the Village of Essex Junction and the 

Essex Junction School District to bill and collect their property taxes.  This action was an effort to reduce 
the duplication of services that existed.  As part of the agreement the Town assumed the delinquent taxes 
of the Village and Village School District.  The Town of Essex will continue to do the school tax billing for 
the Essex Westford School District for all residents that reside in the Town of Essex. 
 

 In FY14 the Village and Town entered into an agreement to share the services of the Town Manager as 
the Municipal Manager for both entities.  This arrangement led to the Village sharing the salary costs of 
the Manager with the Town, thereby reducing the cost to all taxpayers.  In FY15 it was determined that 
this cost sharing was beneficial and efforts should continue to find more areas to cooperate in the delivery 
of services to be more efficient. This arrangement has resulted in substantial savings for both the Village 
and Town.  In FY18 the current Unified Municipal Manager, Pat Scheidel, who has been Town Manager 
for 27 retired.  A new Unified Municipal Manager, Evan Teich, began employment on February 26, 2018.  
The decision to hire Mr. Teich was unanimous by both the Village of Essex Junction Trustees and the 
Town Selectboard. 
 

 FY16 was the first of a three-year commitment to combine the Street budget with the Town of Essex.  The 
Village Trustees adopted the Village Street budget and the Town of Essex voters approved the funding 
for this budget as part of the Town budget.  A Committee was formed in the spring of 2017 to evaluate 
how successful this arrangement has been so far and whether it should be continued.  The Public Works 
Consolidation Committee came to the following conclusions: 

 
o Maintain the MOU until June 2018 and do the studies outlined in the report. 
o Extend the MOU from July 1, 2018 until the studies are complete or well underway.  The goal is 

full consolidation eventually. 
o Benchmarks will be established as a result of the studies 
o Cross-train staff in the village and town and identify common best practices 
o Consolidate rolling stock and equipment budgets as well as capital planning. 
o Practice resources management with assets, administration, processes, services. 
o Both the Trustees and the Selectboard approved the report. 

 
 In FY16 the Village and the Town combined accounts payable, accounts receivable, cash receipts 

and general ledger.  Two Village employees were relocated to the Town offices to share this work. 
 

 In FY17 the Village Clerk/Treasurer became the combined Town and Village Clerk/Treasurer when 
the Town Clerk/Treasurer position became vacant through retirement. 

 
 In FY18 a Human Resources Director was hired as the combined Town and Village Human Resource 

Director.  
 

 In FY19 the pay rates and practices of both Fire Departments were aligned.  A combined Assistant 
to the Manager position was established which is funded by both entities.   

 
 In FY20, EJRP and the Essex Parks and Recreation Department co-located at 75 Maple Street and 

began streamlining services at the front desk by co-supervising the Customer Service Specialist, the 
Program Director – Senior Services, and by contracting for joint Communications Services.  The two 
departments have hosted joint events and have moved to producing one brochure.  
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 In FY 20, the Village Trustees and Town Selectboard met jointly and worked to put together a merger 

plan for the two entities.  The Village voted during the November 2020 election on a plan of merger 
and it passed 3,453 to 1,205. 
 

 In FY21, The Village Highway and Streets Rolling Stock capital was added to the Highway operating 
budget, funding for this budget is part of the Town budget. 

 
 The Town of Essex (including Village residents) voted via Australian ballot in March 2021 on Article 

II, a plan of merger for the Town of Essex and Village of Essex Junction.  The article did not pass, 
3,737 Yes to 3,756 No.  A Special Town Meeting was held in April for a vote to reconsider the plan for 
merger; that vote also did not pass 4,199 Yes to 4,225 No.  The Village of Essex Junction also held 
an advisory vote in April, asking voters if the Village should pursue separation from the Town in the 
event the merger did not pass. 

 
 Village voters voted in a special election held November 2, 2021 on whether to adopt a proposed 

charter for the City of Essex Junction, VT which would effectively separate the Village from the Town 
of Essex.  The vote passed 3,070 to 411.   
 

 The charter for the City of Essex Junction, VT was approved by the state legislature in May 2022, and 
became effective July 1, 2022.  The City began working towards full separation from the Town 
throughout FY23, with the exception of police and assessing services which will remain under new 
agreements defined by the City and Town. 

 
FY24 Budgets 
 
The FY24 General Fund budget increased by $5,111,156 or 81% from the FY23 budget, bringing total 
budgeted General Fund expenditures to $11,421,171 from $6,310,015.  The increase is largely a result of 
separation from the Town of Essex as there were shared expenses and revenues that no longer exist between 
the two separate entities. The total tax rate (City and Town rates combined) increased 0.17% from $0.9198 
to $0.9214.  In addition to the General Fund rate, there is a 1 cent tax for Economic Development that was 
added in FY17.   
 
The City Water, Wastewater and Sanitation Funds saw a budget increase in total of $771,350 or 17.12% from 
an aggregate of $4,505,616 for the three funds to $5,276,966.  This caused an overall rate increase for FY24 
of 12.07% for the average user using 120 gallons per day.  

 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont’s 
financial condition.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional information should be addressed to the Finance Director, City of Essex Junction, 2 Lincoln Street, 
Essex Junction, VT  05452. The report is available online at www.essexjunction.org. 



Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash 11,424,961$   3,070,000$     14,494,961$   
Taxes receivable, net of allowance 41,049            -                     41,049            
Other accounts receivable 2,208,857       1,622,774       3,831,631       
Due from other funds -                     5,520,000       5,520,000       
Due from Town of Essex 430,786          30,372            461,158          
Inventory 86,750            81,180            167,930          
Prepaid expenses 349,201          59,359            408,560          

Total Current Assets 14,541,604     10,383,685     24,925,289     

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 127,876          118,077          245,953          
Construction in progress 7,885,735       303,959          8,189,694       
Antiques and works of art 7,550              -                     7,550              

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Buildings 2,824,378       7,968,712       10,793,090     
Infrastructure 11,797,524     65,775            11,863,299     
Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 5,599,889       2,820,803       8,420,692       
Water and sewer infrastructure -                     7,327,353       7,327,353       

Capital assets, net 28,242,952     18,604,679     46,847,632     

Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflows of resources related 

to the City's participation in VMERS 500,818          344,135          844,953          

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 43,285,374     29,332,499     72,617,873     

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1,862,013       555,727          2,417,740       
Due to other funds 5,520,000       -                     5,520,000       
Accrued payroll and benefits payable 99,608            156,524          256,132          
Unearned revenue 2,815,642       587,973          3,403,615       
Accrued interest 7,305              19,693            26,998            
Current portion compensated absences 10,855            -                     10,855            
Current portion notes and bonds payable 135,135          867,030          1,002,165       

Total Current Liabilities 10,450,558     2,186,947       12,637,505     

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued compensated absences 309,862          162,453          472,315          
Net pension liability 504,558          346,707          851,265          
Notes and bonds payable 1,486,651       13,305,396     14,792,047     

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,301,071       13,814,556     16,115,627     

Total Liabilities 12,751,629     16,001,503     28,753,132     

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 26,621,166     7,502,253       34,123,419     
Restricted 22,142            -                     22,142            
Unrestricted - designated -                     5,828,743       5,828,743       
Unrestricted 3,890,437       -                     3,890,437       

Total Net Position 30,533,745$   13,330,996$   43,864,741$   

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2023

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Functions/Programs
Governmental activities

General government 1,448,143$    488,411$       429,241$       15,918$         (514,573)$      -$                   (514,573)$      
Public safety 495,940         -                     -                     -                     (495,940)        -                     (495,940)        
Highways and Streets 2,053,025      2,695             1,543,062      4,079,000      3,571,732      -                     3,571,732      
Culture and Recreation 2,164,649      22,157           31,433           6,709             (2,104,350)     -                     (2,104,350)     
Interest on long-term debt 59,995           -                     -                     -                     (59,995)          -                     (59,995)          

Total governmental activities 6,221,752      513,263         2,003,736      4,101,627      396,874         -                     396,874         

Business-type activities:

Water 4,176,004      4,321,751      -                     -                     -                     145,747         145,747         
Sanitation 677,934         715,548         -                     141,300         -                     178,914         178,914         
Wastewater 3,300,728      2,485,999      -                     585,899         -                     (228,830)        (228,830)        
Recreation 2,896,655      2,977,377      251,460         -                     -                     332,182         332,182         

Total business-type activities 11,051,321$  10,500,675$  251,460$       727,199$       -                     428,013         428,013         

General Revenues:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes 4,011,137      -                     4,011,137      
Penalties and interest on delinquent taxes (6,825)            -                     (6,825)            
Local option tax revenue 655,824         -                     655,824         
Unrestricted investment earnings 66,841           70,634           137,475         
Transfers 1,500             (1,500)            -                     
Loss on disposal of equipment (5,300)            (5,200)            (10,500)          
Donations 3,750             -                     3,750             
Other revenues 33,395           -                     33,395           

    Total general revenues and transfers 4,760,322      63,934           4,824,256      

        Change in Net Position 5,157,196      491,947         5,649,143      

Net position, beginning 25,376,549    12,839,049    38,215,598    

Net position, ending 30,533,745$  13,330,996$  43,864,741$  

Program Revenues

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Net (Expense) Revenue and

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Changes in Net Position

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Capital Rolling Stock Non-Major Total
General Projects Reserve Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash 11,424,861$   -$                    -$                    100$               11,424,961$   
Taxes receivable, net of allowance 47,870            -                      -                      -                      47,870            
Other receivables 236,479          1,965,557       -                      -                      2,202,036       
Inventory 86,750            -                      -                      -                      86,750            
Due from Town of Essex 430,786          -                      -                      -                      430,786          
Due from other funds -                      367,930          1,190,165       1,053,625       2,611,720       
Prepaid expenses 349,201          -                      -                      -                      349,201          

Total Assets 12,575,947$   2,333,487$     1,190,165$     1,053,725$     17,153,324$   

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 99,109$          1,260,330$     488,860$        13,714$          1,862,013$     
Accrued payroll and benefits 99,608            -                      -                      -                      99,608            
Due to other funds 8,043,378       -                      -                      88,342            8,131,720       
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 46,600            -                      -                      -                      46,600            
Unavaiable revenue - other 2,815,642       -                      -                      -                      2,815,642       

              
Total Liabilities 11,104,337     1,260,330       488,860          102,056          12,955,583     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable grant revenue -                      1,912,648       -                      -                      1,912,648       

FUND BALANCE

Nonspendable 435,951          -                      -                      -                      435,951          
Restricted -                      -                      -                      22,142            22,142            
Committed -                      -                      701,305          83,803            785,108          
Assigned 148,853          -                      -                      934,066          1,082,919       
Unassigned 886,806          (839,491)         -                      (88,342)           (41,027)           

Total Fund Balances 1,471,610       (839,491)         701,305          951,669          2,285,093       

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows 
of Resources and Fund Balances 12,575,947$   2,333,487$     1,190,165$     1,053,725$     17,153,324$   

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Total fund balances - governmental funds 2,285,093$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets
  are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
  and therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds. 28,242,952     

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period 
  expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds

Unavailable grant revenue 1,912,648       

Unavailable property tax revenue 46,600            

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable
  in the current period and therefore are not reported as liabilities

  in the funds:

Accrued compensated absences (320,717)         

Accrued interest on long-term debt (7,305)             

Notes payable (1,621,786)      

Net pension liabilities (504,558)         

Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of net position that
  is applicable to a future reporting period and therefore not reported as
  assets in the funds. 500,818          

Total net position - governmental activities 30,533,745$   

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2023

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Capital Rolling Stock Non-Major Total

General Projects Reserve Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

REVENUES

Property tax 3,838,114$   -$                 -$                 112,295$      3,950,409$   

Local options sales tax 655,824        -                   -                   -                   655,824        

Licenses and permits 43,721          -                   -                   -                   43,721          

Intergovernmental revenues 1,622,116     -                   -                   -                   1,622,116     

Charges for services 324,474        -                   -                   6,409            330,883        

Fines and forfeits 5,479            -                   -                   -                   5,479            

Interest income 42,826          2,743            9,964            11,308          66,841          

Grant income 439,892        2,382,981     -                   -                   2,822,873     

Donations 13,811          15,919          -                   -                   29,730          
Miscellaneous income 110,160        -                   -                   8,923            119,083        

Total Revenues 7,096,417     2,401,643     9,964            138,935        9,646,959     

EXPENDITURES

Current expenditures:

General government 1,107,221     -                   -                   -                   1,107,221     

 Public safety 387,039        -                   -                   -                   387,039        

 Public works 372,394        999               -                   -                   373,393        

 Community development 297,783        -                   -                   13,688          311,471        

 Culture and recreation 1,819,793     -                   -                   80,824          1,900,617     

Capital Outlay

General government 3,000            -                   -                   47,967          50,967          

Public safety 13,368          -                   -                   -                   13,368          

Public works 1,064,859     4,626,040     167,500        24,724          5,883,123     

Culture and recreation 187,535        -                   -                   14,830          202,365        

Debt Service

Principal 135,135        -                   -                   -                   135,135        
Interest expense 63,157          -                   -                   -                   63,157          

Total Expenditures 5,451,284     4,627,039     167,500        182,033        10,427,856   

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
  Over (Under) Expenditures 1,645,133     (2,225,396)    (157,536)       (43,098)         (780,897)       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Operating transfers in 383,835        531,585        258,900        206,949        1,381,269     
Operating transfers out (1,379,769)    -                   -                   -                   (1,379,769)    

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (995,934)       531,585        258,900        206,949        1,500            

Net Change in Fund Balance 649,199        (1,693,811)    101,364        163,851        (779,397)       

Fund Balance - July 1, 2022 822,411        854,320        599,941        787,818        3,064,490     

Fund Balance - June 30, 2023 1,471,610$   (839,491)$     701,305$      951,669$      2,285,093$   

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Net change in fund balances - governmental funds (779,397)$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of
Activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However,
  in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated

   over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Depreciation Expense (1,260,281)     

Capital Outlay 5,344,064      

Loss on Disposal/Abandonment (5,300)            

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial 
  resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

Increase in the unavailable property taxes 46,600           

Decrease in unavailable grant revenue 1,696,019      

Issuance and repayment of long-term debt are revenue and expenditures in
  the governmental funds, but the Issuance and repayment increase and
  decrease long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets.

Repayment of long-term debt 135,135         

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of 
  current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in
  governmental funds.

Pension expense (3,740)            

Accrued interest on long-term debt 494                

Accrued compensated absences (16,398)          

Change in net position of governmental activities 5,157,196$    

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Water Sanitation Wastewater Rec Programs
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

Current Assets:

Cash 3,070,000$   -$                  -$                   -$                   3,070,000$     
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 1,035,483     246,329        340,359          603                 1,622,774       
Due from Town of Essex -                    30,372          -                     -                     30,372            
Due from other funds 306,221        1,531,228     2,251,644       1,430,907       5,520,000       
Inventory -                    -                    81,180            -                     81,180            
Prepaid expenses 2,523            2,395            17,133            37,308            59,359            

Total Current Assets 4,414,227     1,810,324     2,690,316       1,468,818       10,383,685     

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land -                    -                    118,077          -                     118,077          
Construction in progress 114,340        -                    189,619          -                     303,959          

Capital assets

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 647,800        1,081,209     19,624,583     229,591          21,583,183     
Water and sewer infrastructure 9,389,641     8,503,169     4,714,335       -                     22,607,145     
Accumulated depreciation (7,623,335)    (6,497,417)    (11,752,628)   (134,305)        (26,007,685)   

Capital assets, net 2,528,446     3,086,961     12,893,986     95,286            18,604,679     

Total Assets 6,942,673     4,897,285     15,584,302     1,564,104       28,988,364     

Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred outflows of resources related 

to the City's participation in VMERS 25,549          28,673          113,318          176,595          344,135          

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows
 of Resources 6,968,222$   4,925,958$   15,697,620$   1,740,699$     29,332,499$   

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 376,353$      12,343$        109,391$        57,640$          555,727$        
Accrued payroll 5,245            5,431            25,572            120,276          156,524          
Accrued interest 16,795          -                    2,898              -                     19,693            
Unearned Revenue -                    -                    -                     587,973          587,973          
Current portion long-term debt 132,208        66,678          668,144          -                     867,030          

Total Current Liabilities 530,601        84,452          806,005          765,889          2,186,947       

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Accrued compensated absences 30,984          22,992          41,694            66,783            162,453          
Net pension liabilities 25,740          28,888          114,165          177,914          346,707          
Notes and bonds payable 3,296,006     699,181        9,310,209       -                     13,305,396     

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 3,352,730     751,061        9,466,068       244,697          13,814,556     

Total Liabilities 3,883,331     835,513        10,272,073     1,010,586       16,001,503     

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 2,170,232     2,321,102     2,915,633       95,286            7,502,253       
Unrestricted - designated 914,659        1,769,343     2,509,914       634,827          5,828,743       

Total Net Position 3,084,891     4,090,445     5,425,547       730,113          13,330,996     

 Total Liabilities and Net Position 6,968,222$   4,925,958$   15,697,620$   1,740,699$     29,332,499$   

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2023

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ASSETS

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Water Sanitation Wastewater Rec Programs
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

OPERATING REVENUES

 Charges for services 4,317,220$  710,490$     2,481,623$    2,974,822$         10,484,155$   
Other income 4,531           5,058           4,376             2,555                  16,520            

Total Operating Revenues 4,321,751    715,548       2,485,999      2,977,377           10,500,675     

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating, maintenance and general

      and administrative expenses 3,997,648    551,779       2,105,766      2,873,584           9,528,777       
Depreciation   53,582         109,525       965,909         23,071                1,152,087       

Total Operating Expenses 4,051,230    661,304       3,071,675      2,896,655           10,680,864     

Operating Income Gain (Loss) 270,521       54,244         (585,676)        80,722                (180,189)         

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 5,858           23,182         26,433           15,161                70,634            
Interest expense (124,774)      (16,630)        (229,053)        -                          (370,457)         

Capital contributions -                   141,300       585,899         -                          727,199          

Federal grant revenue -                   -                   -                     251,460              251,460          
Gain on asset disposal 9,900           -                   -                     -                          9,900              
Loss on asset disposal -                   (15,000)        (100)               -                          (15,100)           

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (109,016)      132,852       383,179         266,621              673,636          

Net Income Gain (Loss) Before Transfers 161,505       187,096       (202,497)        347,343              493,447          

Transfers -                   (296,963)      295,463         -                          (1,500)             

Change in Net Position 161,505       (109,867)      92,966           347,343              491,947          

Net Position - July 1, 2022 2,923,386    4,200,312    5,332,581      382,770              12,839,049     

Net Position - June 30, 2023 3,084,891$  4,090,445$  5,425,547$    730,113$            13,330,996$   

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND

CHANGES IN NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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Water Sanitation Wastewater Rec Programs
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 4,079,173$     753,220$        2,523,182$     3,019,384$     10,374,959$   

Payments to suppliers (3,470,417)      31,603            (1,585,751)      (994,626)         (6,019,191)      
Payments for employees and benefits (245,343)         (249,875)         (671,297)         (2,286,529)      (3,453,044)      

Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Operating Activities 363,413          534,948          266,134          (261,771)         902,724          

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND

   RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (267,103)         (335,438)         (291,041)         (4,850)             (898,432)         

Proceeds from sale of assets 37,400            15,000            2,400              -                      54,800            

Capital Contributions -                      141,300          585,899          -                      727,199          

Interest payments on debt (109,703)         (16,630)           (229,195)         -                      (355,528)         

Proceeds from state and federal grants -                      -                      -                      251,460          251,460          

Proceeds from issuance of debt 3,070,000       -                      -                      -                      3,070,000       
Principal payments on debt (29,865)           (65,399)           (656,093)         -                      (751,357)         

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and

Related Financing Activities 2,700,729       (261,167)         (588,030)         246,610          2,098,142       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Operating transfers in/(out) -                      (296,963)         295,463          -                      (1,500)             
Interest income 5,858              23,182            26,433            15,161            70,634            

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities 5,858              (273,781)         321,896          15,161            69,134            

Net Increase in Cash 3,070,000       -                      -                      -                      3,070,000       

Cash - July 1, 2022 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Cash - June 30, 2023 3,070,000$     -$                    -$                    -$                    3,070,000$     

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash

  provided by operating activities:

Operating income gain (loss) 270,521$        54,244$          (585,676)$       80,722$          (180,189)$       
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
  cash provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 53,582            109,525          965,909          23,071            1,152,087       
Change in net assets and liabilities:

Receivables, net (242,578)         37,672            37,183            102,558          (65,165)           

Inventory -                      -                      12,160            -                      12,160            

Due from Town -                      (30,372)           -                      -                      (30,372)           

Due from other funds 252,110          351,976          (168,162)         (446,329)         (10,405)           

Prepaid expenses 5,491              6,305              10,065            10,952            32,813            

Deferred outflows of resources (25,549)           (28,673)           (113,318)         (176,595)         (344,135)         

Accounts payable 34,911            6,215              25,292            9,626              76,044            

Unearned revenue -                      -                      -                      (60,551)           (60,551)           

Accrued payroll (67)                  66                   3,186              1,646              4,831              

Net pension liability 25,740            28,888            114,165          177,914          346,707          
Accrued compensated absences (10,748)           (898)                (34,670)           15,215            (31,101)           

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 363,413$        534,948$        266,134$        (261,771)$       902,724$        

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City of Essex Junction, Vermont, (herein the "City") operates under a City 
Council-Manager form of government and provides the following services as authorized by its 
charter: public safety, library, highways and streets, sanitation, health and social services, 
culture and recreation, community/economic development, public improvements, planning and 
zoning, water, sanitation, wastewater treatment and general administrative services. 

 
The accounting policies adopted by the City conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as applicable to governmental entities. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing accounting 
and financial reporting principles. The following is a summary of the more significant 
accounting policies employed in the preparation of these financial statements. 

 
Financial Reporting Entity 
This report includes all of the funds of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont. The reporting entity 
consists of the primary government; organizations for which the primary government is 
financially accountable; and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their 
relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause the 
reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Component units are 
legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the primary government are 
financially accountable. The primary government is financially accountable if it appoints a 
voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is able to impose its will on that 
organization or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to 
or burdens on the primary government. The primary government is financially accountable if an 
organization is fiscally dependent on and there is a potential for the organization to provide 
specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the primary government 
regardless of whether the organization has a separately elected governing board; a governing 
board appointed by a higher level of government; or a jointly appointed board. Based on these 
criteria, there are no other entities that should be combined with the financial statements of the 
City. 

 
  Basis of Presentation 

The accounts of the City are organized and operated on the basis of fund accounting. A fund is 
an independent fiscal and accounting entity with a separate set of self-balancing accounts 
which comprise its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. Government 
resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for 
which they are spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. 

 
The basic financial statements of the City include both government-wide statements and fund 
financial statements. The focus of the government-wide statements is on reporting the 
operating results and financial position of the City as a whole and presents a longer-term view 
of the City's finances. The focus of the fund financial statements is on reporting the operating 
results and financial position of the most significant funds of the City and presents a 
shorter-term view of how operations were financed and what remains available for future 
spending. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities. These statements report financial information of the City as a whole. 
Individual funds are not displayed but the statements distinguish governmental activities, 
generally supported by taxes and City general revenues, from business-type activities, 
generally financed in whole or in part with fees charged to external customers. For the most 
part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 

 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
program are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable 
with a specific program. Program revenues include 1) charges to applicants who purchase, 
use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function and 2) 
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements 
of a particular function. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues 
are reported instead as general revenues. 

 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and 
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements.  Major individual governmental and enterprise funds are reported as separate 
columns in the fund financial statements. 

 
Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of a government’s general activities, 
including the collection and disbursement of earmarked monies (special revenue funds), and 
the acquisition or construction of general fixed assets (capital projects). The general fund is 
used to account for all activities of the general government not accounted for in some other 
fund. 

 
Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a 
manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the governing body is that 
the costs of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis is to be 
financed or recovered primarily through user charges. 

 
Fiduciary Funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, 
private organizations, other governments and/or other funds. Agency Funds are custodial in 
nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. 

 
  Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes, sewer usage fees 
and water usage fees are recognized under the susceptible to accrual concept in accordance 
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") pronouncements. Revenues 
received from the State of Vermont are also recognized when susceptible to accrual. 
Miscellaneous revenues and fees are recorded as revenue when received in cash because 
they are generally not measurable until actually received. Investment earnings are recorded as 
earned since they are measurable and available. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
  
 Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 

measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized 
as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of 
the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are 
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, are recorded only 
when payment is due. 

 
 Operating income reported in proprietary fund financial statements includes revenues and 

expenses related to the primary, continuing operations of the fund. Principal operating 
revenues for proprietary funds are charges to customers for sales or services. Principal 
operating expenses are the costs of providing goods or services and include administrative 
expenses and depreciation of capital assets. Other revenues and expenses are classified as 
non-operating in the financial statements. 

 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
General Fund - This is the City's main operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of 
the City except those accounted for in another fund. 

 
Capital Reserve Fund - This fund accounts for the general capital expenditures of the City. 

 
Rolling Stock Reserve Fund - This fund accounts for general rolling stock (vehicles) purchases 
of the City. 

 
 The City reports on the following major enterprise funds: 
 

Water Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the Water Department. 
 

Sanitation Fund -This fund accounts for the operations of the Sanitation Department. 
 

Wastewater Fund - This fund accounts for the operations of the Wastewater Department. 
 
Recreation Programs Fund – This fund accounts for the operations of the recreation programs. 

 
 Amounts reported as program revenues include: 
 

1)  charges to individuals and business for fees, rental, material, supplies, or services, 
provided  

 
2)  operating grants and contributions 
 
3)  capital grants and contributions 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Property taxes, licenses, ordinance violation fees and interest associated with the current fiscal 
period arc all considered susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the 
current fiscal period. Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying 
expenditures have been incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met, and the 
amount is received during the period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 
sixty (60) days of year-end). All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and 
available only when cash is received by the City. 

 
General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds 
of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing 
sources. 

 
Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific 
cost-reimbursement grants and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred, 
there are both restricted and unrestricted net positions available to finance the program. It is the 
City's policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by 
general revenues. Expenditure driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying 
expenditures have been incurred and other grant requirements have been met. 

 
 Deposits and Investments 

The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, 
and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of 
acquisition. The City utilizes one cash account maintained by the Town general fund to collect 
money and pay bills for all funds. When money is collected and expended, the City records a 
corresponding payable or receivable to the Town. This helps manage cash and eases 
administrative burdens. The city began the process of establishing separate cash accounts for 
full separation on July 1, 2023. 
 

  Receivables 
Receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts for the estimated losses 
that will be incurred in the collection of the receivables. The estimated losses are based on the 
judgment of management and a review of the current status of existing receivables. 
 
Unbilled revenues consist of revenues earned as of June 30, but not yet billed as of that date. 
 

  Internal Balances 
Activities between funds that is representative of lending/borrowing arrangements that are 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as Advances to/from Other Funds. All 
other outstanding balances between funds are reported as "due to/from other funds". Any 
residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities 
are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances". 
 

  Inventories and Prepaid Expenses 
Inventory quantities are determined by physical count and are valued at the lower of cost or 
market. Inventories in the Proprietary Funds consist of chemicals and materials. Inventory in the 
General Fund consists of salt and calcium chloride. 

 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs that are applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid expenses. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
 Inventories and prepaid expenses of governmental funds in the fund financial statements are 

offset by a nonspendable fund balance as these are not in spendable form. 
 
  Capital Assets 

Capital assets are reported at actual cost or estimated historical cost based on appraisals or 
deflated current replacement cost if purchased or constructed. Contributed assets are recorded at 
their estimated fair value at the time received. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are 
capitalized as constructed. Interest incurred during the construction phase for proprietary fund 
capital assets is reflected in the capitalized value of the asset constructed, net of any interest earned 
on the invested proceeds during the same period. Interest is not capitalized during the construction 
phase of capital assets used in governmental activities. The cost of normal maintenance and 
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the assets' lives are not 
capitalized. The City has elected to report major general infrastructure assets constructed since 
1990. 

 
Capital assets reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are 
depreciated in order that the cost of these assets will be charged to expenses over their estimated 
service lives, generally using the straight-line method of calculating depreciation. 

 
Capitalization thresholds (the dollar values above which asset acquisitions are added to the 
capital asset accounts) and estimated useful lives of capital assets are as follows: 
 

Capitalization Estimated
 Threshold Service Life

Land 1,000$        Not Depreciated

Antiques and Works of Art 1,000$        Not Depreciated

Buildings and Building Improvements 5,000$        40 Years

Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment, Furniture

  and Traffic Signals 5,000$        8-20 Years

Wastewater Treatment Facility Equipment 5,000$        8-20 Years

Library Books 1$               7 Years

Parks 5,000$        20-100 Years

Infrastructure 5,000$        30-50 Years

Water, Sanitation and Wastewater

  Distribution and Collection System 5,000$        60-100 Years  
Capital assets are not reported in the governmental fund financial statements. Capital outlays in 
these funds are recorded as expenditures in the year they are incurred. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

  Compensated Absences 
It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and comp 
time benefits. Employees who leave employment in good standing shall have sick time paid out 
depending on age and length of service, a scale used for payment eligible is included in Note 11.  
The City evaluates all employees who have reached ten (10) years of service or age 57 and, 
depending on accrued leave time at that point, determines if they will likely meet the eligibility 
threshold. The accrual for unused compensated absences time, based on current pay rates, is 
recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. The liability for 
unused compensated absences is not reported in the governmental fund type financial 
statements. 

 
Payments for unused compensated absences are recorded as expenditures in the year they are 
paid. 

 
  Long-term Obligations 

Noncurrent liabilities are comprised of notes payable and compensated absences. Noncurrent 
liabilities are reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. 
Governmental fund type financial statements do not include any noncurrent liabilities as those 
statements use the current financial resources measurement focus and only include current 
liabilities on their balance sheets. 
 

  Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, "deferred outflows of 
resources", represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will 
not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditures) until then. The City did not 
have any items that qualified for reporting in this category. 

 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, "deferred inflows of 
resources", represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not 
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has one (1) type of item 
which qualifies under the modified accrual basis of accounting. The governmental funds report 
deferred inflows of resources from one (1) source: unavailable grant revenue. These amounts are 
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become 
available. 
 

 Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Net Position 
 Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Net Position are divided into three components: 
   

  Net Investment in Capital Assets – consist of the historical cost of capital assets less 
accumulated depreciation and less any debt that remains outstanding that was used to 
finance those assets. 

 
  Restricted – consists of net position that is restricted by the City’s creditors, by enabling 

legislation, by grantors (both federal and state) and/or by contributors. 
 

Unrestricted – all other net position reported in this category 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Governmental Fund Balances 
 In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balances are classified as follows: 
 
 Nonspendable – Amounts that cannot be spent because they are not spendable in form or 

are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 

 Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of laws, 
regulations or externally imposed conditions by grantors or creditors. 

 
 Committed – Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal 

action by the City. 
 
 Assigned – Amounts that are designated by management for a particular purpose 
 

 Unassigned – All amounts not included in other classifications. 
 

 Estimates 
  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 

principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

 
 Operating Transfers 
  Operating transfers are legally authorized transfers from a fund receiving revenue to the fund 

through which the resources are to be expended. 
 
 
NOTE 2 EXPLANATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GOVERNMENTAL FUND AND GOVERNMENT- 

WIDE STATEMENTS 
 

Governmental Fund financial statements are presented using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, while government-wide 
financial statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. These differences in the measurement focus and basis of accounting 
lead to differences between the governmental fund financial statements and the government-wide 
financial statements as follows: 

 
Long-term revenue differences arise because governmental funds report revenues only when 
they are considered "available", whereas government-wide statements report revenues when they 
are earned. Long-term expense differences arise because governmental funds report 
expenditures (including interest) using the modified accrual basis of accounting, whereas 
government-wide statements report expenses using the accrual basis of accounting. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 2 EXPLANATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GOVERNMENTAL FUND AND GOVERNMENT- 
WIDE STATEMENTS (continued) 

 
Capital-related differences arise because governmental funds report capital outlays as current 
period expenditures, whereas government-wide statements report depreciation as an expense. 
Further, governmental funds report the proceeds from the sale of capital assets as another 
financing source, whereas government-wide statements report the gain or loss from the sale of 
capital assets as revenue or expense. 

 
Long-term debt transaction differences arise because governmental funds report proceeds of 
long-term debt as another financing source and principal payments as expenditures, whereas 
government-wide statements report those transactions as increases and decreases in liabilities. 

 
 
NOTE 3 STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 

Budgetary Information 
The General Fund Budget is approved at the annual City Meeting in April. Budget transfers between 
departments can be made upon the approval of the Council during the last three (3) months of the 
year without increasing the total appropriated amount.  

 
Enterprise fund budgets are approved by the City Council. 

 
  Fund Balance Policy 

At the April, 2011 annual meeting, the Voters approved maintaining an unassigned fund balance of 
no more than ten percent (10%) of the prior year's budget. 

 
 
NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2023 consisted of the following: 
 

Book Bank 
Balance Balance

Insured by the FDIC 501,002$      501,002$      

Offset by debt with institution 2,820,000     2,820,000     

Insured by Repurchase Agreement 11,173,659   11,179,966   
Petty Cash 300               -                    

Total Deposits 14,494,961$ 14,500,968$  
 
 The difference between the book and bank balance is due to reconciling items such as 

deposits in transit and outstanding checks. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 
  

Custodial Credit Risk 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for 
investments is the risk that, in the event of failure of the counter-party (e.g. broker-dealer) to a 
transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 
securities that are in possession of another party. The City's policy only allows deposits in banks 
that are FDIC insured and agree to collateralize amounts in excess of FDIC limits.  

 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair 
value to changes in market interest rates. The City has no investments subject to interest rate 
risk disclosure 

  
Credit Risk 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. The City's policy does not allow investment in securities that are 
subject to credit risk unless issued by the Federal Government. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
The City has no limit on the amount that they may invest with any one issuer. As of June 30, 2023, 
the City is not exposed to concentration of credit risk. 

 
 
NOTE 5 RECEIVABLES  
 

Receivables at June 30, 2023, as reported in the statement of net position, net of applicable 
allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows: 

 

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Delinquent Taxes 53,049$           -$                      53,049$        

Penalties and Interest 6,821               -                        6,821            

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (12,000)            -                        (12,000)         

Billed Services -                       1,453,305         1,453,305     

Unbilled Services -                       169,469            169,469        

Grants 1,912,648        -                        1,912,648     
Other 289,388           -                        289,388        

2,249,906$      1,622,774$       3,872,680$    
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 5 RECEIVABLES (continued) 

 
Property taxes are attached as an enforceable lien on property as of September 16th and 
March 16th.  Taxes are levied in August and payable on September 15th and March 15th. The 
City bills and collects its own taxes. City property tax revenues are recognized when levied to 
the extent they result in current receivables. Current receivables are defined as receivables 
which are due or past due, and receivable within the current period and collected no later than 
sixty days after the close of the current period. Taxes receivable that remain uncollected as of 
August 31, 2023 have been recorded as unavailable property tax revenue, a deferred inflow of 
resources, with a corresponding decrease in current year tax revenues. Unavailable property 
tax revenue amounted to $46,600 at June 30, 2023. 

 
 
NOTE 6 NOTE RECEIVABLE  
 

The City has a note receivable as follows: 
 

Note Receivable- Whitcomb Terrace Housing

Limited Partnership, Principal Deferred Until

December 17, 2034, at which Time the Note is

Due, Interest 0%, Secured by a 2nd Position on Building 260,000$      

Allowance for Doubtful Note Receivable (260,000)       

Net Note Receivable -$                   
 
 
NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
 Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Governmental Activities Balance Increase Decrease Balance

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 127,876$       -$                   -$                   127,876$       

Construction in Progress 4,053,873      4,708,060      (876,198)        7,885,735
Antiques and Works of Art 7,550             -                     -                     7,550             

Total capital assets not being depreciated 4,189,299      4,708,060      (876,198)        8,021,161      

Other capital assets:

Buildings and Improvements 4,681,637      23,275           -                     4,704,912

Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment, Furniture 

and Traffic Signals 8,528,169      283,453         (107,954)        8,703,668  
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

Beginning Ending
Governmental Activities (cont'd) Balance Increase Decrease Balance

Library Books 810,783         74,639           (76,998)          808,424

Parks 2,037,631      40,975           -                     2,078,606
Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks, and Storm Sewers 16,583,419    1,100,062      -                     17,683,481    

Total other capital assets 32,641,639    1,522,404      (184,952)        33,979,091    

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and Improvements (1,761,278)     (119,256)        -                     (1,880,534)     

Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment, Furniture 

and Traffic Signals (3,775,079)     (399,336)        92,454           (4,081,961)     

Library Books (590,713)        (66,796)          76,998           (580,511)        

Parks (1,269,065)     (59,272)          -                     (1,328,337)     
Roads, Curbs, Sidewalks, and Storm Sewers (5,270,336)     (615,621)        -                     (5,885,957)     

Total accumulated depreciation (12,666,471)   (1,260,281)     169,452         (13,757,300)   

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 19,975,168    262,123         (15,500)          20,221,791    

Governmental Activities - Capital Assets, Net 24,164,467$  4,970,183$    (891,698)$      28,242,952$   
 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions, as follows: 
 

General Government 22,685$         
Public Safety 117,293         

Highways and Streets 881,574         

Culture and Recreation 237,934         
Community Development 795                

    TOTAL 1,260,281$     
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

Beginning Ending
Business-Type Activities Balance Increase Decrease Balance

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 118,077$       -$                   -$                   118,077$       
Construction in progress 226,566         77,393           -                 303,959         

Total capital assets not being depreciated 344,643         77,393           -                     422,036         

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and Improvements 15,171,806    -                     -                     15,171,806

Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment and Furniture 5,876,579      805,881         (271,084)        6,411,376

Infrastructure 164,182         -                     -                     164,182
Distribution and Collection Systems 22,427,806    15,158           -                     22,442,964    

Total Capital assets being depreciated 43,640,373    821,039         (271,084)        44,190,328    

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and Improvements (6,691,315)     (511,779)        -                     (7,203,094)     
Vehicles, Machinery, Equipment and Furniture (3,434,757)     (366,900)        211,084         (3,590,573)     

Infrastructure (90,198)          (8,209)            -                     (98,407)          
Distribution and Collection Systems (14,850,412)   (265,199)        -                     (15,115,611)   

Total accumulated depreciation (25,066,682)   (1,152,087)     211,084         (26,007,685)   

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 18,573,691    (331,048)        (60,000)          18,182,643    

Business-Type Activities - Capital Assets, Net 18,918,334$  (253,655)$      (60,000)$        18,604,679$   
 

Depreciation expense was charged as follows: 
 

Water Fund 53,582$         
Sanitation Fund 109,525         

Wastewater Fund 965,909         
Recreation Fund 23,071           

    TOTAL 1,152,087$     
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 8  INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY  
 

The composition of interfund balances at June 30, 2023 is as follows: 
 

Due from Due to 
Fund Other Funds Other Funds

General Fund -$                  8,043,378$   
Capital Projects Fund 367,930        -                    
Rolling Stock Reserve Fund 1,190,165     -                    

Water Fund 306,221        -                    
Sanitation Fund 1,531,228     -                    

Wastewater Fund 2,251,644     -                    

Recreation Fund 1,430,907     -                    

Memorial Park Fund 3,704            -                    

Senior Center Fund 18,554          -                    

EJRP Capital Reserve Fund -                    88,342          

Building Maintenance Fund 294,284        -                    

Economic Development Fund 653,280        -                    

Land Acquisition Reserve Fund 83,803          -                    

8,131,720$   8,131,720$    
 
 
NOTE 9 TRANSFERS 
 The interfund transfers during the year ended June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
 

Transfer From Transfer To Amount Purpose

General Fund Rolling Stock Reserve Fund 258,900$      Annual Appropriation

General Fund Capital Reserve 531,585        Annual Appropriation

General Fund Building Maintenance Fund 50,000          Annual Appropriation

General Fund Building Maintenance Fund 44,406          2 Lincoln St. Renovation

Wastewater Fund General Fund (1,500)           Mowing

EJRP EJRP Capital Reserve Fund 112,543        Annual Appropriation

Total Governmental Activities 995,934$      

Transfer From Transfer To Amount Purpose

Sanitation Fund Wastewater Fund 296,963$      Bond Debt Service
Wastewater Fund General Fund 1,500            Mowing

Total Proprietary Funds 298,463$       
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 10 UNEARNED REVENUE AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 
  Unearned Revenue in the General Fund consists of $4,540 in recreation fees paid in advance a 

$300 grant that was paid in advance and $2,970 in donation revenue received in advance and 
$2,807,832 in ARPA grant funding received in advance. Unavailable Revenue in the General 
Fund consists of $0 in grant receivables not collected within sixty (60) days after year-end as 
these would not be available to liquidate current liabilities.  

 
The Capital Projects Fund has deferred inflows of resources in the amount of $1,912,648. This 
consists of grant receivables not collected within sixty (60) days after year-end as these would 
not be available to liquidate current liabilities.  

 
 
NOTE 11  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 

General Obligation Bonds - The City issues general obligation bonds to provide resources for the 
acquisition and construction of major capital facilities and to refund prior issues. General obligation 
bonds have been issued for proprietary activities. Bonds are reported in governmental activities if the 
debt is expected to be repaid from general governmental revenues and in business-type 
(proprietary) activities if the debt is expected to be repaid from proprietary fund revenues. 

 
General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. New 
bonds generally are issued as 10 to 30 year bonds. Refunding bonds are issued for various terms 
based on the debt service of the debt refunded. 

 
Notes Payable - The City has notes payable to finance various capital projects and purchases 
through local banks. 

 
No-Interest Revolving Loans - The State of Vermont offers a number of no and low interest 
revolving loan programs to utilize for predetermined purposes. The City has borrowed money from 
the Vermont Special Environmental Revolving Fund for sanitation and wastewater projects. 
 
Compensated Absences - Unused vacation time can be accumulated up to 240 hours as of an 
employee's anniversary date. Compensatory time for hourly employees can be accrued up to 
200 hours. Employees who leave employment in good standing shall have sick time paid out in 
accordance to the following charts based on age at the time of termination and years of service: 
 

  

Years of    Years of    

Service Max Hours Service Max Hours

20 800 20 400

19 700 19 350

18 600 18 300

17 500 17 250

16 400 16 200

15 300 15 150

14 200 14 100

13 100 13 50

12 75 12 37.5

11 50 11 25

10 25 10 12.5

Age 55+ No Age Requirement 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 11 LONG -TERM LIABILITIES (continued) 
 

Beginning Principal Ending
Balance Additions Reduction Balance

Notes Payable

Bond Payable - Vermont Municipal Bond

Bank, Infrastructure Projects, Net Interest
cost of 3.403% semi-annual Interest 

Payments Due June 1, and Dec 1, 
Due in full December 2035. 1,756,921$    -$                   (135,135)$      1,621,786$    

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 1,756,921$    -$                   (135,135)$      1,621,786$    

Governmental Activities

 
Year Ending

June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 135,135$       56,344$         191,479$       

2025 135,135         52,070           187,205         

2026 135,135         47,646           182,781         

2027 135,135         43,082           178,217         

2028 135,135         38,388           173,523         

2029-2033 675,675         117,834         793,509         
2034-2036 270,436         10,758           281,194         

         TOTAL 1,621,786$    366,122$       1,987,908$     
 

Beginning Principal Ending
Business-Type Funds Balance Additions Reduction Balance

Note Payable- State of Vermont Special 

Environmental Revolving Fund, Sanitation

and Wastewater Improvements, Authorized to

$566,938 but was Eligible for 50% Forgiveness,

Interest at 0% an Administration fee of 2% is 

Assessed Annually, Annual Payments of 

$17,336, Due October 2030. 141,501$       -$                   (14,506)$        126,995$        
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 11 LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (continued) 
 

Beginning Principal Ending
Business-Type Funds (continued) Balance Additions Reduction Balance

Note Payable- State of Vermont Special 

Environmental Revolving Fund, Wastewater

Improvements, Authorized to $13,525,000

but Eligible for $600,000 Subsidy. Interest at 0%,

Administration Fee of 2% is Assessed Annually;

Payments of $790,451, Due July 2035. 9,569,391      -                     (599,062)        8,970,329      

Note Payable- State of Vermont Special 

Environmental Revolving Fund, Sanitation Pump

Station Improvements, Authorized $1,212,300

but Eligible for $114,800 Subsidy Leaving a 

Total Repayment Amount of $1,097,500, 
Interest at 0%, an Administration fee of 2% is

Assessed Annually, Payments of $67,120 

Due May 2034. 709,812         -                     (52,924)          656,888         

Bond Payable- Vermont Municipal Bond Bank,

Water Improvements, Net Interest Cost of 

3.403%, $30,031 due Annually on November 1, 
Semi-Annual Interest Payments Due May and

November 1, Due November 2034. 388,079         -                     (29,865)          358,214         

Bond Payable- Vermont Municipal Bond Bank Series

2010-5 New Money (Recovery Zone Economic 

Development Bond) Wastewater Improvements,

Annual Principal Payments Ranging from

$55,000 to $60,000 Due December 1, 

Semi-Annual Interest Payments Due June 1 

and December 1, Net Interest Cost of 3.345%

30 Year Bond Assumed from the Town of 

Bradford Due December 2040 1,045,000      -                     (55,000)          990,000         

Bond Payable- Vermont Municipal Bond Bank,

Main St. Waterline Replacement, Net Interest 

Cost of 3.899%, $102,333 due Annually on 

November 1, Semi-Annual Interest Payments 
due May and November 1, Due November 2052. -                     3,070,000      -                     3,070,000      

11,853,783$  3,070,000$    (751,357)$      14,172,426$   
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 11 LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (continued) 
 

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 867,030$       359,170$       1,226,200$    

2025 880,616         338,901         1,219,517      

2026 894,485         318,268         1,212,753      

2027 908,631         297,240         1,205,871      

2028 923,060         272,833         1,195,893      

2029-2033 4,808,011      1,047,293      5,855,304      

2034-2038 3,191,765      499,287         3,691,052      

2039-2043 675,498         258,357         933,855         

2044-2048 511,665         149,625         661,290         
2049-2053 511,665         49,875           561,540         

14,172,426$  3,590,849$    17,763,275$   
 
 
NOTE 12 NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES 
 

GASB Statement No. 34, as amended by GASB Statement No. 54, requires fund balances 
reported on the governmental fund balance sheet to be classified using a hierarchy based 
primarily on the extent to which a government is bound to honor constraints on the specific 
purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent. 
 
Governmental fund balances are to be classified as: nonspendable (not in spendable form or 
legally required to remain intact); restricted (constraints on the use of resources are either 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors or donors, or imposed by law through enabling 
legislation); committed (constraints on the use of resources are imposed by formal action of the 
voters); assigned (reflecting the City Council's intended use of the resources); and 
unassigned. 

 
Special revenue funds are created only to report a revenue source (or sources) that is restricted or 
committed to a specified purpose, and that the revenue source should constitute a substantial 
portion of the resources reported in that fund. Special revenue funds cannot be used to 
accumulate funds that are not restricted or committed. These amounts will have to be reflected in 
the General Fund. 

 
Amounts constrained to stabilization will be reported as restricted or committed fund balance in the 
General Fund if they meet the other criteria for those classifications. However, stabilization is 
regarded as a specified purpose only if the circumstances or conditions that signal the need for 
stabilization (a) are identified in sufficient detail and (b) are not expected to occur routinely. 
Governments are required to disclose key information about their stabilization arrangements, 
including the authority by which they were established, provisions for additions to the 
stabilization amount, and circumstances under which those amounts may be spent. The City does 
not have any stabilization arrangements. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 12 NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (continued) 
 

Some governments create stabilization-like arrangements by establishing formal minimum fund 
balance policies. Because users are interested in information about those minimum fund balance 
policies and how governments comply with them, governments are required to explain their 
minimum fund balance policies, if they have them, in notes to the financial statements. The City 
does not have a minimum fund balance policy. The City does have a maximum fund balance 
policy which is to maintain an unassigned fund balance which is no greater than ten percent (10%) 
of the prior year's budget. 

 
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted amounts are 
available, it is the City's policy to first consider restricted amounts to have been spent, followed by 
committed, assigned, and finally unassigned amounts. 

 
 

The purpose for each major special revenue fund - including which specific revenues and other 
resources are authorized to be reported in each are described in the following section. 

 
 Fund Balance and Net Position classifications at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

GENERAL FUND

Nonspendable for:

Inventories 86,750$        
Prepaid Expenses 349,201        

Total Nonspendable Fund Balance 435,951$      

Assigned for:

Library Book Replacement 9,198$          

Termination Benefits 81,809

Health Reimbursement Arrangement Expenses 10,000          

Salary Study 22,500          

Records Preservation 19,754          

Finance Separation 2,592            
Conservation 3,000            

Total Assigned Fund Balance 148,853$       
 

ROLLING STOCK RESERVE FUND

Committed for:
Rolling Stock Reserve Fund Expenditures 701,305$       

 
 

 
 

 
 

27 



 

 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 12 NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (continued) 

 

NON MAJOR FUNDS

Restricted for:

Veterans Memorial Park by Donation 3,704$          
Senior Center 18,438          

Total Restricted Fund Balance 22,142$        

Committed for:

Land Acquisition Capital Reserve Fund Expenditures 83,803$        

Assigned for:

Economic Development 653,280$      
Building Maintenance 280,786        

Total Assigned Fund Balance 934,066$      

WATER, SANITATION, WASTEWATER AND RECREATION PROGRAMS FUNDS

Designated for:
Water Fund Expenses 102,872$      

Water Fund Capital Expenses 811,787        

Total Water Designated Fund Balance 914,659$      

Sanitation Fund Expenses 498,091$      

Sanitation Fund Capital Expenses 200,277        
Sanitation Wastewater Treatment Facility Upgrades 1,070,975     

Total Sanitation Designated Fund Balance 1,769,343$   

Wastewater Fund Capital Expenses 1,756,786$   

Wastewater Expenses- Attributable to the City of Essex Junction 315,273        

Wastewater Expenses- Attributable to the Town of Essex 124,440        

Wastewater Expenses- Attributable to the Town of Williston 183,383        
Wastewater Fund Expenses- General 130,032        

Total Wastewater Designated Fund Balance 2,509,914$   

Recreation Programs Fund - General 634,827$       
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN 
 

Information Required Under GASB Statement No. 68 
 Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and 

Financial Reporting for Pensions requires employers participating in a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan to recognize their proportional share of total 
pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and pension 
expense. 
The schedules below have been prepared to provide City of Newport, Vermont’s proportional 
share of the overall amounts of the VMERS plan. City of Essex Junction, Vermont’s portion 
has been allocated based  on  City of Essex Junction, Vermont’s  proportional share  of  
employer contributions to  the  total contributions to VMERS during the  fiscal  year. 

 
 Reporting Date, Measurement Date, and Valuation Date 
 Net pension liabilities, deferred pension outflows of resources, deferred pension inflows of 

resources, and pension expense are all presented as of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont’s 
reporting date June 30, 2023 and for the City of Essex Junction, Vermont’s reporting period 
(the year ended June 30, 2023). These amounts are measured as of the measurement date 
and for the measurement period (the period between the prior and current measurement 
dates).  GASB Statement No. 68 requires that the current measurement date be no earlier 
than the end of the employer’s prior fiscal year. For the reporting date of City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont, the State has chosen to use the end of the prior fiscal year (June 30, 
2022) as the measurement date, and the year ended June 30, 2021, as the measurement 
period. 

 
 The total pension liability is determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of the 

measurement date, or by the use of update procedures to roll forward to the measurement 
date amounts from an actuarial valuation as of a date no more than 30 months and 1 day 
earlier than the employer’s most recent fiscal year-end. The State has elected to apply update 
procedures to roll forward amounts from an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 
2021, to the measurement date of June 30, 2022. 

   
  Schedule A – Employer Allocations as of June 30, 2021 
 

 

Net Pension Net Pension
Total Total Liability 1% Liability 1%

Employer Employer Net Pension Deferred Deferred Decrease Decrease
Contributions Proportion Liability Outflows Inflows (6.00% Disc Rate) (8.00% Disc Rate)

-$                    0.00000% -$           -$             -$      -$                        -$                        

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

 
 

Schedule B – Employers’ Allocation as of June 30, 2022 
 

Net Pension Net Pension
Total Total Liability 1% Liability 1%

Employer Employer Net Pension Deferred Deferred Decrease Decrease
Contributions Proportion Liability Outflows Inflows (6.00% Disc Rate) (8.00% Disc Rate)

70,206$          0.28060% 851,264$   657,062$ -$      1,275,581$              502,245$                 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 
 
Schedule C – Employers’ Allocation of Pension Amounts as of June 30, 2022 

 

Changes in
Proportional

Difference Share of
Difference Between Contributions
Between Projected and

Net Expected and Actual Proportionate Total
Employer Pension and Actual Changes in Changes in Investment Share of Deferred
Proportion Liability Experience Assumptions Benefits Earnings Contributions Outflows
0.28060% 851,264$     63,930$    43,521$       -$               138,203$ 411,408$       657,062$ 

Deferred Outflows of Resources

 

Changes in
Proportion and

Differences
Between

Difference Employer
Difference Between Contributions
Between Projected and
Expected and Actual Proportionate Total
and Actual Changes in Changes in Investment Share of Deferred
Experience Assumptions Benefits Earnings Contributions Inflows

-$          -$             -$          -$             -$               -$         

Deferred Inflows of Resources

 
 

Net Amortization of Deferred
Amounts from Changes in 

Proportionate Proportion and Differences
Share of Between Employer

Pension Plan Contributions and Proportionate
Expense Share of Contributions Total

161,556$       102,851$                                    264,407$ 

Pension Expense Recognized

 
 

Schedule D – Employers’ Allocation of Recognition of Deferred Outflows/Inflows as of 
June 30, 2022 
 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter
179,978$ 163,746$ 123,779$ 189,558$ -$ -$        

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 

 
 

For entities with a reporting date in 2023, the amounts shown will be recognized 
in the expense for plan years ending in 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027. 
 
Schedule E – Contributions History for Fiscal Years 2020-2022 
 

FY 2022 FY 2021 FY 2020
70,206$   -$         -$          
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 

NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 
 
 The full report containing the schedules of all employers in the VMERS plan will be available 

on the State of Vermont Treasurer's website at: 
 
 http://www.vermonttreasurer.gov/content/retirement/vmers/financial-reports 
 
 The schedule of employer allocations and schedule of pension amounts by employer are 

prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. The schedules present amounts that are elements of the financial 
statements of the Vermont Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (VMERS) or its 
participating employers. VMERS does not issue stand-alone financial reports, but instead are 
included as part of the State of Vermont's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). 
The CAFR can be viewed on the State's Department of Finance & Management website at: 

 
 http://finance.vermont.gov/reports-and-publications/annual-compenhensive-financial-report 
 
 Plan Description 
 The Vermont Municipal Employees’ Retirement System is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer 

defined benefit pension plan that is administered by the State Treasurer and its Board of 
Trustees.  It is designed for school districts and other municipal employees that work on a 
regular basis and also includes employees of museums and libraries if at least half of that 
institution’s operating expenses are met by municipal funds.  An employee of any employer 
that becomes affiliated with the system may join at that time or at any time thereafter.  Any 
employee hired subsequent to the effective participation date of their employer who meets the 
minimum hourly requirements is required to join the system.  During the year ended June 30, 
2022, the retirement system consisted of 359 participating employers. 

 
 The plan was established effective July 1, 1975, and is governed by Title 24, V.S.A. 

Chapter 125. 
  
 The general administration and responsibility for formulating administrative policy and 

procedures of the retirement System for its members and their beneficiaries is vested in the 
Board of Trustees consisting of five members.  They are the State Treasurer, two employee 
representatives elected by the membership of the system, and two employer 
representatives—one elected by the governing bodies of participating employers of the 
system, and one selected by the Governor from a list of four nominees.  The list of four 
nominees is jointly submitted by the Vermont League of Cities and Towns and the Vermont 
School Boards Association. 

 
 All assets are held in a single trust and are available to pay retirement benefits to all 

members.  Benefits available to each group are based on average final compensation (AFC) 
and years of creditable service. 

 
 Summary of System Provisions 
 
 Membership Full time employees of participating municipalities.  

Municipality elect’s coverage under Groups A, B, C or 
D provisions. 

 
 Creditable service Service as a member plus purchased service. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
 
NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 
 
 Average Final Compensation (AFC) Group A – average annual compensation during 

highest 5 consecutive years. 
 
   Groups B and C – average annual compensation 

during highest 3 consecutive years. 
 
   Group D – average annual compensation during 

highest 2 consecutive years. 
 
 Service Retirement Allowance 
 
  Eligibility Group A – The earlier of age 65 with 5 years of service 

or age 55 with 35 years of service. 
 
   Group B – The earlier of age 62 with 5 years of service 

or age 55 with 30 years of service. 
 
   Groups C and D – Age 55 with 5 years of service. 
 
  Amount Group A – 1.4% of AFC x service 
 
   Group B – 1.7% of AFC x service as Group B member 

plus percentage earned as Group A member x AFC 
   Group C – 2.5% of AFC x service as a Group C 

member plus percentage earned as a Group A or B 
member x AFC 

 
   Group D – 2.5% of AFC x service as a Group D 

member plus percentage earned as a Group A, B or C 
member x AFC 

 
   Maximum benefit is 60% of AFC for Groups A and B 

and 50% of AFC for Groups C and D. The above 
amounts include the portion of the allowance provided 
by member contributions 

 
 Early Retirement Allowance 
 
  Eligibility Age 55 with 5 years of service for Groups A and B; 

age 50 with 20 years of service for Group D. 
 
  Amount Normal retirement allowance based on service and 

AFC at early retirement, reduced by 6% for each year 
commencement precedes Normal Retirement Age for 
Group A and B member; payable without reduction to 
Group D members. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 
 

Vested Retirement Allowance 
 
  Eligibility 5 years of service. 
 
  Amount Allowance beginning at normal retirement age based 

on AFC and service at termination.  The AFC is to be 
adjusted annually by one-half of the percentage 
change in the Consumer Price Index, subject to the 
limits on “Post-Retirement Adjustments” described 
below. 

 
 Disability Retirement Allowance 
 
  Eligibility 5 years of service and disability as determined by 

Retirement Board. 
  
  Amount Immediate allowance based on AFC and service to 

date of disability; children’s benefit of 10% of AFC 
payable to up to three minor children (or children up to 
age 23 if enrolled in full-time studies) of a disabled 
Group D member. 

 
 Death Benefit 
 
  Eligibility Death after 5 years of service. 
  
  Amount For Groups A, B and C, reduced early retirement 

allowance under 100% survivor option commencing 
immediately or, if greater, survivor’s benefit under 
disability annuity computed as a date of death.  For 
Group D, 70% of the unreduced accrued benefit plus 
children’s benefit. 

 
Optional Benefit and Death  

   after Retirement For Groups A, B and C, lifetime allowance or 
actuarially equivalent 50% or 100% joint or survivor 
allowance with refund of contribution guarantee.  For 
Group D, lifetime allowance or 70% contingent 
annuitant option with no reduction. 

 
 Refund of Contribution Upon termination, if the member so elects or if no 

other benefit is payable, the member’s accumulated 
contributions are refunded. 

 
 Post-Retirement Adjustments Allowance in payment for at least one year increased 

on each January 1 by one-half of the percentage 
increase in consumer price index but not more than 
2% for Group A and 3% for Groups B, C and D. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 
 
 Retirement Stipend $25 per month payable at the option of the Board of 

retirees. 
 
 Member Contributions For Fiscal Year Ended 
   June 30, 2022  Effective July 1, 2022 
    
   Group A – 3.25%    3.50% 
 
   Group B – 5.625%    5.875% 
 
   Group C – 10.75%    11.00% 
 
   Group D – 12.10%    12.35% 
 
 Employer Contributions Group A – 4.75%   5.00% 
 
   Group B – 6.25%    6.50% 
 
   Group C – 8.00%    8.25% 
 
   Group D – 10.60%    10.85% 
 
 Significant Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 
 
 Investment Rate of Return:  7%, net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation 
 
 Salary Increases:  Varying service-based rates from 0-10 years of service, then a single rate 

of 4.5% (individuals assumed inflation rate of 2.3%) for all subsequent year. 
 

Mortality:  
 

Pre-Retirement: 
Groups A, B, C: 40% PubG-2010 General Employee below-median and 60% of PubG-2010 
General Employee, with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 

 
Group D: PubG-2010 General Employee above-median, with generational projection using 
scale MP-2019. 
 
Healthy Post-Retirement - Retirees: 
Groups A, B, C: 104% of 40% PubG-2010 General Healthy Retiree below-median and 60% of 
PubG-2010 General Healthy Retiree, with generational projection using scale MP-2019.  

 
Group D: PubG-2010 General Healthy Retiree, with generational projection using scale 
MP-2019.  

 
Healthy Post-Retirement – Beneficiaries: 
Groups A, B, C – 70% Pub-2010 Contingent Survivor below-median and 30% of Pub-2010 
Contingent Survivor, with generational projection using scale MP-2019.  
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 

 
Group D – Pub-2010 Contingent Survivor, with generational projection using scale MP-2019. 
 
Disabled Post-Retirement: 
All Groups- PubNS-2010 Non-Safety Disabled Retiree Mortality Table with generational 
projection using scale MP-2019. 

 
 Spouse's Age: Females three years younger than males 
 
 Cost-of-Living Adjustments: 1.10% for Group A members and 1.20% for Groups B, C 

and D members. The January 1, 2023, COLAs is assumed to be 2% for Group A and 
3% for Groups B, C and D. The January 1, 2022, COLAs were 2% for Group A and 
2.3% for Groups B, C and D members.  

 
 Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method. Entry age is the age at date 

of employment or, if date is unknown, current age minus years of service. Normal Cost 
and Actuarial Accrued Liability are calculated on an individual basis and are allocated 
by salary, with Normal Cost determined using the plan of benefits applicable to each 
participant. 
 
Assets: The valuation is based on the market value of assets as of valuation date, as provided 
by the System. The System uses an “actuarial value of assets” that differs from market value 
to gradually reflect year-to-year changes in the market value of assets in determining the 
contribution requirements. 

 
 Inflation: 2.30 per year%  
  

Long-term expected rate of return: The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense 
and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of 
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best 
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension 
plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2022, is summarized in the following table: 
 

Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
Passive Global Equity 24.00% 4.30%

Activity Global Equities 5.00% 4.30%

US Equity - Large Cap 4.00% 3.25%

US Equity - Small/Mid Cap 3.00% 3.75%

Non-US Developed US Equities 7.00% 5.00%

Emerging Markets Debt 4.00% 3.50%

Core Fixed Income 19.00% 0.00%

Private & Alternative Credit 10.00% 4.75%

US TIPS 3.00% -0.50%

Core Real Estate 3.00% 3.75%

Non-Core Real Estate 4.00% 6.00%

Private Equity 10.00% 5.50%

Infrastructure/Farmland 4.00% 4.25%  
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 13 PENSION PLAN (continued) 
 
 Discount Rate: The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets is 7%. The high 

quality tax-exempt general obligation municipal bond rate (20-Bond GO Index) as of the 
closes date prior to the valuation date of June 30, 2022, is 3.54%, as published by The Bond 
Buyer.  

 The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7% as of June 30, 2022. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed plan member and 
employer contributions will be made at rates set by the Board (employers) and statute 
(members). The Board voted to authorize employer contribution rate increases of 0.50% each 
year for a period of four years beginning July 1, 2022, to be offset by any increases in the 
employee contribution rates as negotiated with employee groups and approved by 
Legislature. For this purpose, only employer contributions that are intended to fund benefits of 
current plan members and their beneficiaries are included. Projected employer contributions 
that are intended to fund the service costs of future plan members and their beneficiaries. As 
well as projected contributions from future plan members, are not included.  

     
    Discount Rate (continued): Based on those assumptions, the pension plans’ Fiduciary Net 

Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
plan members as of June 30, 2022. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability. 

  
 The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, 

as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is one percent lower (6.00%) or one percent higher (8.00%) than the current rate: 

 

 

1% Decrease (6%) Discount Rate (7%) 1% Increase (8%)

4,167,940$                 2,781,490$                 1,641,076$                  
 
 
NOTE 14  BENEFIT PLANS 
 

The City offers a 401(a) pension plan to all full time employees hired before October 2022 with 100% 
vesting after three (3) years of service. When a participant in a 401(a) plan has been separated from 
service for a period of at least three years or withdraws their entire account balance, whichever is 
earlier, any non-vested employer contributions are forfeited by the participant and transferred to the 
plan-level forfeiture account. This plan qualifies, according to the Internal Revenue Service, as a 
defined contribution pension plan for governmental organizations exempt from income taxes. The 
plan requires a 5% contribution of base pay from the employee with a 10% match of base pay by the 
City for all employees. Mission Square Retirement (formerly International City/County Management 
Association "ICMA" Retirement Corporation) administers the Plan. In a defined contribution plan, 
benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan plus investment earnings. All of the 
investments are self-directed by each employee. The total payroll for the year was $3,437,899 
while the covered payroll was $1,160,443. Pension expenses for the years ended June 30, 2023, 
2023 and 2022 were $116,044, $191,648 and $246,028 respectively. No forfeiture funds were 
used in FY23. 

 
The City also offers its employees a deferred compensation plan through Mission Square 
Retirement (formerly International City/County Management Association "ICMA" Retirement 
Corporation) in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan permits 
employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 

 
NOTE 14  BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 
 

Deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or 
unforeseeable emergency. The City has no liability for losses under the plan but does have the 
duty of due care that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor. All of the investments are 
self-directed by each employee. The balance of the assets in the plan, at fair market value, as of 
June 30, 2023 was $875,931. 
 
The city began participating in the Vermont Municipal Employees’ Retirement System 
(VMERS) in October 2022 for all full-time employees hired October 2022 or after.  For the 
year ended June 30, 2023, the covered payroll totaled $2,277,456 and pension expense 
totaled $187,890. 

 
The City also offers its employees a Cafeteria Plan in accordance with Internal Revenue Code 
Section 125 for the period July to December 2022. This allows employees to pay for health benefits 
and dependent care pre-tax and pre-social security. The Cafeteria Plan was no longer offered as 
of January 1, 2023 due to changes in health plan offerings and lack of staff participation in the 
Cafeteria Plan.  

 
All full-time City employees receive a group life insurance policy for two and a half their annual salary 
up to a maximum of $100,000. 
 
 

NOTE 15 CONCENTRATION OF REVENUE/EXPENSES 
 

The City receives a major portion of its revenue from GlobalFoundries. For the year ended June 
30, 2023, the City received 7.3% of total property taxes from GlobalFoundries and received 71.2% 
of total water sales from GlobalFoundries. 
 
The City purchased a major portion of their water from Champlain Water District "CWD" for the year 
ended June 30, 2023. The City purchased $2,894,894 in water from CWD. 

 
 
NOTE 16  PROPERTY TAXES 
 

The Town of Essex is responsible for assessing and collecting City property taxes, as well as 
education property taxes for the State. Property taxes are assessed based on property valuations as 
of April 1, the approved budgets and the State education property tax liability. The Town remits 
100% of the taxes billed to the City in two (2) installments in October and April. Delinquencies for 
FY23 are absorbed by the City; delinquencies for FY22 and prior were absorbed by the Town. 
The City tax rates for fiscal year 2023 included City General Fund $0.3464 and City Economic 
Development $0.0100. 

 
 
NOTE 17 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The City of Essex Junction, Vermont is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, 
damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions: injuries to employees; and natural 
disasters. The City of Essex Junction, Vermont maintains insurance coverage through the 
Vermont League of Cities and Towns Property and Casualty Intermunicipal Fund, Inc. covering 
each of those risks of loss. 
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 17 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses to the 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont. Settled claims have not exceeded this coverage in any of the past 
three fiscal years. The City must remain a member for a minimum of one year and may withdraw 
from the Fund after that time by giving sixty days’ notice. Fund underwriting and rate setting policies 
have been established after consultation with actuaries. Fund members are subject to a 
supplemental assessment in the event of deficiencies. If the assets of the Fund were to be 
exhausted, members would be responsible for the Fund's liabilities. 

 
The City of Essex Junction, Vermont is also a member of the Vermont League of Cities and Towns 
Unemployment Insurance Trust. The Unemployment Trust is a nonprofit corporation formed to 
provide unemployment coverage for Vermont municipalities and is owned by the participating 
members. The agreement does not permit the Unemployment Trust to make additional 
assessments to its members. 

 
 
NOTE 18  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

The City is a participating member in the Chittenden Solid Waste District (CSWD) and Champlain 
Water District (CWD). The City could be subject to a portion of the two district's debt if the districts 
experience financial problems. 

 
  
NOTE 19 OTHER INFORMATION 
 

The City finished refurbishing its Wastewater Treatment Facility. The City owns the facility, 
however, the facility serves three municipalities; the City of Essex Junction, Vermont, the Town 
of Essex and the Town of Williston. The City has an agreement with the Towns to provide capacity 
and treatment rights in exchange for an annual fee and for their share of the improvements. The cost 
of the project was $15,230,000 paid for with borrowed funds from the State of Vermont Special 
Environmental Revolving Fund, a general obligation bond and from capital reserves. The debt 
service cost is shared amongst all three municipalities based upon the capacity owned by each. At 
the end of fiscal year 2023, the City owns 33.94%, the Town of Essex owns 33.33% and the Town of 
Williston owns 32.73%.  

  
 
NOTE 20 AUTHORIZED BORROWING 
 

In June, 2011, the City voters authorized the borrowing of up to $3,200,000 contingent upon other 
Federal and State aid for the purpose of making public improvements to the City highways and 
sidewalks. The total estimated cost of such improvements is $11,531,000. No action has taken 
place as of June 30, 2023. 
 

 
NOTE 21 RELATED PARTY  
 

In July 2014 the City entered into an agreement with the Town of Essex to bill and collect 
property taxes.  Under the terms of the agreements, the Town purchased the outstanding 
delinquent taxes, penalty and interest receivables as of July 1, 2014, and assumes liability for 
the collection of those balances due and future taxes through FY22.  
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City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2023 
 
 
NOTE 21 RELATED PARTY (continued) 
 
 All penalties and interest that accrues on delinquent balances shall belong to the Town through 

FY22. Effective July 2015, the accounting departments of the City and the Town of Essex 
merged and operate under one accounting system and maintain one operating cash account; 
the operating account balance is reported entirely on the financial statements of the Town of 
Essex. At June 30, 2023 $430,786 of the balance in the operating account belonged to the 
City, this is reported as Due from Town of Essex in the accompanying financial statements.  

 
 
NOTE 22 TAX ABATEMENT 
 

The City has three tax stabilization agreements that qualify as tax abatements per GASB 
Statement no. 77 Tax Abatement Disclosures. The City, under the authority of the City Council, 
has agreed to exclude the value of two structures on a parcel of farm land in exchange for the 
land to continue to be open to residents for non-motorized recreational purposes.  In FY2023 
the amount of taxes abated totaled $1,960.   

 
The City has two active agreements in FY2023 under the authority of the City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont Commercial Tax Stabilization Policy. One is a standard commercial tax 
stabilization where the City has agreed to abate 70% of the municipal taxes for the first year of 
the agreement. The percentage of abated taxes decreases to 50% in year 2, and 30% in year 
3.  For FY2023 $3,444 was abated. The second falls under the historic building stabilization 
schedule where the City has agreed to abate 70% of the municipal taxes for the first year of the 
agreement. The percentage of abated taxes decreases by 10% annually until year 6 when the 
property is fully taxable. For FY2023 $299 was abated.  
 
These agreements apply to City taxes only and have no impact on Town of Essex property 
taxes or Educational property taxes.   

 
 
NOTE 23 EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS 
 

Expenditures exceeded appropriations in the General Fund by $469,297. This was due 
primarily to overspending in general government, public works and culture and recreation. 
These amounts were offset by unbudgeted grant revenues, local option tax collections and 
fund balance assignments for related purposes.  

 
 
NOTE 24 DISCLOSURE OF SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
 
 In accordance with professional accounting standards, the City has evaluated subsequent 

events through December 21, 2023, which is the date the financial statements were available 
to be issued. All subsequent events requiring recognition as of June 30, 2023, have been 
incorporated into the financial statements herein. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  



Original
Budget Budget Actual Variance

REVENUES

Property tax 3,890,397$       3,890,397$       3,838,114$   (52,283)$       

Local options sales tax -                        -                        655,824        655,824        

Licenses and permits 39,000              39,000              43,721          4,721            

Intergovernmental revenues 1,614,637         1,614,637         1,622,116     7,479            

Charges for services 329,300            329,300            324,474        (4,826)           

Fines and forfeits 2,000                2,000                5,479            3,479            

Interest income 3,000                3,000                42,826          39,826          

Grant revenues 375,000            375,000            439,892        64,892          

Donations -                        -                        13,811          13,811          
Other income 13,220              13,220              110,160        96,940          

Total Revenues 6,266,554         6,266,554         7,096,417     829,863        

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General government 1,117,617         1,117,617         1,110,221     7,396            

 Public safety 396,238            396,238            400,407        (4,169)           

 Public works 1,409,362         1,409,362         1,437,253     (27,891)         

Community development 317,227            317,227            297,783        19,444          

Culture and recreation 1,920,993         1,920,993         2,007,328     (86,335)         

Grant expenditures (375,000)           (375,000)           -                    (375,000)       

Debt Service:

Principal 135,135            135,135            135,135        -                    
Interest expense 60,415              60,415              63,157          (2,742)           

 
Total Expenditures 4,981,987         4,981,987         5,451,284     (469,297)       

Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures 1,284,567         1,284,567         1,645,133     360,566        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in -                        -                        383,835        383,835        
Operating transfers out (1,328,028)        (1,328,028)        (1,379,769)    (51,741)         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,328,028)        (1,328,028)        (995,934)       332,094        

Net Change in Fund Balance (43,461)$           (43,461)$           649,199$      692,660$      

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

BUDGETARY BASIS - GENERAL FUND

See Accompanying Notes to Basic Financial Statements.
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2022

City's proportion of the net pension

liability (asset) 0.2806%

City's proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) 851,264$      

City's covered-employee payroll 877,575$      

City's proportionate share of the net

pension liability (asset) as a percentage of

its covered-employee payroll 97.00%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total pension liability 73.60%

Significant Actuarial Assumptions and methods are described in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Changes in Assumptions:

There were no changes in methods or assumptions since the last measurement date.

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
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2022

Contractually Required Contributions

  (Actuarially Determined) 70,206$       

Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially
  Determined Contributions 70,206         

Contribution Excess/(Deficiency)
Covered Employee Payroll 877,575$     

Contributions as a Percentage of Covered

  Employee Payroll 8.00%

Significant Actuarial Assumptions and methods are described in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Changes in Assumptions:

There were no changes in methods or assumptions since the last measurement date.

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Veteran Land Acquisition EJRP
Memorial Senior Center Capital Reserve  Economic Capital Reserve Building 
Park Fund Fund Fund Development Fund Maintenance Total

ASSETS

Cash -$                 100$              -$                        -$                   -$                        -$                   100$            
Due from other funds 3,704           18,554           83,803                653,280         -                          294,284         1,053,625    

Total Assets 3,704$         18,654$         83,803$              653,280$       -$                        294,284$       1,053,725$  

LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable -$                 216$              -$                        -$                   -$                        13,498$         13,714$       
Due to other funds -                   -                     -                          -                     88,342                -                     88,342         

Total Liabilities -                   216                -                          -                     88,342                13,498           102,056       

FUND BALANCE  

Restricted 3,704           18,438           -                          -                     -                          -                     22,142         
Committed -                   -                     83,803                -                     -                          -                     83,803         
Assigned -                   -                     -                          653,280         -                          280,786         934,066       
Unassigned -                   -                     -                          -                     (88,342)               -                     (88,342)        

Total Fund Balances 3,704           18,438           83,803                653,280         (88,342)               280,786         951,669       

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances 3,704$         18,654$         83,803$              653,280$       -$                        294,284$       1,053,725$  

Fund
Capital Project 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

June 30, 2023
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

Special Revenue
Fund
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Veteran Land Acquisition EJRP
Memorial Senior Center Capital Reserve  Economic Capital Reserve Building 
Park Fund Fund Fund Development Fund Maintenance Total

REVENUES

Charges for Service -$                      6,409$              -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      6,409$              
Property Tax -                        -                        -                        112,295            -                        -                        112,295            
Miscellaneous Income -                        5,286                -                        3,637                -                        -                        8,923                
Interest 30                     262                   1,055                8,019                (1,353)               3,295                11,308              

Total Revenue 30                     11,957              1,055                123,951            (1,353)               3,295                138,935            

EXPENDITURES

Program Expense -                        13,478              -                        210                   78,755              2,069                94,512              
Capital Outlay -                        -                        -                        24,724              -                        62,797              87,521              

Total Expenditures -                        13,478              -                        24,934              78,755              64,866              182,033            

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 30                     (1,521)               1,055                99,017              (80,108)             (61,571)             (43,098)             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Transfer -                        -                        -                        -                        112,543            94,406              206,949            

Net Change in Fund Balance 30                     (1,521)               1,055                99,017              32,435              32,835              163,851            

Fund Balance - July 1, 2022 3,674                19,959              82,748              554,263            (120,777)           247,951            787,818            

Fund Balance - June 30, 2023 3,704$              18,438$            83,803$            653,280$          (88,342)$           280,786$          951,669$          

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue
Fund Fund

Capital Project 
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Variance
Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

OPERATING REVENUES

 Water Sales - City 1,320,757$     1,241,900$     (78,857)$         
Water Sales - GF  -                      2,941,930       2,941,930       
Water Sales - Large Users 110,000          125,230          15,230            
Penalties 5,000              5,600              600                 
Hook on Fees 7,000              2,560              (4,440)             
Interest Earnings 800                 5,858              5,058              
Miscellaneous 150                 4,531              4,381              

Total Operating Revenues 1,443,707       4,327,609       2,883,902       

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries - Regular 140,268          123,665          16,603            
Salaries - Overtime 15,082            8,379              6,703              
Salaries - Part time 1,382              104                 1,278              
Social security 12,056            10,919            1,137              
Unemployment insurance 190                 353                 (163)                
Workers compensation insurance 7,101              5,924              1,177              
Health insurance 82,964            75,965            6,999              
Other employee benefits 875                 -                      875                 
Retirement 13,902            9,410              4,492              
Liability and property insurance 5,765              2,283              3,482              
Supplies 13,000            10,851            2,149              
Telephone 2,500              3,760              (1,260)             
Postage 3,500              3,629              (129)                
Gas, oil and grease 3,000              2,290              710                 
Meters and parts 6,000              824                 5,176              
Computer expenses 3,700              3,410              290                 
Water and sewer charges 200                 128                 72                   
Training and conferences 3,000              573                 2,427              
Electrical services 1,400              845                 555                 
Heat 3,078              2,907              171                 
Maintenance 4,000              15,831            (11,831)           
Water line maintenance - breaks 16,000            34,333            (18,333)           
Uniforms and boots 1,350              1,581              (231)                

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
WATER FUND

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
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Variance
Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

City of Essex Junction, Vermont
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL
WATER FUND

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

OPERATING EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
Contracted services 125,960          125,960          -                      
Other professional services 1,000              1,239              (239)                
Audit services 4,750              3,850              900                 
Right of way agreements 150                 100                 50                   
Water purchases - City 559,534          636,128          (76,594)           
Water purchases - GF -                      2,894,894       (2,894,894)      
Printing and advertising 2,000              1,537              463                 
Transfer to capital reserve 410,000          410,000          -                      
Capital outlay -                      15,976            (15,976)           

Total Operating Expenses 1,443,707       4,407,648       (2,963,941)      

Operating Income (loss) -$                    (80,039)$         (80,039)$         

RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETARY 
BASIS TO GAAP BASIS

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis (80,039)$         

Adjustments for non-budget:
Bond Interest (124,774)         
Capital Contributions 410,000          
Gain on Sale of Asset 9,900              
Depreciation (53,582)           

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis 161,505$        
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Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

OPERATING REVENUES

 Sanitation billing 700,325$         657,505$         (42,820)$          

Sanitation penalty 2,500               3,160               660                  

Essex pump station fees 35,625             26,825             (8,800)              

Two party agreement revenue 15,000             15,000             -                       

Hook on fees 30,000             8,000               (22,000)            

Interest earnings 5,000               23,182             18,182             
Miscellaneous 3,000               5,058               2,058               

Total Operating Revenues 791,450           738,730           (52,720)            

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries - Regular 124,788           134,576           (9,788)              

Salaries - Overtime 13,574             12,066             1,508               

Salaries - Part time 1,382               104                  1,278               

Social security 10,755             11,294             (539)                 

Unemployment insurance 190                  353                  (163)                 

Workers compensation insurance 6,330               5,421               909                  

Health insurance 63,266             74,883             (11,617)            

Other employee benefits 840                  -                       840                  

Retirement 12,356             10,561             1,795               

Liability and property insurance 3,457               1,778               1,679               

Insurance Deductibles 1,000               -                       1,000               

Supplies 1,000               2,430               (1,430)              

Tech Subs & Licenses 750                  1,757               (1,007)              

Postage 5,750               7,336               (1,586)              

Gas, oil and grease 4,000               5,276               (1,276)              

Computer expenses 3,000               -                       3,000               

Water and sewer charges 500                  354                  146                  

Training and conferences 200                  92                    108                  

Electrical services 14,000             9,132               4,868               

Heating/natural gas 2,052               1,287               765                  

Maintenance 2,000               868                  1,132               

Pump station maintenance 14,000             14,677             (677)                 

Sanitation line maintenance 6,000               16,658             (10,658)            

Meter Replacement Program -                       31,962             (31,962)            

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

SANITATION FUND

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 47



Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

SANITATION FUND

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)

Susie Wilson pump station costs 15,000             9,015               5,985               

West St. pump station costs 17,000             12,883             4,117               

Uniforms and boots 1,350               1,841               (491)                 

Contracted services 161,960           161,960           -                       

Right-Of-Way Agreements 1,700               4,758               (3,058)              

Other professional services 1,000               2,236               (1,236)              

Audit services 2,500               2,100               400                  

Machinery and Equipment 5,000               -                       5,000               

Capital reserve fund contributions 95,000             95,000             -                       
Capital outlay -                       14,121             (14,121)            

Total Operating Expenses 591,700           646,779           (55,079)            

Operating Income 199,750$         91,951$           (107,799)$        

RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETARY 

BASIS TO GAAP BASIS

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis 91,951$           
Adjustments for non-budget:

Admin Fee on ARRA Loan (2,434)              

RF1-157 Loan Admin Fee (14,196)            

Sale of WWTF Capacity 141,300           

Capital Reserve Fund Transfer 95,000             

Transfer to WWTF for Upgrade (296,963)          

Loss on sale of Fixed Assets (15,000)            

Depreciation (109,525)          

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis (109,867)$        
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Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

OPERATING REVENUES

 City user charges 921,161$         855,051$         (66,110)$          

City user penalties 3,500               3,985               485                  

Wastewater charge - Essex 649,661           649,661           -                       

Wastewater charge - Williston 853,286           853,401           115                  

Pump station maintenance fee 36,000             36,000             -                       

City septage discharge income 20,000             54,115             34,115             

Shared septage revenue 10,000             27,058             17,058             

City leachate revenues 500                  1,568               1,068               

Share leachate revenues 100                  784                  684                  

Interest Earnings -                       26,433             26,433             
Miscellaneous -                       4,376               4,376               

Total Operating Revenues 2,494,208        2,512,432        18,224             

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries - Regular 445,885           402,863           43,022             

Salaries - Overtime 50,000             41,276             8,724               

Salaries - Part-time -                       1,950               (1,950)              

Social security 38,102             37,067             1,035               

Workers comp insurance 22,462             17,049             5,413               
Unemployment insurance 720                  1,323               (603)                 

Health insurance 178,057           97,397             80,660             

Other employee benefits 2,159               -                       2,159               

Retirement 44,364             41,735             2,629               

Liability and property insurance 38,605             41,794             (3,189)              

Supplies 10,000             9,464               536                  

Supplies - Laboratory 20,000             19,889             111                  

Chemicals 355,000           467,512           (112,512)          

Gas, grease and oil 3,500               3,937               (437)                 

Water and sewer charge 4,000               3,076               924                  

Training and conference 7,500               5,480               2,020               

Techs, Subs and Licenses 1,925               10,941             (9,016)              

Telephone services 6,400               10,634             (4,234)              

Electrical service 175,000           204,567           (29,567)            

Heating 25,650             24,010             1,640               

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

WASTEWATER FUND

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
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Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

WASTEWATER FUND

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)

Maintenance - other 130,000           132,566           (2,566)              

Rental of Equipment -                       1,370               (1,370)              

Vehicles maintenance - travel 4,000               2,734               1,266               

Uniforms, boots, etc. 5,000               5,816               (816)                 

Contract laboratory services 40,000             44,298             (4,298)              

Contract services 62,980             62,980             -                       

Legal services 3,000               3,152               (152)                 

Grit Disposal 16,000             17,513             (1,513)              

Sludge dewatering 190,000           156,005           33,995             

Sludge management 150,000           198,632           (48,632)            

Other professional services 5,500               22,286             (16,786)            

Audit 4,500               3,675               825                  

WWTF Annual permit fee 9,900               12,775             (2,875)              
Capital reserve fund contributions 420,000           420,000           -                       

Total Operating Expenses 2,470,209        2,525,766        (55,557)            

Operating Income 23,999$           (13,334)$          (37,333)$          

RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETARY 

BASIS TO GAAP BASIS

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis (13,334)$          

Adjustments for non-budget:

Bond Interest (37,269)            

Admin Fee on Bonds (191,784)          

Capital Reserve Fund Transfer 420,000           

Town of Essex Bond Contribution 294,287           

Town of Williston Bond Contribution 291,612           

Essex Junction Debt Payment 296,963           

Transfer to General Fund (1,500)              

Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets (100)                 

Depreciation (965,909)          

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis 92,966$           
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Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

OPERATING REVENUES

 Pool day admission 72,444$           72,224$           (220)$              

Pool memberships 43,296             40,057             (3,239)             

Swim lessons 51,924             40,718             (11,206)           

Facility and field rental 12,549             29,684             17,135             

Youth programs 203,155           330,287           127,132           

Adult programs 129,663           136,134           6,471              

Childcare - AS 1,247,624        1,232,847        (14,777)           

Childcare- PS 397,508           396,284           (1,224)             

Childcare- DC 538,825           571,617           32,792             

Shared staffing contract 138,924           110,820           (28,104)           

Memorial day parade -                      14,150             14,150             
Interest earnings -                      15,161             15,161             
Sponsorship 26,550             2,555              (23,995)           

Total Operating Revenues 2,862,462        2,992,538        130,076           

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administration

Salaries - Regular 51,064             52,109             (1,045)             

Salaries - Part-time -                      448                 (448)                

Health insurance and other benefits 24,865             350                 24,515             
Social security 3,906              4,221              (315)                

Workers compensation insurance 40,552             29,838             10,714             

Retirement 4,085              4,258              (173)                

Other professional services 6,000              3,980              2,020              

Equipment rentals 2,135              7,300              (5,165)             

Training, conferences, dues 15,549             19,100             (3,551)             

Postage 6,953              5,627              1,326              

Printing and advertising 22,220             9,674              12,546             

Credit card processing fees -                      64,996             (64,996)           

Recreation Programs
Salaries - Regular -                      4,626              (4,626)             

Salaries- Part-time 14,400             13,215             1,185              

Social security 1,102              1,361              (259)                

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

ESSEX JUNCTION RECREATION AND PARKS

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 
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Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

ESSEX JUNCTION RECREATION AND PARKS

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Other professional services 241,880           336,591           (94,711)           

Water and sewer charges 800                 649                 151                 

Maintenance- buildings/grounds 800                 504                 296                 

Rental 600                 -                      600                 

Equipment rentals 900                 2,818              (1,918)             

Training, conferences, dues 750                 1,180              (430)                

Printing and advertising 200                 150                 50                   

Supplies 30,610             52,955             (22,345)           

Student special programs 2,912              -                      2,912              

Memorial Day parade -                      8,521              (8,521)             

After School Care
Salaries - Regular 483,791           456,161           27,630             

Salaries- Part-time 390,955           363,635           27,320             

Overtime wages -                      7,383              (7,383)             

Health insurance and other benefits 100,189           108,884           (8,695)             

Social security 64,612             62,163             2,449              

Retirement 44,165             47,297             (3,132)             

Other professional services 31,480             36,178             (4,698)             

Interest Expense 17,306             -                      17,306             

Training, conferences, dues 36,940             13,502             23,438             

Telephone 5,700              12,860             (7,160)             

Travel 54,380             20,421             33,959             

Supplies 53,286             74,482             (21,196)           

Gas, grease, oil 2,650              1,836              814                 

Preschool
Salaries- Regular 203,065           223,650           (20,585)           

Salaries- Part-time 37,480             22,690             14,790             

Salaries - Overtime -                      276                 (276)                
Health insurance and other benefits 113,606           85,888             27,718             

Social security 18,509             18,547             (38)                  

Retirement 20,307             13,484             6,823              

Other professional services 3,114              7,862              (4,748)             

Training, conferences, dues 5,100              8,296              (3,196)             

Travel 1,728              -                      1,728              

Supplies 4,500              23,982             (19,482)           

OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)
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Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND ACTUAL

ESSEX JUNCTION RECREATION AND PARKS

 For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 

Summer Day Camps

Salaries- Regular 60,195             18,266             41,929             

Salaries- Part-time 308,642           283,585           25,057             

Salaries - Overtime -                      13,310             (13,310)           
Social security 28,215             24,192             4,023              

Other professional services 8,905              25,881             (16,976)           

Travel 72,240             62,967             9,273              

Supplies 26,515             30,064             (3,549)             

Pool
Maintenance- buildings/grounds 25,887             32,737             (6,850)             

Supplies 5,640              4,652              988                 

Aquatics

Salaries- Part-time 108,694           95,344             13,350             

Social security 8,316              7,294              1,022              
Other professional services 6,580              6,168              412                 

Water and Sewer Charges 2,701              1,877              824                 

Communications 1,320              1,320              -                      

Parks & Facilities
Salaries- Part-time 7,922              4,016              3,906              

Social security 606                 307                 299                 

Other professional services 13,110             11,698             1,412              

Equipment rental 7,200              7,892              (692)                

Training, conferences, dues 4,000              7,207              (3,207)             
Parks and facilities supplies -                      859                 (859)                

Total Operating Expenses 2,861,834        2,873,584        (11,750)           

Operating Income Gain (loss) 628$               118,954$         118,326$         

RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETARY 

BASIS TO GAAP BASIS

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis 118,954$         

Adjustments for non-budget:

Federal Grant Revenue 251,460           

Depreciation (23,071)           

Change in Net Position - Budgetary Basis 347,343$         

OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)
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Report 1

Federal

Pass Assistance

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Through Listing Federal 

Grantor/Program Title Grantor Number Number Expenditures

U. S. Department of Transportation

Passed through State of Vermont, Agency of 

Transportation

Highway Planning and Construction CA0315 20.205 2,807,284$    
Highway Planning and Construction CA0397 20.205 250,286         

Total Highway Planning and Construction 3,057,570      

U.S Department of Homeland Security

Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters) 02140-84474-20 97.036 1,112             

Total Disaster Grants - Public Assistance (Presidentially Declared Disasters) 1,112             

U.S. Department of the Treasury

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds SLFRFVT0073 21.027 426,741         

Total Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 426,741         

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Passed through State of Vermont, Agency of Human Services

Child Care and Development Block Grant 20222358 93.575 21,750           

Total Child Care and Development Block Grant 21,750           

National Endowments for the Humanities 

Inter Library Loan Courier System Grants for Public Libraries 01130.ARPA.C&E.079 45.310 5,180             
Inter Library Loan Courier System Grants for Public Libraries 01130.LSTA.COURIER.FY23.016 45.310 571                

Total National Endowment for the Humanities 5,751             

Total Expenditure of Federal Awards 3,512,924$    

NOTE A BASIS OF PRESENTATION

NOTE B SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (2) The City of Essex Junction, Vermont has not elected to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform 
Guidance because no indirect costs were allowed under the federal awards.

City of Essex Junction, Vermont

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURE OF FEDERAL AWARDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal award activity of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance 
with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of 
the City, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the City of Essex Junction, 
Vermont.

(1) Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following 
the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.



l<BS 
Kittell Branagan & Sargent 
Cert((ied Public Accountants 

Vermont License # 167 

To the City Council 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 
ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
Essex Junction, Vermont 

Report 2 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise City of Essex Junction, Vermont's basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated December 21, 2023. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered City of Essex Junction, 
Vermont's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Essex Junction, 
Vermont's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

154 North Main Street, St. Albans, Vermont 05478 I P 802.524.9531 I 800.499.9531 I F 802.524.9533 

www.kbscpa.com 



To the City Council 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
Essex Junction, Vermont 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

Report 2 (cont'd) 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether City of Essex Junction, Vermont's financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or 
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

St. Albans, Vermont 
December 21, 2023 



l<BS 
Kittell Branagan & Sargent 
Certified Public A ccou11tants 

Vermont License # 167 

To the City Council 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE 
FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
Essex Junction, Vermont 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

Report 3 

We have audited City of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
identified as subject to audit in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect 
on each of the City of Essex Junction, Vermont 's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, City of Essex Junction, Vermont complied, in all material respects, with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 
Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section 
of our report. 

We are required to be independent of City of Essex Junction, Vermont and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

154 North Main Street, St. Albans, Vermont 05478 I P 802.524.9531 I 800.499 .9531 I F 802.524.9533 
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To the City Council 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
Essex Junction, Vermont 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Report 3 (cont'd) 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont's federal programs 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the City of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material 
noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on 
compliance about City of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance with the requirements of each major federal 
program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding City of Essex Junction, Vermont's compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of City of Essex Junction, Vermont's internal control over compliance 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Essex Junction, 
Vermont's internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 



To the City Council 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont 
Essex Junction, Vermont 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

Report 3 (cont'd) 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

St. Albans, Vermont 
December 21, 2023 



 

 

 Report 4 
City of Essex Junction, Vermont 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
June 30, 2023 

 
 
 
A. SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 
 

1. The auditor’s report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements City of Essex 
Junction, Vermont . 

 
2. There were no significant deficiencies disclosed during the audit of the financial statements. 

 
3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of City of Essex Junction, 

Vermont were disclosed during the audit. 
 
4. There were no significant deficiencies disclosed during the audit of the major federal award 

programs. 
 
5. The auditor’s report on compliance for the major federal award programs for City of Essex Junction, 

Vermont expresses an unmodified opinion. 
 
6. There were no audit findings relative to the major federal award programs for City of Essex Junction, 

Vermont. 
 
7. The programs tested as major programs were:  

 
  DOT #20.205 Highway Planning and Construction 
  

8. The threshold for distinguishing Types A and B programs was $750,000. 
 
9. City of Essex Junction, Vermont was not determined to be a low-risk auditee. 

 
B. FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT 
 

- There were no findings related to the financial statements audit. 
 
C. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS – MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT 
 

- There were no findings or questioned costs related to the major federal award programs. 
 



 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Essex Junction City Council 
From: Regina Mahony, City Manager 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2024 
Subject: Executive session for Litigation 
Issue: The issue is whether the City Council will enter executive session to discuss pending or probable civil 
litigation.  

Discussion: To have a complete and thorough discussion about this topic, an executive session may be 
necessary because the premature disclosure of the information may put the City Council and the City at a 
substantial disadvantage. Pending or probable civil litigation or a prosecution, to which the public body is or 
may be a party can be a protected discussion. 

Cost: N/A at this time 

Recommendation:  

If the City Council wishes to enter executive session, the following motions are recommended: 

Motion #1 

“I move that the City Council make the specific finding that general public knowledge of pending or 
probable civil litigation or a prosecution, to which the public body is or may be a party would place 
the City at a substantial disadvantage.” 

Motion #2 

“I move that the City Council enter into executive session to discuss pending or probable civil 
litigation or a prosecution, to which the public body is or may be a party, pursuant to 1 V.S.A. § 
313(a)(1)(E) to include the City Council and City Manager.” 

 

2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT 05452-3154 
www.essexjunction.org 

P: 802.878.6951 
F: 802.878.6946 

E: admin@essexjunction.org 



 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

To: City Council 
From: Regina Mahony 
Meeting Date: March 13, 2024 
Subject: Executive Session for City Manager – 6 month evaluation 
Issue:  
The issue is whether the City Council will enter executive session to discuss the evaluation of the City 
Manager.  

 
Discussion:  
To have a complete and thorough discussion about this topic, an executive session may be necessary. The 
evaluation of an employee can be a protected discussion.  

 
Recommended Motion:  
“I move that the City Council enter into executive session to discuss a personnel evaluation, pursuant to 1 
V.S.A. § 313(a)(3) to include the City Council.” 

 
 
 
 
 

2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT 05452-3154 
www.essexjunction.org 

P: 802.878.6951 
F: 802.878.6946 

E: admin@essexjunction.org 
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 1 
CITY OF ESSEX JUNCTION 2 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 3 
WEDNESDAY FEBRUARY 28, 2024 4 

 5 
COUNCILORS PRESENT: Raj Chawla, President; Amber Thibeault, Vice-President; Andrew Brown; 6 
Marcus Certa; Elaine Haney 7 
 8 
ADMINISTRATION and STAFF: Regina Mahony, City Manager; Chris Gaboriault, Fire Chief; Jess 9 
Morris, Finance Director; Harlan Smith, Buildings Manager/EJRP Grounds & Facilities Manager; Chris 10 
Yuen, Community Development Director 11 
 12 
OTHERS PRESENT: Nicholas Betcher, Deb Bilodeau, Anne Borchers, Alexis Brown, Rolanda Corrow, 13 
Cora Delucia, Dannah Dvora, Steve Eustis, Anthony Freddy, Brett Gaskill, John Giroux, Patrick Giroux, 14 
Brett Grabowski, Bassen Hariri, Shaun Handy, David Harrington, Carlton Houghton, Lisa Johnson, Joan 15 
Klonsky, Ted Llamos, Charles Lancaster, Jane Lancaster, Edward Lee-Thomas, Bridget Meyer, Tim Miller, 16 
Daryl Montague, Paula Morin, Karen Murray, Sindy Roppe, Miriam Sheehey, Brian Shelden, Cindy Smith, 17 
Rick Smith, Jason Struthers, Dennis Thibeault, Juan, Melissa, Nick, Peggy, Thanasi, Tori  18 
 19 
1. CALL TO ORDER 20 
Ms. Chawla called the meeting of the City Council to order at 6:33 PM. 21 
 22 
2. AGENDA ADDITIONS/ CHANGES 23 
Mr. Chawla said that Business Item 5b, Discussion and Consideration of the Rental Registry and Inspection 24 
Program, will be the first business item discussed and renamed as Item 5a. 25 
 26 
3. APPROVE AGENDA 27 
ELAINE HANEY made a motion, seconded by MARCUS CERTA, to approve the agenda.  Motion 28 
passed 5-0. 29 
 30 
4.  PUBLIC TO BE HEARD  31 
a. Comments for Public on Items not on Agenda 32 
All comments were regarding the proposed Rental Registry and Inspection Program. 33 

• Mr. Lee-Thomas said that he owns eight units in Essex Junction, eight units in Burlington, and is a 34 
real estate broker.  He discussed positive experiences working with the Essex Junction Planning & 35 
Zoning Department but said that this fee will serve to make living in the community more 36 
unaffordable.  He said that he sees no reason for broad-based inspections to occur.   37 

• Ms. Johnson said that landlords will add this onto rent as well as the increase in school taxes, 38 
contributing to unaffordability.   39 

• Mr. Harrington said that Chittenden County is not affordable, and that the rental fee will hurt those 40 
on fixed incomes.  He detailed options for those having difficulties with their landlords.   41 

• Ms. Meyer said that she is a landlord who is in support of a rental registry and inspection program.  42 
It is important for both sides to know that the property is safe and healthy.   43 

• Mr. Shelden said that he has owned rental properties in several states, and that the registry is not an 44 
onerous process.  He supports the registry to enhance tenant safety and said that user fees are a better 45 
method of raising funds than property taxes.   46 
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• Ms. Corrow said that she is tired of everyone needing to pay for the misbehavior of a few.  She feels 47 
that good landlords will be paying for the problems of a few bad ones and said that the profit margin 48 
in renting is lower than what people think.   49 

• Mr. Grabowski said that he is a landlord in the City and said that the City is trying to fix a problem 50 
that does not exist.  He pointed out existing methods of addressing complaints via the health inspector 51 
and said that there were only ten complaints last year that were related to rental housing.  Only two 52 
of these were substantiated.  He said that this is a large cost to create a redundant program.   53 

• Mr. Struthers said that fees are collected yearly but services are only provided every five years, which 54 
seems unfair.  He suggested that this be added to the ballot for the voters to decide on.   55 

• Mr. Gaskill said that there is no need for this process, and asked how many people the City plans to 56 
hire to implement this program.  He said that Vermont is continuing to grow more and more 57 
unaffordable.   58 

• Ms. Bilodeau said that she has been a landlord for forty years.  She said that Essex Junction has a 59 
good housing stock and that a rental registry and inspection program is not necessary.   60 

• Mr. Freddy said that he is a renter and has lived in the community for a few years.  He said that this 61 
regulation is a violation of the tenant’s privacy, and cited a court case in Iowa stating that this type of 62 
search is against the federal and state constitution.  He questioned why single-family homes are not 63 
being inspected in this manner, stating that it is unequal and a tax on renters.  He suggested complaint-64 
driven property inspections and said that he would leave the community if this passed.   65 

• Ms. Klonsky said that she is a renter and is opposed to the registry.  She said that it is a way to make 66 
additional funds, rather than an attempt to solve a problem.   67 

• Mr. Eustis said that he lives in Essex and is a landlord.  He is concerned that the inspectors might 68 
nitpick during inspections and suggested that the Council think more of the problem they are working 69 
to solve. 70 

 71 
b.  Public Hearing on FY25 Proposed General Fund Operating and Capital Budgets 72 
ELAINE HANEY made a motion, seconded by ANDREW BROWN to open the public hearing on the 73 
budget.  Motion passed 5-0. 74 
 75 
Mr. Chawla said that this evening is the last chance to comment on the budget.  He discussed the process for 76 
forming the budget, noting that this is the second public hearing and that a community meal and discussion 77 
was also held.  The budget is $12.1 million dollars, and a 6% increase from last year.  Most revenue comes 78 
from property tax, with other revenue coming from fees.  Mr. Chawla asked for public comment.  A female 79 
in-person attendee asked for a copy of the budget PowerPoint, which Mr. Chawla said would be made 80 
available.  Major changes include health insurance rates, salaries/benefits, and the conversion of a Finance 81 
Billing Coordinator from part-time to full-time.  Property and causality insurance has increased, as has the 82 
IT managed services contract. Funds will no longer be allocated to the economic development fund, and 83 
matching grant fund has been increased.  Firefighters will now be paid for their training time as well as their 84 
call time.   85 
 86 
Mr. Chawla reviewed upcoming capital projects and said that all funds collected from the Local Option Tax 87 
will be applied to capital projects.  A male in-person attendee asked for clarification on Community 88 
Development spending, which was given.  Mr. Eustis thanked the City Council for their hard work on this 89 
budget.  He asked about the status of repairing the section of Pearl Street from West Street to Susie Wilson 90 
Road.  Mr. Yuen said that the paving of this road would be done by the state.  Mr. Handy asked for 91 
clarification on the amount of money that will be brought in via the rental registry and inspection program, 92 
as the information was conflicting.  Ms. Haney said that this program is not something that will make a profit, 93 
and that what it makes is what will be put into the program.  Ms. Corrow asked if any new positions are 94 
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included in the budget that were filled but not advertised, and if a 32-hour employee would still get full-time 95 
benefits.  Ms. Mahony said that a 32-hour position is still full-time, and that retirement is adjusted as a result.  96 
She will check if vacation accruals are changed.  All staff pay 3% of their health insurance premium, and the 97 
next fiscal year they will pay 6%.  Ms. Corrow suggested that staff pay more for health insurance.   98 
 99 
MARCUS CERTA made a motion, seconded by ELAINE HANEY, to close the public hearing on the 100 
FY25 Proposed Budget.  Motion passed 5-0. 101 
 102 
5. BUSINESS ITEMS 103 
a. Discussion and Consideration of the Rental Registry and Inspection Program 104 
Ms. Mahony said that questions from previous meetings have been answered and are included in the packet.  105 
She said that the former long-time health inspector did not have digital reports, which makes it difficult to 106 
understand all the long-term data on complaints.  Mr. Chawla gave an overview of the work that has been 107 
done on this project, noting that it had originally been planned to be under the Community Development 108 
Department.  However, recent statewide changes mean that it would make more sense for the Fire 109 
Department to operate this program.  Mr. Gaboriault said that the Fire Department is responding to apartment 110 
buildings every day, and often do not have knowledge of how to access these buildings in case of an 111 
emergency.  He said that it would be ideal for the full-time position to be filled within the department to 112 
ensure that an additional resource would be available to assist with calls.  The registry will also be helpful in 113 
having contact information for the property owners in case of an emergency.  Answering a question from 114 
Mr. Certa, Ms. Mahony said that the goal of inspections is to look at the rental housing code and make sure 115 
that the rental properties meet this. 116 
 117 
Mr. Chawla requested feedback from the Council.   118 

• Mr. Brown said that the Council hopes to change the paradigm with the rental registry and inspection 119 
program and be proactive rather than reactive.  He said that tenants may be nervous to file a complaint 120 
for fear of retribution.  He said that he would like fees to be looked at every year to make sure that 121 
the program is funding itself and not offsetting the general fund.   122 

• Ms. Haney said that the Council has heard from very few tenants, and that they have heard conflicting 123 
information about the recourse options available for tenants in poor living situations.  She said that a 124 
registry has been intended to be developed for years and is in the 2016 Plan, which was approved by 125 
voters.  However, she thinks that more work needs to be done to develop the program.   126 

• Mr. Chawla said that he agrees with Ms. Haney, and that he would like for this program to provide 127 
more to tenants and landlords other than an annual inspection.  He would also like something in place 128 
to ensure that tenants can be relocated in extreme cases and suggested that a fund be set up for this 129 
purpose.  He said that almost half of residences in Essex Junction are apartments.  He would also like 130 
to hear the Planning Commission’s input on the registry.   131 

• Mr. Certa said that his biggest concern is the cost impact on renters.  He suggested that Essex Junction 132 
manage the state complaint-based program locally.  Ms. Mahony said that she is unsure if doing so 133 
is possible, as the division of Fire Safety is now the first point of contact rather than the Health Officer.  134 
Mr. Yuen said that there may be other ways to be involved without taking over the program.  Mr. 135 
Chawla discussed methods of connecting with the department to ensure better communication with 136 
the City.   137 

• Ms. Thibeault thanked members of the community for their feedback, and she believes that this 138 
should be removed from the budget for this year as she does not feel ready to decide.  She said that 139 
she would be interested in learning more about improving communication with state inspectors. 140 

 141 
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Mr. Chawla asked staff to research data sharing with the state and suggested a joint meeting or additional 142 
communication with the Planning Commission to discuss this further.  He said that he would like the 143 
Councilors to look into what the City can be providing as a result of this effort, besides a yearly inspection. 144 
 145 
Mr. Chawla requested public comment.   146 

• Mr. Rick Smith said that the state invites the Fire Department to go with them on inspections in Essex 147 
Junction.  He said that the Fire Department is the most common reporter for inspection requests, 148 
which tend to occur within fifteen days.  Mr. Smith said that the Fire Department has a property 149 
management tool to keep inspection data, Mr. Chawla encouraged the Department to share the data 150 
with the rest of the staff.   151 

• Mr. Harlan Smith asked if the state only deals with specific complaints, or if the property is given a 152 
full inspection after receiving a complaint.  Ms. Thibeault said that she thought that a full inspection 153 
would be done.   154 

• Mr. Harrington asked if tenants would have the right to refuse an inspection, Mr. Chawla said he was 155 
unsure.   156 

• Ms. Carey said that there are many tenants in the audience, not just landlords.   157 
• Mr. Lancaster said that he is a tenant and has lived in Essex Junction for eight years at Autumn Pond.  158 

He said that he does not understand the impetus for why the Board would like to institute a rental 159 
registry and inspection program, as he has not heard a list of complaints or other reasons for why they 160 
are doing such.  He encouraged the Board to not rush into being a City and to advocate for change 161 
based on evidence.   162 

• Mr. Eustis spoke of the ambiguous and sometimes confusing nature of building codes and encouraged 163 
the Board to create a clear list.  Mr. Chawla said that this is the intention, however he believes that 164 
landlords should know the standards that they are expected to hold their properties to.   165 

• Mr. Struthers asked if there is an exemption for owner-operated or short-term rentals.  Mr. Yuen said 166 
that short-term rentals would be treated the same as any other rental, however owner-occupied (i.e. 167 
room rentals) units would be exempt.  Mr. Struthers asked how the City justifies collecting fees every 168 
year yet not inspecting yearly.  Mr. Chawla said that the inspection rate is based on the performance 169 
of the property.  Mr. Struthers asked what the City plans to bring to the table with the program other 170 
than inspections.  Ms. Haney discussed examples from other towns, such as repair funds for landlords.   171 

• Ms. Corey asked for funding clarification on this program, and Mr. Chawla said that fees would be 172 
adjusted as needed.  The City has not yet identified all apartments, and is working with estimated 173 
numbers.  Ms. Corey said that it seems like the public is not being listened to by the Council and said 174 
that she does not believe that there are many problems with rentals in Essex Junction.  Mr. Chawla 175 
said that the Council has heard the people at the meeting, and that these are not the only voices that 176 
they are hearing from.  The Council takes all the input that they receive to heart.   177 

• Mr. Handy asked what the cost for this program would be if it was housed in the Fire Department.  178 
Mr. Chawla said that it will be the same as presented or less.  Mr. Handy said that some Section 8 179 
tenants are paying the maximum amount allowable, which means that they will have to cover the rest 180 
in the case of a rent increase.  He also said that it feels like the tenants have more power than the 181 
landlords, not the other way around.  He discussed situations where tenants have created their own 182 
health issues, and asked who would be held responsible in such a situation.  Mr. Chawla said that he 183 
was unsure.   184 

• Mr. Harlan Smith said that, like car inspections, the state would hire out the inspections to private 185 
contractors.  He is a renter and said that the costs would be passed down to the renters.  He said he 186 
was curious if the opposition to the program would be the same if there was no fee. 187 

 188 
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Mr. Yuen said that his action items are to work on data sharing with the fire department and state and to 189 
request to shadow current state inspections.  Ms. Mahony said that she would investigate the exact costs 190 
associated with housing this program under the fire department.  Ms. Haney said that it would be worth 191 
looking into the idea of rolling out the registry prior to the inspections. 192 
 193 
b. Discussion and consideration of Grant Application for Library Roof and Entry 194 
Ms. Mahony said that this grant opportunity will allow for ADA accessibility to the front of the building and 195 
reduce the icing in the entrance.  Mr. Harlan Smith said that this project is a long time coming and could 196 
address a significant need.  The City will offer matching funds to have a more competitive application.   197 
 198 
RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by MARCUS CERTA that the Essex Junction City Council 199 
authorize the use of $100,000 for this project and the City Council President to sign the support letter.  200 
Motion passed 5-0. 201 
 202 
c. Discussion and Consideration of the FY25 General Fund Operating and Capital Budgets 203 
Ms. Mahony said that the budget has been reduced by $2,404 now that County tax figures are available.  The 204 
budget is $12,157,141, which is a 6.6% increase over the FY24 tax rate.  Mr. Certa suggested that the rental 205 
registry and inspection program be an enterprise fund.  Ms. Mahony said that this is the intention once the 206 
program is up and running.  Mr. Certa asked if the assigned fund balance could be reassigned and suggested 207 
using some of the unassigned balance to bring the tax rate down.  Mr. Certa also said that the library has been 208 
unwilling to do anything to bring their budget down and said that the rest of the departments have made 209 
accommodations.  Ms. Haney said that the library’s request was adjusted by almost 3% by correcting a 210 
payroll mistake made by the City.  Regarding the unassigned fund balances, Ms. Morris said that most of 211 
these are revenue or savings from specific projects that need to stay with such.  Some of these funds have 212 
already been spent or are in the process of being spent.  Mr. Chawla asked if the Council wanted to keep in 213 
the funds for the rental registry and inspection program, noting that it is revenue neutral.  Mr. Brown said 214 
that he would like to see the funds kept in.  Mr. Certa, Ms. Thibeault and Mr. Chawla said they felt it should 215 
be removed.  Mr. Brown said that he is concerned about removing something that might be ready to 216 
implement in the next fiscal year, and the Council discussed the possibility of implementing the rental 217 
registry and inspection program mid-year.  Ms. Haney said she believes that the Council needs more time to 218 
investigate the rental registry and inspection program, noting that new information seems to come up every 219 
time it is discussed.  She said that, considering other increases, she does not believe that now is the time to 220 
add extra costs to taxpayers. 221 
 222 
RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by ELAINE HANEY that the City Council approve the 223 
FY25 General Fund Operating and Capital Program Budget, the general fund being $12,004,124 of 224 
which $11,110,346 will be levied in property taxes and the Capital Budgets as presented.  Motion 225 
passed 3-2, with ANDREW BROWN and MARCUS CERTA dissenting. 226 
 227 
d. Discussion and Consideration of Warning for Annual Meeting 228 
Ms. Mahony said that the meeting will be held on April 8.   229 
 230 
RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by MARCUS CERTA that the City Council approve the 231 
warning as drafted.  Motion passed 5-0. 232 
 233 
e. Discussion and Consideration of an Executive Session to discuss Contracts 234 
This was discussed during Executive Session. 235 
 236 
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6. CONSENT ITEMS 237 
ANDREW BROWN made a motion, seconded by MARCUS CERTA to approve the consent agenda.  238 
Motion passed 5-0. 239 
a. Approve Meeting Minutes: February 14, 2024 240 
b. Truck Bid Memo 241 
 242 
7. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS & CITY MANAGER REPORT 243 
Ms. Mahony said that there is a presidential primary on March 5, as well as a Champlain Water District 244 
(CWD) bond vote.  She encouraged everyone who received the randomized survey from CWD to fill it out.  245 
Eclipse viewing glasses are available at City Hall and the library.  The expanded neighborhood designation 246 
for Essex Junction was approved by the state.  Lincoln Street had a recent sewer line issue, and the roadway 247 
will hopefully be paved over next week.  Ms. Haney will be testifying on a new municipal ethics bill at the 248 
statehouse.  She said that she hopes to see protection provided for elected officials who are whistleblowers.     249 
 250 
8. READING FILE 251 
a. Check Warrant #24036 2/23/24, #24037 2/23/24 252 
b. FY23 Fund Balance Assignments 253 
c. GMP Tree Trimming Letter 254 
d. DRB Minutes 2/15/24 255 
e. PCAB Minutes 12/19/23 & 1/23/24 256 
f. Tri Town Sewer Minutes 2/15/24 257 
 258 
9. EXECUTIVE SESSION  259 
a. Executive Session for Contracts 260 
MARCUS CERTA made a motion, seconded by ANDREW BROWN, that the City Council make the 261 
specific finding that premature disclosure of the contractual matters would place the city at a 262 
substantial disadvantage.  Motion passed 5-0. 263 
 264 
MARCUS CERTA made a motion, seconded by ANDREW BROWN, that the City Council enter into 265 
executive session to discuss contracts, pursuant to 1 V.S.A. § 313(a)(1)(A) to include the City Council 266 
and City Manager.  Motion passed 5-0.  267 
 268 
RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by ANDREW BROWN to exit executive session.  Motion 269 
passed 5-0 at 10:20 PM. 270 
 271 
10. ADJOURN 272 
RAJ CHAWLA made a motion, seconded by ANDREW BROWN, to adjourn.  Motion passed 5-0 at 273 
10:20 PM. 274 
 275 
Respectfully Submitted, 276 
Darby Mayville 277 
Recording secretary 278 
 279 



 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Regina Mahony, City Manager; City Council 
From: Jess Morris, Finance Director 
Date: March 8, 2024 
Subject: ARPA Funds Obligation and Expediture 
 
Issue 
To obligate and expend all remaining ARPA funds prior to March 31, 2024 based on recommendations and 
guidance from VLCT. 
 
Discussion 
At a meeting on 4/2/22, the Council (Trustees) elected the standard allowance for ARPA funds to spend on 
the provision of government services. 
 
The current balance remaining of the City’s ARPA funds (including accrued interest) is $2,824,513.71. 
 
VLCT (VT League of Cities and Towns) is recommending that all municipalities obligate and expend all ARPA 
funds prior to March 31, 2024, and report all funds as obligated and expended for the April 2024 required 
reporting to Treasury.  If all funds are obligated and expended by March 31, 2024, there will be no risk of 
recoupment of these funds by Treasury.  VLCT is recommending 2 options to accomplish this: 
 

1. Spend directly from the ARPA special revenue fund. 
• The City intention has been to spend the remaining ARPA funds on the 2 Lincoln 

Renovation project, but will not be able to expend the remaining balance before the April 
2024 reporting period. 

2. Formally designate any remaining ARPA funds (backed by a decision on the record in a regular 
meeting of the legislative body) to pay for municipal personnel expenses, transfer it to the general 
fund and use it to pay for these expenses.  The municipality can then use the fund balance that this 
creates however it chooses. 

• This is the best option for the City to meet VLCT’s recommendations and avoid recoupment 
of funds by Treasury.  This will allow the Council to designate the General Fund surplus to 
the 2 Lincoln Renovation project as originally discussed. 

 
The VLCT slides as presented at the February VTGFOA (VT Government Finance Officers Association) 
conference are attached for your reference. 
 
Based on discussions with the City’s audit firm, Kittell, Branagan and Sargent, the Council should make an 
adjustment to the FY24 budgeted general revenue for the ARPA funds transfer, and the 2 Lincoln Building 
expenditures as allowed by Charter §905(a).  This has a net effect of $0 on the FY24 budget and no impact 
on the approved tax rate. 
 
Cost 
No cost. 
 

2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT 05452-3154 
www.essexjunction.org 

P: 802.878.6944 
F: 802.878.6946 

E: admin@essexjunction.org 



Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Council approve the transfer of ARPA funds and FY24 budgeted revenue 
increase in the amount of $2,824,513.71 to the General Fund to pay for municipal personnel expenses in 
FY24 per the recommendations from VLCT, and also approve an increase to the FY24 budgeted 2 Lincoln 
Building expenditures for the same amount. 
 
Furthermore, the Council will designate the surplus of the same amount created in the General Fund to the 
2 Lincoln renovation project. 
 



American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)
VTGFOA Conference 

February 13, 2024

Katie Buckley

Director, Federal Funding Assistance Program

Vermont League of Cities and Towns



• Local ARPA – Refresher
• Treasury – What We Are Hearing
• VLCT’s Recommendations
•  Things to consider



Local ARPA – A Rare & Beautiful Thing

• Unlike any other federal grant program

• Not competitive; no application process; one-size-fits-all “grant agreement”

• No public process requirement (although it is a best practice!)

• Cash up front in two tranches, one year apart (summer 2021, summer 2022)

• Protracted timeline to obligate (12/31/2024) and spend (12/31/2026) 

• How many eligible Vermont municipalities accepted these federal funds?  
ALL except one.

• The best part….the “Standard Allowance” for revenue loss = “provision of 
government services” = broad flexibility in spending

• How many Vermont municipalities elected the Standard Allowance?  All.

https://app.powerbigov.us/view?r=eyJrIjoiOGY1YWUyZDgtYmMyNS00MWY4LThhMGYtMmJlMmM4YWRkMDdlIiwidCI6IjIwYjQ5MzNiLWJhYWQtNDMzYy05YzAyLTcwZWRjYzc1NTljNiJ9


Local ARPA - Vermont’s Share
• Allocated to states based on population using 2019 

Census data

• “Metro cities” (based on HUD definitions)

• Only 1 in VT = Burlington (pop. 42,819)

• Received funding directly from Treasury
• Largest awards in VT = $27,176,144.49 (includes 

county $)

• More rigid, quarterly reporting requirements

• “NEUs” (non-entitlement units)

• Everyone else
• Received funding from Treasury distributed 

through the State of VT
• Largest award = South Burlington $5,654,533
• Smallest award = Victory (pop. 63), $18,956
• Simpler, annual reporting requirements

• Local ARPA works out to be ~$300/Vermonter 

• How much did your community get?  Click HERE.

• How is ARPA being spent in VT?  Click HERE.

*County money has been reallocated to municipalities.  

https://data.vermont.gov/Government/ARPA-Local-Fiscal-Recovery-Fund-Payments/ijr8-p554/data
https://www.vlct.org/sites/default/files/uploads/arpa-april-2023-data-thru-033123-vt-all.xlsx


• Taking a closer look at NEUs

• Noticing that many have not obligated or 
expended any funds

• Sending emails to entities that have not reported 
threatening recoupment

• Signaling stronger messages on program 
requirements:
• Funds not obligated by 12/31/2024 will be 

returned to Treasury
• Funds not expended by 12/31/2026 will be 

returned to Treasury
• Not allowing de-obligation and re-obligation 

after 12/31/2024 – only under a few very 
specific circumstances.

What We Are Hearing 
From Treasury & 
National League of Cities

https://www.vlct.org/faq/what-definition-obligate
https://www.vlct.org/faq/what-definition-obligate


OBLIGATION =  “An order placed for property and services and entry into 
contracts, subawards, and similar transactions that require payment.”  
(31 CFR 35.3)

Under the Obligation IFR, a recipient is also considered to have incurred an obligation by December 
31, 2024, with respect to a requirement under federal law or regulation or a provision of the SLFRF 
award terms and conditions to which the recipient becomes subject as a result of receiving or 
expending SLFRF funds.

Accordingly, under the second part of the definition of obligation set out above, a recipient may use 
SLFRF funds to cover costs related to: 

• Reporting and compliance requirements

• Single Audit costs 

• Record retention and internal control requirements  

• Property standards 

• Environmental compliance requirements 

• Civil rights and nondiscrimination requirements 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-31/subtitle-A/part-35/subpart-A/section-35.3


November 5, 2024?



Recommendations:

• Obligate ALL your ARPA funds 
before March 31, 2024, if possible.

• Expend ALL ARPA funds before 
March 31, 2024, if possible.

• Report ALL ARPA funds as obligated 
and expended during the next 
required annual reporting to 
Treasury (April 2024).

USE IT…..DON’T LOSE IT!

https://www.vlct.org/faq/what-definition-obligate
https://www.vlct.org/faq/what-definition-obligate


Given Where We Are 
& What We Know, 
What Will You Do?

Option #1: Spend directly from your ARPA special 
revenue fund.

         
OR

Option #2: Formally designate any remaining ARPA 
funds (backed by a decision on the record in a 
regular meeting of the legislative body) to pay for 
municipal personnel expenses*, transfer it to your 
general fund and use it to pay for these expenses. 
The municipality can then use the fund balance 
that this creates however it chooses.    

*Be sure there is no duplication (double-dipping) with other federal programs (ex. FEMA PA).



• Do you have adopted financial policies that address the handling 
of fund balance? (example: VLCT’s  “Fund Balance Reserve 
Policy”)?

• Is there a history for how the municipality has handled fund 
balance?

• Is there an existing reserve fund to which fund balance created by 
ARPA could be transferred?*

• Will the municipality need to create a new reserve fund for the 
purpose of using these funds?  If so, then voter approval will be 
required.**

• Once you have your ARPA roadmap on how to proceed, run all 
the steps by your professional auditor, as applicable, to ensure 
they support your approach. 

BEFORE Choosing Option #2…Think It Through

* ARPA cannot be used to directly fund a rainy-day fund.  

** Do not use the term ARPA when creating a new reserve fund – not in the fund name nor the purpose.



AFTER Completing Option #2…

The federal character of the money is gone:

• “ARPA” funds freed up general fund revenue that remains as unassigned fund balance.

• The timelines of obligation (12/31/2024) and expenditures (12/31/26) disappear.

• The federal requirements (“Uniform Guidance”) like procurement, audits, cost principles, 
etc. no longer apply; only your local policies apply.

https://www.vlct.org/faq/what-definition-obligate


• If you have unobligated ARPA funds remaining, 
develop a plan NOW.

• If your obligations do not meet the definition(31 

CFR 35.3) and are not rock-solid, then choose 
Option #2.

• If possible, obligate and expend by March 31, 
2024, so you can include this in your 
municipality’s April 2024 Project & Expenditure 
reporting.

• Don’t wait.  

Takeaways

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-31/subtitle-A/part-35/subpart-A/section-35.3
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-31/subtitle-A/part-35/subpart-A/section-35.3


Katie Buckley

Director, FFA Program

kbuckley@vlct.org

(802) 343-6323

www.vlct.org

Questions?

mailto:kbuckley@vlct.org
https://www.vlct.org/topics/federal-funding/american-rescue-plan-act


 
 
 
Memorandum 
To: City Council, Regina Mahony, City Manager 
CC: Ron Hoague, Police Chief 
From:  Susan McNamara-Hill, Clerk 
Re: Liquor and Tobacco license applications 
Date: March 13, 2024 
 
Issue 
The issue is whether the Council will approve the Liquor License applications for businesses in 
the City of Essex Junction listed in the March 7, 2024 memorandum from Police Chief Ron 
Hoague re: “Liquor License Applications.” 
 
Discussion 
The following applications have been reviewed by the police department and are 
recommended for approval. 
 
1st class (serves beer & wine on premises):  

• Sana Enterprises – Café Mediterano, 60 Pearl St., Ste A, includes outside consumption 
 
1st and 3rd class (serves beer, wine & spirits on premises): 

• Tree Enterprises, Inc. – El Gato Cantina, 4 Park St. 
• Dependes, Inc. – Pearl Street Pub, 137 Pearl St, includes outside consumption 
• Sparky’s BBQ & Grill, 4 Lincoln Pl., (location of former Murray’s Tavern) 

 
2nd class (sells beer and wine for off-premise consumption):   

• Simon’s Five Corners, Inc., Simon’s Five Corners Store, includes tobacco and tobacco 
substitute 

• DG Retail, LLC, Dollar General Store, 75 Pearl St., includes tobacco 
 
Tobacco/tobacco substitute only: 

• Good Stuff Inc.,  Good Stuff of Essex, 94 Pearl Street 
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Council approve the Liquor License applications for businesses listed 
in the Marcy 7, 2024 memorandum re: “Liquor License Applications”. 
 



DEPARTMENTAL MEMORANDUM 

 
         Date:  March 7, 2024 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:  Regina Mahony 
  City Manager 
 
From:  Ron Hoague 
  Chief of Police 
 
Subject:   Liquor License Applications 
 
 
The police department conducted records review of the following first class liquor license 
applicants.  There was nothing of concern found: 
 
 
Sana Enterprises, LLC    DBA: Café Mediterano 
Includes outside consumption     60 Pearl Street, Suite A 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
 
Tree Enterprises, Inc.     DBA: El Gato Cantina 
Includes 3rd class      4 Park Street 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
 
Dependes, Inc.      DBA: Pearl Street Pub 
Includes 3rd class and outside consumption   137 Pearl Street 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
 
Sparky’s BBQ & Grill    DBA: Sparky’s BBQ & Grill 
Includes 3rd class      4 Lincoln Place 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
  



The police department conducted records review of the following second class liquor license 
applicants.  There was nothing of concern found: 
 
Simon’s Five Corners, Inc    DBA: Simon’s Five Corners Store 
        2 Park Street 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
 
DG Retail, LLC     DBA: Dollar General Store 30202 
Includes tobacco      75 Pearl Street 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
 
 
The police department conducted records review of the following tobacco license applicants.  
There was nothing of concern found: 
 
Good Stuff Inc.     DBA: Good Stuff of Essex 
        94 Pearl Street 
        Essex Junction, VT 05452 
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05290      ADVANCE AUTO PARTS            02/20/24 CYCLE CHAIN LUBE 11 11 O  210-5-40-12-610.000             11.30    51866 03/08/24

                                                  5143660                   General Supplies

05290      ADVANCE AUTO PARTS            02/21/24 BRUSH TRI LVL W POLE 1 E  210-5-40-12-610.000             28.39    51866 03/08/24

                                                  5224345                   General Supplies

05290      ADVANCE AUTO PARTS            02/21/24 CHAIN LUBE AEROSOL 11 O 1 210-5-40-12-610.000             12.31    51866 03/08/24

                                                  5256216                   General Supplies

05290      ADVANCE AUTO PARTS            02/21/24 chain lube shop suplly    210-5-40-12-610.000             33.90    51866 03/08/24

                                                  5260799                   General Supplies

07305      AIRGAS USA LLC                02/26/24 ACETYLENE IND #4 FLAT TOP 210-5-40-12-610.000            192.13    51867 03/08/24

                                                  9147288426                General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/27/24 BL CProg FEB24            210-5-35-10-840.202            216.90    51869 03/08/24

                                                  176XHV616PNL              Childrens Programs

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/23/24 BL AColl FEB24            210-5-35-10-640.201            174.14    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1FMGDRJXJYH9              Adult Collection

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/25/24 BL SUPPLY FEB24           210-5-35-10-610.000             91.80    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1FNLRDPHTPTD              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/28/24 BL  JCol FEB24            210-5-35-10-640.202             33.25    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1RM9XLLJ3NTK              Juvenille Collection

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/21/24 BL CProg FEB24            210-5-35-10-840.202             13.10    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1WQ1JHQH3NNJ              Childrens Programs

02420      AUTOZONE                      02/29/24 Lights for Whacker        210-5-25-10-430.000            157.56    51871 03/08/24

                                                  3236446238                R&M Vehicles & Equipment

07465      BIBENS ACE HARDWARE INC       03/01/24 DESIGNER BOWL BRUSH /supp 210-5-40-12-610.000             20.96    51873 03/08/24

                                                  50453                     General Supplies

00530      BRODART CO                    02/14/24 BL JColl FEB24            210-5-35-10-640.202             16.01    51874 03/08/24

                                                  B6746409                  Juvenille Collection

30360      BURLINGTON TELECOM            03/01/24 BL COMM FEB24             210-5-41-21-530.000            335.02    51875 03/08/24

                                                  BT 032024                 Communications

03000      CARGILL SALT EASTERN INC      02/02/24 DEICER SALT ICE CNTRL BLK 210-5-40-12-600.000           2823.04    51877 03/08/24

                                                  2909119648                Salt, Sand and Gravel

03000      CARGILL SALT EASTERN INC      02/20/24 DEICER SALT ICE CNTRL BLK 210-5-40-12-600.000           8564.16    51877 03/08/24

                                                  2909224026                Salt, Sand and Gravel

03000      CARGILL SALT EASTERN INC      02/21/24 DEICER SALT ICE CNTRL BLK 210-5-40-12-600.000           4694.80    51877 03/08/24

                                                  2909228991                Salt, Sand and Gravel

V10617     CHADWICK-BAROSS               02/26/24 LAMP-LH.FLASH. (H sidewal 210-5-40-12-430.000             88.35    51878 03/08/24

                                                  C93552                    R&M Vehicles & Equipment

45120      CHAMPLAIN VALLEY EQUIPMEN     02/21/24 part for whacker salter   210-5-30-12-610.000             29.90    51879 03/08/24

                                                  CC08511                   General Supplies

06955      CLEMENS DIANE                 03/05/24 Election work             210-5-12-10-120.000            876.75    51884 03/08/24

                                                  240305                    Part Time Salaries

04940      COMCAST                       02/12/24 TV  Internet 1/22 to 2/3/ 210-5-40-12-610.000            199.01    51886 03/08/24

                                                  0091811 0224              General Supplies

04940      COMCAST                       02/12/24 TV  Internet 1/22 to 2/3/ 210-5-40-12-600.000             86.00    51886 03/08/24

                                                  0091811 0224              Salt, Sand and Gravel

04940      COMCAST                       02/19/24 2 Lincoln Internet Feb 24 210-5-41-20-530.000            198.39    51886 03/08/24

                                                  0136343 0224              Communications

04940      COMCAST                       02/03/24 Cable TV                  210-5-41-20-530.000             21.43    51886 03/08/24

                                                  0207722 0224              Communications

80086      CORNELL'S AUTO PARTS          03/06/24 PARTS FOR ST VEHICLE truc 210-5-40-12-521.000            800.00    51887 03/08/24

                                                  321423                    Insurance Deductibles
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31545      COSTCO #314                   02/27/24 Supplies for Employee Eve 210-5-10-10-845.000             39.98    51888 03/08/24

                                                  20240227                  Employee/Volunteer Recogn

38280      CRYSTAL ROCK BOTTLED WATE     03/01/24 2 Linc Bottled Water Marc 210-5-41-20-610.000             53.96    51890 03/08/24

                                                  030124                    General Supplies

25715      DONALD L. HAMLIN CONSULT      03/05/24 Eng serv Exchange January 210-1-00-00-130.002           1364.00    51892 03/08/24

                                                  23802 030520              Exchange - Billable

07150      DOROTHY ALLING MEMORIAL L     03/01/24 BL ARepl MAR24            210-5-90-00-640.201             30.00    51893 03/08/24

                                                  DAML 032024               Adult Collection replacem

19005      FIRSTLIGHT FIBER              03/01/24 2 Lincoln Phones Feb 2024 210-5-41-20-530.000            112.12    51901 03/08/24

                                                  16629652                  Communications

19005      FIRSTLIGHT FIBER              03/01/24 communication             210-5-40-12-530.000            215.89    51902 03/08/24

                                                  16629702                  Communications

19005      FIRSTLIGHT FIBER              03/01/24 EJRP Internet March       210-5-41-26-530.000            360.00    51903 03/08/24

                                                  16630167                  Communications

16000      FISHER AUTO PARTS             02/22/24 Premium Thermal Insulated 210-5-40-12-430.000            321.89    51904 03/08/24

                                                  293453941                 R&M Vehicles & Equipment

16000      FISHER AUTO PARTS             02/23/24 GATES RUBBER              210-5-40-12-430.000            175.68    51904 03/08/24

                                                  293454094                 R&M Vehicles & Equipment

34895      GAUTHIER TRUCKING, INC.       03/01/24 2YD CONTAINER Jackson St  210-5-40-12-425.000            143.94    51905 03/08/24

                                                  1778097                   Trash Removal

34895      GAUTHIER TRUCKING, INC.       03/01/24 2 Lincoln Garbage Feb 202 210-5-41-20-425.000            316.49    51905 03/08/24

                                                  1778098                   Trash Removal

34895      GAUTHIER TRUCKING, INC.       03/01/24 BARREL SERVICE Railroad a 210-5-40-12-425.000            585.53    51905 03/08/24

                                                  1778099                   Trash Removal

34895      GAUTHIER TRUCKING, INC.       03/01/24 BARREL ON BIKE PATH Beech 210-5-40-12-425.000             83.28    51905 03/08/24

                                                  1778265                   Trash Removal

34895      GAUTHIER TRUCKING, INC.       03/01/24 MSP Trash Removal March   210-5-41-26-425.000            440.15    51905 03/08/24

                                                  1778965                   Trash Removal

00820      GLOBAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY      02/13/24 Pet Waste Bags            210-5-30-12-610.000            254.74    51906 03/08/24

                                                  121541159                 General Supplies

20470      GLOBAL MONTELLO GROUP         02/29/24 FEb  2024 Vehicle Fuel    210-5-40-12-626.000           3776.59    51907 03/08/24

                                                  312055                    Gasoline

20470      GLOBAL MONTELLO GROUP         02/29/24 FEb  2024 Vehicle Fuel    210-5-25-10-626.000            373.42    51907 03/08/24

                                                  312055                    Gasoline

04035      GOT THAT RENTAL & SALES I     03/04/24 STRING, STRINGLINER 540'  210-5-40-12-610.000             14.99    51908 03/08/24

                                                  123882                    General Supplies

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     01/12/24 GMP Non Solar service  12 210-5-40-12-622.200            827.74    51909 03/08/24

                                                  011224                    Streetlight Electricity

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     01/12/24 GMP Non Solar service  12 210-5-40-12-622.200          10769.29    51909 03/08/24

                                                  011224                    Streetlight Electricity

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     02/12/24 GMP Non-solar  1/11 to 2/ 210-5-40-12-622.200            898.72    51909 03/08/24

                                                  021224NS                  Streetlight Electricity

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     02/12/24 GMP Non-solar  1/11 to 2/ 210-5-40-12-622.200          11958.65    51909 03/08/24

                                                  021224NS                  Streetlight Electricity

80046      HAGESTAD CHRISTINA            02/20/24 Stipend for PCAB Feb 24   210-5-11-10-190.000             50.00    51910 03/08/24

                                                  022024CHages              Board Member Payments

07380      HARD WIRED AUTO ELECTRONI     02/07/24 Install Gas Meter         210-5-25-10-430.000            400.00    51911 03/08/24

                                                  2767                      R&M Vehicles & Equipment

37715      INTEGRITY COMMUNICATIONS      03/06/24 Programming March 24      210-5-14-10-330.000             60.00    51914 03/08/24

                                                  43426                     Professional Services
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15145      JOBTARGET LLC                 02/29/24 JOB ADVERTISTMENT 3-24    210-5-10-10-540.000            450.00    51915 03/08/24

                                                  INV95969                  Advertising

15350      LINCOLN V TACY                02/21/24 Stipend for BWAC Feb 24   210-5-16-10-190.000             50.00    51919 03/08/24

                                                  022124TLinco              Board member Payments

V10130     LOWE'S BUSINESS ACCOUNT       02/28/24 SURFACEMAXX 3600 PSI fURB 210-5-40-12-610.000             50.33    51921 03/08/24

                                                  70135                     General Supplies

V10130     LOWE'S BUSINESS ACCOUNT       02/26/24 gorilla tape              210-5-30-12-610.000             19.63    51921 03/08/24

                                                  96958                     General Supplies

V10130     LOWE'S BUSINESS ACCOUNT       02/13/24 25039 1-1/4-IN OD S TRAP  210-5-25-10-610.000             32.29    51921 03/08/24

                                                  99128                     General Supplies

V10130     LOWE'S BUSINESS ACCOUNT       02/13/24 14-0Z PLUMBERS PUTT       210-5-25-10-610.000             16.87    51921 03/08/24

                                                  99278                     General Supplies

26920      MAYVILLE DARBY                02/17/24 Minutes of DRB meeting Fe 210-5-16-10-330.000             79.94    51922 03/08/24

                                                  16                        Professional Services

26920      MAYVILLE DARBY                02/29/24 Recording Secretary CC 2/ 210-5-11-10-330.000            137.04    51922 03/08/24

                                                  17                        Professtional Services

80012      MECHLER THOMAS                02/20/24 BL  CProg FEB24           210-5-35-10-840.202            150.00    51924 03/08/24

                                                  FEB24                     Childrens Programs

V9970      MIDWEST TAPE                  02/19/24 BL AColl FEB24            210-5-35-10-640.201             44.98    51926 03/08/24

                                                  505072838                 Adult Collection

V9970      MIDWEST TAPE                  02/27/24 BL ACOll FEB24            210-5-35-10-640.201             42.23    51926 03/08/24

                                                  505110394                 Adult Collection

24620      MILTON RENTAL AND SALES       02/29/24 Working Light Switch Wack 210-5-40-12-430.000             27.63    51927 03/08/24

                                                  1649594                   R&M Vehicles & Equipment

29675      MURRAY PATRICK                03/05/24 Election work             210-5-12-10-120.000             90.00    51931 03/08/24

                                                  240305                    Part Time Salaries

37605      NEW ENGLAND MUNICIPAL RES     02/17/24 FY23 audited balances upl 210-1-00-00-103.001            293.33    51932 03/08/24

                                                  54534                     Due from Town of Essex

37605      NEW ENGLAND MUNICIPAL RES     02/17/24 FY23 audited balances upl 210-5-13-10-330.000            586.67    51932 03/08/24

                                                  54534                     Professional Services

80081      O'BRIEN JOHN                  02/21/24 Stipend BWAC Feb 24       210-5-16-10-190.000             50.00    51934 03/08/24

                                                  022124JO'Bri              Board member Payments

19325      OPEN APPROACH INC             03/01/24 March managed services/su 210-5-14-10-330.000           8970.00    51935 03/08/24

                                                  22183                     Professional Services

19325      OPEN APPROACH INC             03/01/24 March managed services/su 210-5-14-10-505.000           5163.27    51935 03/08/24

                                                  22183                     Tech. Subs, Licenses

27240      OTIS ELEVATOR COMPANY         02/12/24 BL ELEV.CONTRACT FEB24    210-5-41-21-400.000            351.86    51936 03/08/24

                                                  I00401474690              Contracted Services

V10729     OVERDRIVE INC                 01/09/24 BL JColl Jan24            210-5-35-10-640.202            770.06    51937 03/08/24

                                                  01459DA24008              Juvenille Collection

V10729     OVERDRIVE INC                 02/15/24 BL JCol FEB24             210-5-35-10-640.202            299.71    51937 03/08/24

                                                  01459DA24049              Juvenille Collection

V10729     OVERDRIVE INC                 01/31/24 BL ACol JAN24             210-5-35-10-640.201              8.97    51937 03/08/24

                                                  01459SV24032              Adult Collection

23420      P & P SEPTIC SERVICE INC.     03/01/24 MSP Portolets March       210-5-30-12-330.000            330.00    51938 03/08/24

                                                  T617261                   Professional Services

24100      PERMA-LINE CORP OF NEW EN     02/15/24 SQUARE SIGN POST          210-5-40-12-451.000            124.00    51940 03/08/24

                                                  202876                    Summer Construction Servi

27950      PETE'S TIRE BARNS INC         02/21/24 E5 New Tires              210-5-25-10-430.000           5426.38    51941 03/08/24

                                                  048446                    R&M Vehicles & Equipment
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V10554     PHOENIX BOOKS BURLINGTON      02/23/24 BL JColl FEB24            210-5-35-10-640.202             20.79    51942 03/08/24

                                                  1089333                   Juvenille Collection

25140      PIKE INDUSTRIES INC           02/22/24 MATERIAL: Cold Patch - Hi 210-5-40-12-451.000           1112.32    51943 03/08/24

                                                  1267056                   Summer Construction Servi

24410      PRIORITY EXPRESS INC          02/29/24 BL Post-Courier FEB24     210-5-35-10-560.000            181.72    51944 03/08/24

                                                  8027249                   Postage

05380      PURCHASE POWER                03/05/24 2 Lincoln Postage March 2 210-5-10-10-560.000           1008.50    51945 03/08/24

                                                  0305244061                Postage

37430      R R CHARLEBOIS INC            02/19/24 ARM-WINDSHIELD WIPER C-EN 210-5-40-12-430.000             30.19    51946 03/08/24

                                                  IE48409                   R&M Vehicles & Equipment

37430      R R CHARLEBOIS INC            02/16/24 sidewalk machine parts    210-5-40-12-430.000            104.18    51946 03/08/24

                                                  IT67559                   R&M Vehicles & Equipment

02050      RON BUSHEY'S SUNOCO           02/17/24 sidewalk machine towing   210-5-40-12-430.000            250.00    51950 03/08/24

                                                  9204                      R&M Vehicles & Equipment

02050      RON BUSHEY'S SUNOCO           02/17/24 2nd sidewalk machine towi 210-5-40-12-430.000            250.00    51950 03/08/24

                                                  9205                      R&M Vehicles & Equipment

23500      ROUSSELLE BRENDA              03/05/24 Election worker           210-5-12-10-120.000             97.50    51951 03/08/24

                                                  240503                    Part Time Salaries

43275      RYCANDON MECHANICAL,INC.      03/05/24 EJFD Blower Fan Repair    210-5-41-22-400.000           1500.00    51953 03/08/24

                                                  15278                     Contracted Services

43275      RYCANDON MECHANICAL,INC.      03/05/24 EJFD water line valve rep 210-5-41-22-400.000            292.00    51953 03/08/24

                                                  15279                     Contracted Services

09105      SECURE SHRED                  02/27/24 MSP Shred Service March   210-5-30-10-330.000             24.00    51955 03/08/24

                                                  450478                    Professional Services

42565      SEVEN DAYS                    02/07/24 Legal Ads for PW, Leg, CD 210-5-40-12-540.000             92.04    51956 03/08/24

                                                  236088                    Advertising

42565      SEVEN DAYS                    02/07/24 Legal Ads for PW, Leg, CD 210-5-16-10-540.000             69.16    51956 03/08/24

                                                  236088                    Advertising

42565      SEVEN DAYS                    02/07/24 Legal Ads for PW, Leg, CD 210-5-11-10-540.000             61.36    51956 03/08/24

                                                  236088                    Advertising

42565      SEVEN DAYS                    03/06/24 DRB Meeting March 21 2024 210-5-16-10-540.000             82.16    51956 03/08/24

                                                  236643                    Advertising

20865      TOWLE ANN                     03/05/24 Electon worker            210-5-12-10-120.000             67.50    51961 03/08/24

                                                  240305                    Part Time Salaries

21000      UNIFIRST CORPORATION          02/28/24 BL CONTRACT-Mats FEB24    210-5-41-21-400.000             50.63    51963 03/08/24

                                                  1080198962                Contracted Services

19350      VERIZON CONNECT FLEET USA     03/01/24 vehicle tracking 3/1 to 3 210-5-40-12-442.000            151.60    51964 03/08/24

                                                  342000052559              Rental Vehicles/Equip

19350      VERIZON CONNECT FLEET USA     02/01/24 vehicle tracking 2/1 to 2 210-5-40-12-442.000            151.60    51964 03/08/24

                                                  604000054599              Rental Vehicles/Equip

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/17/24 Cell Phone February 2024  210-5-40-12-530.000            210.55    51965 03/08/24

                                                  9956923017                Communications

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/17/24 Cell Phone February 2024  210-5-25-10-530.000            121.34    51965 03/08/24

                                                  9956923017                Communications

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/17/24 Cell Phone February 2024  210-5-10-10-530.000             50.51    51965 03/08/24

                                                  9956923017                Communications

80083      VILLA, ELIZABETH              03/05/24 Election worker           210-5-12-10-120.000             67.50    51968 03/08/24

                                                  240305                    Part Time Salaries

23395      VILLAGE HARDWARE - WILLIS     02/21/24 MAX 4PK 9V Battery        210-5-40-12-610.000             39.88    51969 03/08/24

                                                  517834                    General Supplies
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23395      VILLAGE HARDWARE - WILLIS     02/27/24 15PK 55GAL BLK Liner      210-5-40-12-610.000             39.88    51969 03/08/24

                                                  517860                    General Supplies

23395      VILLAGE HARDWARE - WILLIS     02/29/24 1-1/8x60 HardWD Handle    210-5-40-12-610.000             12.34    51969 03/08/24

                                                  517869                    General Supplies

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                210-5-13-10-250.000            843.17    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                210-5-40-13-250.000              6.93    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                210-5-40-12-250.000             79.62    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-25-10-260.000           3537.25    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-40-12-260.000           3478.40    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-13-10-260.000           3054.16    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-13-10-260.000           1834.77    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-40-13-260.000            717.60    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-13-10-520.000          18333.21    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-13-10-520.000           2500.01    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      210-5-40-12-520.000           3923.84    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

28470      VMERS DB 110800               02/16/24 Payroll Transfer          210-2-00-00-210.004          21287.89    51973 03/08/24

                                                  PR-02/16/24               Retirement Payable

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    210-5-40-12-621.000            769.68    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natural Gas/Heating

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    210-5-41-21-621.000           1313.56    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natrual Gas/Heating

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    210-5-41-20-621.000            959.65    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natrual Gas/Heating

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    210-5-41-23-621.000            495.91    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natrual Gas/Heating

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    210-5-41-22-621.000            939.69    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natrual Gas/Heating

07565      W B MASON CO INC              02/19/24 Office Supplies           210-5-30-10-610.000             34.08    51976 03/08/24

                                                  244668201                 General Supplies

07565      W B MASON CO INC              02/20/24 2 Lincoln Reno Supplies   210-5-41-20-431.000             83.50    51976 03/08/24

                                                  244699782                 R&M Buildings & Grounds

07565      W B MASON CO INC              02/23/24 Park St/PS Paper Towels   210-5-30-12-610.000             46.52    51976 03/08/24

                                                  244783884                 General Supplies

07565      W B MASON CO INC              02/27/24 2 Lincoln Trash Bags      210-5-41-20-431.000             51.99    51976 03/08/24

                                                  244838804                 R&M Buildings & Grounds

07565      W B MASON CO INC              02/29/24 Election Supplies/2 Linco 210-5-10-10-610.000              4.58    51976 03/08/24

                                                  244916886                 General Supplies

07565      W B MASON CO INC              02/29/24 Election Supplies/2 Linco 210-5-12-10-820.000             43.98    51976 03/08/24

                                                  244916886                 Elections
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17425      ICMA ROTH PLAN 706287         03/01/24 Payroll Transfer          210-2-00-00-210.004            100.00 E 304241 03/04/24

                                                  PR-03/01/24               Retirement Payable

V1160      ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST-457     03/01/24 Payroll Transfer          210-2-00-00-210.004           2710.03 E 304242 03/04/24

                                                  PR-03/01/24               Retirement Payable

V1161      ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST-401     03/01/24 Payroll Transfer          210-2-00-00-210.004           5893.45 E 304243 03/04/24

                                                  PR-03/01/24               Retirement Payable

V1165      INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE      03/01/24 Payroll Transfer          210-2-00-00-210.002          36092.57 E 306244 03/06/24

                                                  PR-03/01/24               Federal Inc Tax W/H

V2413      VT DEPT OF TAXES              03/01/24 Payroll Transfer          210-2-00-00-210.003           4424.15 E 306245 03/06/24

                                                  PR-03/01/24               State Inc Tax W/H

25715      DONALD L. HAMLIN CONSULT      02/26/24 Brickyard Road Culvert Re 230-5-40-13-895.830           4287.00    51892 03/08/24

                                                  22820022624               BC2058 Brickyard Culvert

25715      DONALD L. HAMLIN CONSULT      03/01/24 Crescent Conn. Phase 2 Ja 230-5-16-10-890.824          22153.20    51892 03/08/24

                                                  22822 030124              Cres. Connector

23435      CHAMPLAIN WATER DISTRICT      02/29/24 Water Feb 2024            254-5-54-70-411.400           4166.15    51880 03/08/24

                                                  022924                    CWD Water Purchase - Glob

23435      CHAMPLAIN WATER DISTRICT      02/29/24 Water Feb 2024            254-5-54-20-411.000            834.00    51880 03/08/24

                                                  022924                    CWD Water Purchase

23435      CHAMPLAIN WATER DISTRICT      02/29/24 Water Feb 2024            254-5-54-20-411.000          45553.08    51880 03/08/24

                                                  022924                    CWD Water Purchase

23435      CHAMPLAIN WATER DISTRICT      02/29/24 Water Feb 2024            254-5-54-70-411.400         227555.11    51880 03/08/24

                                                  022924                    CWD Water Purchase - Glob

20470      GLOBAL MONTELLO GROUP         02/29/24 FEb  2024 Vehicle Fuel    254-5-54-20-626.000            128.47    51907 03/08/24

                                                  312055                    Gasoline

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     01/12/24 GMP Non Solar service  12 254-5-54-20-622.000             83.69    51909 03/08/24

                                                  011224                    Electricity

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     02/12/24 GMP Non-solar  1/11 to 2/ 254-5-54-20-622.000             95.53    51909 03/08/24

                                                  021224NS                  Electricity

V9454      LENNY'S SHOE & APP            02/26/24 uniforms water dept       254-5-54-20-612.000            105.06    51918 03/08/24

                                                  3537396                   Uniforms

03070      MINUTEMAN PRESS               02/29/24 Feb 2024 Utility Bills    254-5-54-20-560.000            674.42    51928 03/08/24

                                                  57998                     Postage

80059      MSK ENGINEERS                 01/08/24 Project 1461-001 ESSEX JU 254-5-54-70-723.006           9034.01    51930 03/08/24

                                                  16425                     Service Line Inventoy

80059      MSK ENGINEERS                 02/09/24 Project 1461-001 ESSEX JU 254-5-54-70-723.006          18517.29    51930 03/08/24

                                                  16487                     Service Line Inventoy

23855      SOUTHWORTH-MILTON,INC.        02/27/24 Paint-Yellow Back Hoe     254-5-54-20-430.000             64.70    51957 03/08/24

                                                  3170809                   R&M Vehicles & Equipment

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/17/24 Cell Phone February 2024  254-5-54-20-530.000            181.04    51965 03/08/24

                                                  9956923017                Communications

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                254-5-54-20-250.000             36.85    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      254-5-54-20-260.000           2208.94    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      254-5-54-20-520.000            576.70    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    254-5-54-20-621.000            571.82    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natural Gas/Heating

V10609     2G ENERGY INC.                02/16/24 Gas pressure solenoid cog 255-5-55-30-570.000           3685.23    51865 03/08/24

                                                  415082400191              Other Purchased Services
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14685      ALLIANCE MECHANICAL           01/31/24 Tracing out tripping clar 255-5-55-30-570.000            250.00    51868 03/08/24

                                                  070859                    Other Purchased Services

25650      BAU/HOPKINS                   02/28/24 dewatering polymer feed p 255-5-55-30-570.000           6859.14    51872 03/08/24

                                                  2415547                   Other Purchased Services

23455      CHITTENDEN SOLID WASTE DI     01/31/24 JAN24 Biosolids           255-5-55-30-568.000           8589.19    51881 03/08/24

                                                  18827                     Biosolids Subcontractor

21210      CINTAS LOC # 68M 71 M         12/15/23 Cintas cabinet Q1 2024 re 255-5-55-30-609.000             52.30    51882 03/08/24

                                                  5188692830                Safety Supplies

V10411     CLEAN WATERS, INC.            02/29/24 Poly-Solv 02 Polymer Blen 255-5-55-30-568.000            576.98    51883 03/08/24

                                                  13490                     Biosolids Subcontractor

04940      COMCAST                       02/23/24 internet only 3/1 to 3/29 255-5-55-30-530.000            288.34    51886 03/08/24

                                                  0316028 0224              Communications

11870      CVC PAGING                    02/29/24 Pager repair stuck button 255-5-55-30-530.000             42.95    51891 03/08/24

                                                  10399981                  Communications

06870      ENDYNE INC                    02/23/24 Eff Metals Feb 2024       255-5-55-30-340.001             70.00    51895 03/08/24

                                                  479403                    Lab Testing

06870      ENDYNE INC                    02/23/24 Feb 2024 TKN              255-5-55-30-340.001             35.00    51895 03/08/24

                                                  479542                    Lab Testing

06870      ENDYNE INC                    02/27/24 SHT NY Bi-Monthly         255-5-55-30-568.000            410.00    51895 03/08/24

                                                  479647                    Biosolids Subcontractor

38955      F W WEBB COMPANY              02/15/24 CIRC PMP 2400 digester    255-5-55-30-570.000           1176.24    51897 03/08/24

                                                  84335390                  Other Purchased Services

38955      F W WEBB COMPANY              02/20/24 Lab supplies credit       255-5-55-30-570.000             -7.27    51897 03/08/24

                                                  84491429                  Other Purchased Services

38955      F W WEBB COMPANY              02/20/24 Lab supplies credit       255-5-55-30-618.000             -8.00    51897 03/08/24

                                                  84491429                  Laboratory Supplies

38955      F W WEBB COMPANY              02/20/24 Lab supplies credit       255-5-55-30-618.000             -5.85    51897 03/08/24

                                                  84491429                  Laboratory Supplies

38955      F W WEBB COMPANY              02/15/24 0 ANTFRZ RHOGARD LIQ 5GAL 255-5-55-30-431.000            226.68    51897 03/08/24

                                                  84491795                  R&M Buildings

04640      FASTENAL INDUSTRIAL & CON     02/12/24 Florescent light bulbs    255-5-55-30-431.000            323.25    51898 03/08/24

                                                  326414                    R&M Buildings

04640      FASTENAL INDUSTRIAL & CON     02/20/24 parts VTBUR               255-5-55-30-570.000             51.63    51898 03/08/24

                                                  326600                    Other Purchased Services

29280      FIRST NATIONAL BANK  OMAH     02/16/24 WW Visa  1/26 to 2/5/24   255-5-55-30-500.000            104.00    51899 03/08/24

                                                  04810224                  Training, Conf, Dues

29280      FIRST NATIONAL BANK  OMAH     02/16/24 WW Visa  1/26 to 2/5/24   255-5-55-30-610.000             84.96    51899 03/08/24

                                                  04810224                  General Supplies

29280      FIRST NATIONAL BANK  OMAH     02/16/24 WW Visa  1/26 to 2/5/24   255-5-55-30-570.000            199.00    51899 03/08/24

                                                  04810224                  Other Purchased Services

29280      FIRST NATIONAL BANK  OMAH     02/16/24 WW Visa  1/26 to 2/5/24   255-5-55-30-505.000            115.00    51899 03/08/24

                                                  04810224                  Tech. Subs, Licenses

29280      FIRST NATIONAL BANK  OMAH     02/16/24 WW Visa  1/26 to 2/5/24   255-5-55-30-570.000              7.94    51899 03/08/24

                                                  04810224                  Other Purchased Services

29280      FIRST NATIONAL BANK  OMAH     02/16/24 WW Visa  1/26 to 2/5/24   255-5-55-30-612.000             74.90    51899 03/08/24

                                                  04810224                  Uniforms

19005      FIRSTLIGHT FIBER              03/01/24 communications/Telephone  255-5-55-30-530.000            542.70    51900 03/08/24

                                                  16629651                  Communications

20470      GLOBAL MONTELLO GROUP         02/29/24 FEb  2024 Vehicle Fuel    255-5-55-30-626.000            189.41    51907 03/08/24

                                                  312055                    Gasoline
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07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     02/20/24 39 Cascade 1/18 to 2/19/2 255-5-55-30-622.000          13822.80    51909 03/08/24

                                                  0224Cascade               Electricity

V1093      HOLLAND CO., INC.             02/27/24 Sodium Aluminate Feb 2024 255-5-55-30-619.000          19724.93    51912 03/08/24

                                                  PI26029                   Chemicals

V9854      IDEXX DISTRIBUTION, INC.      02/09/24 IDDEX ecoli supply restoc 255-5-55-30-618.000            450.69    51913 03/08/24

                                                  3145754196                Laboratory Supplies

06995      LOU'S GLOVES, INC             02/16/24 industrial gloves         255-5-55-30-618.000            985.00    51920 03/08/24

                                                  055439                    Laboratory Supplies

34995      MCMASTER CARR SUPPLY CO       02/09/24 Dechlor CL17 water feed p 255-5-55-30-570.000            293.27    51923 03/08/24

                                                  21894389                  Other Purchased Services

V1661      NORTH CENTRAL LABORATORIE     02/26/24 6x1 liter B-50, Buffer So 255-5-55-30-618.000            634.89    51933 03/08/24

                                                  500106                    Laboratory Supplies

19325      OPEN APPROACH INC             03/01/24 technical  services March 255-5-55-30-340.000            130.00    51935 03/08/24

                                                  22275                     Technical Services

20040      RAB CONSULTING & SERVICES     02/29/24 Surcharge policy support  255-5-55-30-330.000            390.00    51947 03/08/24

                                                  193                       Professional Services

V2159      SURPASS CHEMICAL CO INC       02/16/24 Sodium Hypochlorite Feb 2 255-5-55-30-619.000          11515.15    51959 03/08/24

                                                  383726                    Chemicals

43260      ULINE                         02/23/24  ADHESIVE TAPE DISP heat  255-5-55-30-570.000             97.02    51962 03/08/24

                                                  174804654                 Other Purchased Services

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/17/24 Cell Phone February 2024  255-5-55-30-530.000            141.03    51965 03/08/24

                                                  9956923017                Communications

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                255-5-55-30-250.000            134.62    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      255-5-55-30-520.000           9941.59    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      255-5-55-30-260.000           6357.37    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    255-5-55-30-621.000           2494.43    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natural Gas/Heating

40025      E J  PRESCOTT INC             02/26/24 6 RT PVC END CAP SWR      256-5-56-40-610.000             42.84    51894 03/08/24

                                                  6293583                   General Supplies

20470      GLOBAL MONTELLO GROUP         02/29/24 FEb  2024 Vehicle Fuel    256-5-56-40-626.000            398.46    51907 03/08/24

                                                  312055                    Gasoline

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     01/12/24 GMP Non Solar service  12 256-5-56-40-622.000            565.47    51909 03/08/24

                                                  011224                    Electricity

07010      GREEN MOUNTAIN POWER CORP     02/12/24 GMP Non-solar  1/11 to 2/ 256-5-56-40-622.000            613.76    51909 03/08/24

                                                  021224NS                  Electricity

03070      MINUTEMAN PRESS               02/29/24 Feb 2024 Utility Bills    256-5-56-40-560.000           1369.29    51928 03/08/24

                                                  57998                     Postage

19325      OPEN APPROACH INC             03/01/24 technical  services March 256-5-56-40-340.000            560.00    51935 03/08/24

                                                  22275                     Technical Services

23420      P & P SEPTIC SERVICE INC.     03/04/24 HSPS collection system tv 256-5-56-40-330.000           1925.00    51938 03/08/24

                                                  T617365                   Professional Services

11555      RUSSELL RESOURCES INC         02/23/24 PS parts Cascade          256-5-56-40-433.000            765.14    51952 03/08/24

                                                  245813                    R&M Infrastructure

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/23/24 PS Communications 1/24 to 256-5-56-40-433.000            304.12    51966 03/08/24

                                                  9957479939                R&M Infrastructure

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/23/24 PS Communications 1/24 to 256-5-56-40-434.002             78.33    51966 03/08/24

                                                  9957479939                West Street PS Costs
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36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/23/24 PS Communications 1/24 to 256-5-56-40-434.001             78.33    51966 03/08/24

                                                  9957479939                Susie Wilson PS Costs

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                256-5-56-40-250.000             28.65    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      256-5-56-40-520.000            453.91    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      256-5-56-40-260.000           2021.36    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

27100      VLCT PACIF CLAIMS             03/05/24 sewer back up claim deduc 256-5-56-40-521.000           1000.00    51972 03/08/24

                                                  20240089G01               Insurance Deductibles

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    256-5-56-40-621.000            224.23    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Natural Gas/Heating

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    256-5-56-40-434.001             52.79    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     Susie Wilson PS Costs

29825      VT GAS SYSTEMS                02/20/24 Vt Gas 1/18 to 2/20/24    256-5-56-40-434.002             53.76    51974 03/08/24

                                                  24044                     West Street PS Costs

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       03/02/24 RK MSP Supplies           259-5-30-15-610.000            184.67    51869 03/08/24

                                                  163HGXYGKT96              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/20/24 RK Hiawatha Supplies      259-5-30-15-610.000             86.95    51869 03/08/24

                                                  17LVNR1YXKLG              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/28/24 RK MSP Supplies           259-5-30-15-610.000             71.07    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1C9WWT9437HD              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/25/24 Preschool Supplies        259-5-30-16-610.000            175.96    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1H3CXQJC1V19              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/22/24 Vac Camp Supplies         259-5-30-15-610.000             22.94    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1J6VYPRPC4Y4              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/21/24 RK EES Supplies           259-5-30-15-610.000              4.97    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1JRQ1KPX91J7              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/20/24 RK Hiawatha Supplies      259-5-30-15-610.000             12.54    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1QHGHRP143W6              General Supplies

19815      AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES       02/21/24 Preschool Supplies        259-5-30-16-610.000             48.84    51869 03/08/24

                                                  1VVPXYM93GLY              General Supplies

80085      BURLINGTON, CITY  OF (PAR     02/20/24 CVRA Tourney              259-5-30-14-330.000            130.00    51876 03/08/24

                                                  02202403                  Professional Services

25120      CLICKTIME.COM                 03/01/24 EJRP Timesheets Feb       259-5-30-10-505.000           1096.00    51885 03/08/24

                                                  423333                    Tech. Subs, Licenses

19065      CPL ELECTRICAL CONSTRUCTI     02/21/24 Park Street/PS Project    259-5-30-16-431.000           2765.00    51889 03/08/24

                                                  1935                      R&M Buildings & Grounds

03520      ESSEX CINEMAS                 03/05/24 Vac Camp Field Trip       259-5-30-15-330.000            508.50    51896 03/08/24

                                                  030524D                   Professional Services

20470      GLOBAL MONTELLO GROUP         02/29/24 FEb  2024 Vehicle Fuel    259-5-30-15-626.000             91.36    51907 03/08/24

                                                  312055                    Gasoline

28895      KINDERMUSIK WITH RACHEL L     02/21/24 Kindermusik February/Marc 259-5-30-14-330.000           1056.00    51916 03/08/24

                                                  1024                      Professional Services

80082      KONARE, ISSA                  02/20/24 Youth Bball Referee       259-5-30-14-330.000           1085.00    51917 03/08/24

                                                  022024D                   Professional Services

22655      MEILLEUR NORMAN R             02/20/24 Youth BBall Referee       259-5-30-14-330.000           1085.00    51925 03/08/24

                                                  022024D                   Professional Services

25620      MONTSHIRE MUSEUM OF SCIEN     02/27/24 Vac Camp Field Trip 2/27  259-5-30-15-330.000            835.00    51929 03/08/24

                                                  2339                      Professional Services
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29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/26/24 Vac Camp Snack            259-5-30-15-610.000             21.41    51939 03/08/24

                                                  124301                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/20/24 RK Westford Snack         259-5-30-15-610.000             52.64    51939 03/08/24

                                                  124693                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/21/24 RK Hiawatha Snack         259-5-30-15-610.000             38.89    51939 03/08/24

                                                  125167                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/21/24 RK FMS Snack              259-5-30-15-610.000            103.09    51939 03/08/24

                                                  125388                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/26/24 Vac Camp Snack            259-5-30-15-610.000            240.32    51939 03/08/24

                                                  125620                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/26/24 Vac Camp Snack            259-5-30-15-610.000            286.40    51939 03/08/24

                                                  125630                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/26/24 Vac Camp Snack            259-5-30-15-610.000            248.02    51939 03/08/24

                                                  125641                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/22/24 RK Fleming Snack          259-5-30-15-610.000            168.58    51939 03/08/24

                                                  126013                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      02/27/24 Vac Camp Snack            259-5-30-15-610.000            160.30    51939 03/08/24

                                                  128392                    General Supplies

29425      PERFORMANCE FOOD SERVICE      03/05/24 RK Hiawatha Snack         259-5-30-15-610.000            327.89    51939 03/08/24

                                                  131881                    General Supplies

80084      RABIDOUX, ADAM                02/20/24 Youth Bball Referee       259-5-30-14-330.000           1085.00    51948 03/08/24

                                                  022024D                   Professional Services

20620      RASCO LAURA                   03/05/20 Playgroup Feb             259-5-30-14-330.000            210.00    51949 03/08/24

                                                  030524D                   Professional Services

10435      SCREENMYLOGO.COM              02/09/24 Mens Spring Bball TShirts 259-5-30-14-610.000            586.00    51954 03/08/24

                                                  20573                     General Supplies

23495      STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF     02/29/24 Vac Camp Bus 2/27-29      259-5-30-15-580.000            646.88    51958 03/08/24

                                                  70247453                  Travel

23495      STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF     03/05/24 Vac Camp Bus 3/1          259-5-30-15-580.000            543.37    51958 03/08/24

                                                  70247469                  Travel

23495      STUDENT TRANSPORTATION OF     03/06/24 Vac Camp Bus 3/5          259-5-30-15-580.000            207.00    51958 03/08/24

                                                  70247696                  Travel

30300      SWISH SPORTS LLC              02/29/24 Swish League March Pymt   259-5-30-14-330.000          21787.00    51960 03/08/24

                                                  022924D                   Professional Services

36130      VERIZON WIRELESS VSAT         02/17/24 Cell Phone February 2024  259-5-30-16-530.000             50.51    51965 03/08/24

                                                  9956923017                Communications

25315      VESPA'S PIZZA PASTA & DEL     02/06/24 RK EES Staff Mtg          259-5-30-15-610.000             27.46    51967 03/08/24

                                                  020624D                   General Supplies

V2377      VLCT EMPLOYMENT RESOURCE      02/23/24 UI Q2 2024                259-5-30-10-250.000            832.16    51970 03/08/24

                                                  REN037521Q2               Unemployment Insurance

V2380      VLCT PACIF                    02/20/24 PACIF/WC ins Q2 2024      259-5-30-10-260.000           7062.89    51971 03/08/24

                                                  REN240195Q2               Workers Comp Insurance

24520      VT SYSTEMS INC                03/01/24 Licensed Childcare Reg Se 259-5-30-17-330.000            350.00    51975 03/08/24

                                                  VS011617                  Professional Services
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                                                                                                      -----------

                                Report Total                                                            679314.90

                                                                                                      ===========

            To the Treasurer of City of Essex Junction, We Hereby certify                       ___________________________________

          that there is due to the several persons whose names are

          listed hereon the sum against each name and that there

          are good and sufficient vouchers supporting the payments

          aggregating $ ***679,314.90                                                           ___________________________________

          Let this be your order for the payments of these amounts.

                                                                                                ___________________________________

                                                                                                ___________________________________

                                                                                                ___________________________________







 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Regina Mahony, City Manager; City Council; Department Managers 
From: Jess Morris, Finance Director 
Date: March 6, 2024 
Subject: February Financial Report 

 

The following budget vs actual report includes detail by fund for all City funds (General Fund, capital funds, 

enterprise funds, etc).  Each report details the approved budget, year to date actuals, remaining budget 

amount, actual as a % of budget, and a month to date amount which is the total revenue/expenditure for 

the last month of the included reporting period.  These reports are run through 2/29/24 therefore the year 

to date actuals are for the period 7/1/23-2/29/24, and the month actuals are for the month of February. 

While we will continue to receive February invoices over the coming weeks, we are about 67% of the way 

through the fiscal year.  The General Fund revenue is about 97% of budget or $10,737,870 and 

expenditures are about 61% of budget or $6,921,535.   

The Water Fund operating revenue is about 70% of budget or $1,190,787 and operating expenditures are 

about 53% of budget or $908,638.  The Wastewater Fund operating revenue is about 76% of budget or 

$2,203,576 and operating expenditures are about 58% of budget or $1,692,858.  The Sanitation Fund 

operating revenue is about 70% of budget or $601,800 and operating expenditures are about 59% of 

budget or $386,604.  Utility bills were mailed on February 28th, so there was a significant increase in 

revenue in February across all three enterprise funds.  There will be one more billing for this fiscal year 

which will happen at the end of June. 

There are currently 176 utility accounts with delinquent balances for a total of $45,257, with $22,340 

outstanding from the October billing cycle.  In January, there were 180 delinquent utility accounts with a 

balance of $49,590, with $25,304 of that balance from the October billing cycle. 

The EJRP Program Fund revenue is about 65% of budget or $2,068,459 and expenditures are about 74% of 

budget or $2,370,378.  The expenditures in this fund are higher at this point in the year due to seasonal 

activity in summer programming and the pool. 

There are several factors that contribute to revenue and expenditures seeming either higher or lower at 

any point during the fiscal year.  Property taxes are billed in August and all revenue is recorded at that point 

for the entire fiscal year, and utility bills are produced tri-annually thereby recording revenue every four 

months rather than monthly.  There are several large payments made either on a quarterly, bi-annual or 

annual basis for things such as insurance (property/casualty/auto/worker’s comp), debt payments and 

annual dues/memberships to various organizations. 

Also included with the financial report are summaries of the ARPA Fund activity, LOT Fund activity, and 

Economic Development Fund activity.   

2 Lincoln Street 
Essex Junction, VT 05452-3154 
www.essexjunction.org 

P: 802.878.6944 
F: 802.878.6946 

E: admin@essexjunction.org 
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210-4 Revenue210-4 Revenue

210-4-00 General Revenues210-4-00 General Revenues

210-4-00-00-010.000 Property Taxes                     10,420,986.00   10,303,581.30      117,404.70      98.87%           0.00

210-4-00-00-020.001 PILOT Tax Agreements                   17,600.00        8,800.00        8,800.00      50.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-020.022 Rents and Royalties                         1.00            0.00            1.00       0.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-020.054 Admin Fee - Water                     184,005.00       92,002.50       92,002.50      50.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-020.055 Admin Fee - WWTF                       92,003.00       46,001.50       46,001.50      50.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-020.056 Admin Fee - Sanitation                184,005.00       92,002.50       92,002.50      50.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-042.001 PILOT Revenue                          17,000.00       14,309.37        2,690.63      84.17%           0.00

210-4-00-00-042.002 Railroad Taxes                          4,700.00            0.00        4,700.00       0.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-042.004 State Act 60 Revenue                    3,436.00       29,401.50      -25,965.50     855.69%      29,401.50

210-4-00-00-042.005 State Act 68 Revenue                   38,987.00            0.00       38,987.00       0.00%           0.00

210-4-00-00-060.000 Interest Income                         2,500.00       95,631.57      -93,131.57   3,825.26%          43.73

210-4-00-00-080.001 State District Court Fine               2,000.00        5,265.86       -3,265.86     263.29%       1,234.00

210-4-00-00-085.000 Penalties                              70,367.00       30,999.32       39,367.68      44.05%           0.00

210-4-00-00-086.000 Interest                               13,426.00        7,245.54        6,180.46      53.97%         684.44

210-4-00-00-098.000 Misc Revenue                            1,500.00       12,628.83      -11,128.83     841.92%       2,585.38

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total General Revenues                                 11,052,516.00   10,737,869.79      314,646.21      97.15%      33,949.05Total General Revenues                                 11,052,516.00   10,737,869.79      314,646.21      97.15%      33,949.05

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-10 Admin Revenues210-4-10 Admin Revenues

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Admin Revenues                                            0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Admin Revenues                                            0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-12-10 Clerk Revenue210-4-12-10 Clerk Revenue

210-4-12-10-020.003 Use of Vault                                0.00           19.00          -19.00     100.00%           1.00

210-4-12-10-020.004 Recording Fees                         86,000.00       28,583.00       57,417.00      33.24%       2,370.00

210-4-12-10-020.010 Printing and Duplication                5,590.00          216.10        5,373.90       3.87%          32.60

210-4-12-10-020.013 Sale of Certified Copy                  7,200.00          470.00        6,730.00       6.53%          30.00

210-4-12-10-020.023 Records Preservation                        0.00       10,364.00      -10,364.00     100.00%         860.00

210-4-12-10-030.001 Liquor Licenses                         2,875.00        1,110.00        1,765.00      38.61%         415.00

210-4-12-10-030.003 Marriage Licenses                         624.00          150.00          474.00      24.04%           0.00

210-4-12-10-030.004 Animal Licenses                         2,500.00        1,328.00        1,172.00      53.12%         308.00

210-4-12-10-030.005 Green Mountain Passport                   120.00           56.00           64.00      46.67%           2.00

210-4-12-10-030.006 DMV Registrations                          99.00            3.00           96.00       3.03%           3.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Clerk Revenue                                       105,008.00       42,299.10       62,708.90      40.28%       4,021.60Total Clerk Revenue                                       105,008.00       42,299.10       62,708.90      40.28%       4,021.60

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-14-10 Information Technology210-4-14-10 Information Technology

210-4-14-10-091.000 Transfer btwn funds (non-              14,000.00        7,000.00        7,000.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Information Technology                               14,000.00        7,000.00        7,000.00      50.00%           0.00Total Information Technology                               14,000.00        7,000.00        7,000.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-16 ComDev Revenues210-4-16 ComDev Revenues

210-4-16-10-030.008 License and Zoning Fees                39,000.00       28,805.08       10,194.92      73.86%      11,000.00

210-4-16-10-091.000 Transfer btwn funds (non-              40,158.00            0.00       40,158.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total ComDev Revenues                                      79,158.00       28,805.08       50,352.92      36.39%      11,000.00Total ComDev Revenues                                      79,158.00       28,805.08       50,352.92      36.39%      11,000.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-17 EconDev Revenues210-4-17 EconDev Revenues
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210-4-17-10-050.000 Event Donations                         4,000.00            0.00        4,000.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total EconDev Revenues                                      4,000.00            0.00        4,000.00       0.00%           0.00Total EconDev Revenues                                      4,000.00            0.00        4,000.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-25 Fire Revenues210-4-25 Fire Revenues

210-4-25-10-098.000 Misc Revenue                               10.00           10.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Fire Revenues                                            10.00           10.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00Total Fire Revenues                                            10.00           10.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-30 EJRP Revenues210-4-30 EJRP Revenues

210-4-30-10-020.000 Charges for Services                   12,479.00          590.00       11,889.00       4.73%           0.00

210-4-30-12-091.000 Transfer btwn funds (non-                   0.00          750.00         -750.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total EJRP Revenues                                        12,479.00        1,340.00       11,139.00      10.74%           0.00Total EJRP Revenues                                        12,479.00        1,340.00       11,139.00      10.74%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-35 Library Revenues210-4-35 Library Revenues

210-4-35-10-040.000 Federal Grant Revenue                       0.00          636.48         -636.48     100.00%           0.00

210-4-35-10-041.000 State and Other Grant Rev                   0.00          800.00         -800.00     100.00%           0.00

210-4-35-10-098.000 Misc Revenue                              500.00          581.16          -81.16     116.23%          86.95

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Library Revenues                                        500.00        2,017.64       -1,517.64     403.53%          86.95Total Library Revenues                                        500.00        2,017.64       -1,517.64     403.53%          86.95

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-40 PW Revenues210-4-40 PW Revenues

210-4-40-12-042.006 State Aid to Highways                 130,000.00      125,136.30        4,863.70      96.26%           0.00

210-4-40-12-091.000 Transfer btwn funds (non-              20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-4-40-12-098.000 Misc Revenue                            3,500.00        1,378.40        2,121.60      39.38%         188.20

210-4-40-13-041.000 State and Other Grant Rev                   0.00       11,468.00      -11,468.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total PW Revenues                                         153,500.00      137,982.70       15,517.30      89.89%         188.20Total PW Revenues                                         153,500.00      137,982.70       15,517.30      89.89%         188.20

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-41 Building Revenues210-4-41 Building Revenues

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Building Revenues                                         0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Building Revenues                                         0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-4-90-00 Other Sources and Uses210-4-90-00 Other Sources and Uses

210-4-90-00-050.000 Library Donation Revenue                    0.00        3,101.00       -3,101.00     100.00%           0.00

210-4-90-00-640.201 Adult Collection replacem                   0.00        1,016.99       -1,016.99     100.00%          63.00

210-4-90-00-640.202 Juvenille Collection repl                   0.00          358.00         -358.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Other Sources and Uses                                    0.00        4,475.99       -4,475.99     100.00%          63.00Total Other Sources and Uses                                    0.00        4,475.99       -4,475.99     100.00%          63.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenue                                          11,421,171.00   10,961,800.30      459,370.70      95.98%      49,308.80Total Revenue                                          11,421,171.00   10,961,800.30      459,370.70      95.98%      49,308.80

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                         11,421,171.00   10,961,800.30      459,370.70      95.98%      49,308.80Total Revenues                                         11,421,171.00   10,961,800.30      459,370.70      95.98%      49,308.80

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-10-10 Administration210-5-10-10 Administration

210-5-10-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                      338,567.00      231,048.30      107,518.70      68.24%      51,467.80

210-5-10-10-210.000 Group Insurance                        98,127.00       69,149.83       28,977.17      70.47%       6,751.18
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210-5-10-10-220.000 Social Security                        26,085.00       23,044.91        3,040.09      88.35%       5,084.56

210-5-10-10-230.000 Retirement                             28,897.00       19,482.75        9,414.25      67.42%       4,374.76

210-5-10-10-320.000 Legal Services                         40,000.00        7,566.50       32,433.50      18.92%       1,710.00

210-5-10-10-330.000 Professional Services                   6,025.00       12,345.00       -6,320.00     204.90%           0.00

210-5-10-10-340.000 Technical Services                      9,552.00        7,901.28        1,650.72      82.72%       1,154.68

210-5-10-10-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   4,250.00        3,880.59          369.41      91.31%         487.91

210-5-10-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    4,247.00        2,028.00        2,219.00      47.75%           0.00

210-5-10-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                   10,875.00        8,942.77        1,932.23      82.23%           0.00

210-5-10-10-530.000 Communications                          3,300.00        3,384.20          -84.20     102.55%           0.00

210-5-10-10-540.000 Advertising                            15,075.00        2,985.00       12,090.00      19.80%         250.00

210-5-10-10-550.000 Printing and Binding                    5,570.00        2,047.90        3,522.10      36.77%         400.00

210-5-10-10-560.000 Postage                                 2,000.00        5,107.14       -3,107.14     255.36%         705.50

210-5-10-10-570.000 Other Purchased Services                1,000.00       17,280.00      -16,280.00   1,728.00%       5,760.00

210-5-10-10-580.000 Travel                                  6,000.00        1,205.49        4,794.51      20.09%          41.54

210-5-10-10-610.000 General Supplies                        5,000.00        1,973.25        3,026.75      39.47%          91.33

210-5-10-10-755.000 Furniture and Fixtures                  1,000.00            0.00        1,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-10-10-845.000 Employee/Volunteer Recogn               6,000.00        1,351.61        4,648.39      22.53%          39.98

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Administration                                      611,570.00      420,724.52      190,845.48      68.79%      78,319.24Total Administration                                      611,570.00      420,724.52      190,845.48      68.79%      78,319.24

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-11-10 Legislative210-5-11-10 Legislative

210-5-11-10-190.000 Board Member Payments                  16,500.00          350.00       16,150.00       2.12%          50.00

210-5-11-10-190.001 City Council Payments                  12,500.00        6,250.00        6,250.00      50.00%           0.00

210-5-11-10-220.000 Social Security                           956.00          478.10          477.90      50.01%           0.00

210-5-11-10-330.000 Professtional Services                 32,114.00       15,451.19       16,662.81      48.11%         582.42

210-5-11-10-500.000 Training, Conferences, Du              17,563.00       15,628.00        1,935.00      88.98%          29.00

210-5-11-10-540.000 Advertising                             1,200.00          136.16        1,063.84      11.35%         136.16

210-5-11-10-580.000 Travel                                    500.00            0.00          500.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-11-10-610.000 General Supplies                        2,000.00        1,018.97          981.03      50.95%         209.31

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Legislative                                          83,333.00       39,312.42       44,020.58      47.18%       1,006.89Total Legislative                                          83,333.00       39,312.42       44,020.58      47.18%       1,006.89

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-12-10 Clerk210-5-12-10 Clerk

210-5-12-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                      162,763.00      107,879.83       54,883.17      66.28%      26,989.37

210-5-12-10-120.000 Part Time Salaries                      2,785.00            0.00        2,785.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-12-10-130.000 Overtime                                  434.00            0.00          434.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-12-10-210.000 Group Insurance                        51,149.00       12,246.20       38,902.80      23.94%       3,404.06

210-5-12-10-220.000 Social Security                        12,790.00        8,224.64        4,565.36      64.31%       2,057.32

210-5-12-10-230.000 Retirement                             15,627.00       10,127.11        5,499.89      64.81%       2,399.84

210-5-12-10-430.000 R&M Vehicles & Equipment                   50.00            0.00           50.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-12-10-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   2,664.00            0.00        2,664.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-12-10-500.000 Training Conf Dues                      3,000.00        1,693.76        1,306.24      56.46%         350.00

210-5-12-10-505.000 Tech. Subs Licenses                    15,000.00        8,293.29        6,706.71      55.29%         700.00

210-5-12-10-550.000 Printing and Binding                    1,000.00            0.00        1,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-12-10-560.000 Postage                                   500.00          278.10          221.90      55.62%           0.00

210-5-12-10-570.023 Records Preservation                        0.00        7,898.90       -7,898.90     100.00%           0.00

210-5-12-10-580.000 Travel                                  1,738.00          779.29          958.71      44.84%           0.00

210-5-12-10-610.000 General Supplies                        5,250.00        1,179.68        4,070.32      22.47%         251.24

210-5-12-10-820.000 Elections                              32,000.00        5,060.75       26,939.25      15.81%       5,060.75

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Clerk                                               306,750.00      163,661.55      143,088.45      53.35%      41,212.58Total Clerk                                               306,750.00      163,661.55      143,088.45      53.35%      41,212.58
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                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-13-10 Finance210-5-13-10 Finance

210-5-13-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                      225,124.00      157,247.25       67,876.75      69.85%      34,773.48

210-5-13-10-190.000 Board Member Payments                     750.00          350.00          400.00      46.67%          50.00

210-5-13-10-210.000 Group Insurance                        53,585.00       46,933.53        6,651.47      87.59%       8,354.63

210-5-13-10-220.000 Social Security                        17,730.00        8,745.21        8,984.79      49.32%       2,047.71

210-5-13-10-230.000 Retirement                             20,688.00       14,066.84        6,621.16      68.00%       3,213.50

210-5-13-10-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                  3,209.00        1,361.52        1,847.48      42.43%           0.00

210-5-13-10-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 21,182.00       10,449.61       10,732.39      49.33%           0.00

210-5-13-10-330.000 Professional Services                  15,250.00       13,540.69        1,709.31      88.79%          34.26

210-5-13-10-335.000 Audit                                  12,612.00       11,400.03        1,211.97      90.39%           0.00

210-5-13-10-442.000 Rental of Vehicles or Equ               2,000.00            0.00        2,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-13-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    1,500.00          100.00        1,400.00       6.67%          20.00

210-5-13-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                   28,640.00       26,475.55        2,164.45      92.44%        -500.00

210-5-13-10-520.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 93,600.00       65,392.46       28,207.54      69.86%           0.00

210-5-13-10-550.000 Printing and Binding                    2,780.00        2,996.86         -216.86     107.80%           0.00

210-5-13-10-560.000 Postage                                 3,400.00        1,720.76        1,679.24      50.61%           0.00

210-5-13-10-570.000 Other Purchased Services                    0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%        -297.00

210-5-13-10-580.000 Travel                                  1,100.00           99.56        1,000.44       9.05%           0.00

210-5-13-10-610.000 General Supplies                        1,150.00          298.47          851.53      25.95%           0.00

210-5-13-10-735.000 Tech: Equip/Hardware                        0.00          719.00         -719.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Finance                                             504,300.00      361,897.34      142,402.66      71.76%      47,696.58Total Finance                                             504,300.00      361,897.34      142,402.66      71.76%      47,696.58

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-14-10 Information Technology210-5-14-10 Information Technology

210-5-14-10-330.000 Professional Services                 100,000.00      132,186.58      -32,186.58     132.19%      11,346.00

210-5-14-10-432.000 R&M Technology                          5,000.00            0.00        5,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-14-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                   25,000.00       35,981.78      -10,981.78     143.93%       5,162.42

210-5-14-10-735.000 Tech Hardware, Software,               23,650.00       32,992.93       -9,342.93     139.50%       2,056.66

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Information Technology                              153,650.00      201,161.29      -47,511.29     130.92%      18,565.08Total Information Technology                              153,650.00      201,161.29      -47,511.29     130.92%      18,565.08

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-15-10 Assessing210-5-15-10 Assessing

210-5-15-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                        0.00        1,500.00       -1,500.00     100.00%       1,500.00

210-5-15-10-900.000 Transfer between Town/Cit              77,810.00       38,904.90       38,905.10      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Assessing                                            77,810.00       40,404.90       37,405.10      51.93%       1,500.00Total Assessing                                            77,810.00       40,404.90       37,405.10      51.93%       1,500.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-16-10 Community Development210-5-16-10 Community Development

210-5-16-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                      256,708.00      141,311.67      115,396.33      55.05%      33,104.67

210-5-16-10-130.000 Overtime                                    0.00           38.16          -38.16     100.00%           0.00

210-5-16-10-190.000 Board member Payments                  15,600.00        3,700.00       11,900.00      23.72%         100.00

210-5-16-10-210.000 Group Insurance                        89,186.00       13,175.47       76,010.53      14.77%       2,035.72

210-5-16-10-220.000 Social Security                        20,281.00       11,103.86        9,177.14      54.75%       2,543.80

210-5-16-10-230.000 Retirement                             23,328.00        4,881.12       18,446.88      20.92%       1,085.44

210-5-16-10-320.000 Legal Services                          6,000.00       16,504.79      -10,504.79     275.08%       8,909.40

210-5-16-10-330.000 Professional Services                  40,760.00        5,166.67       35,593.33      12.68%       1,104.20

210-5-16-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    4,700.00        1,470.86        3,229.14      31.29%         889.00

210-5-16-10-505.000 Tech. Subs., Licenses                     360.00            0.00          360.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-16-10-530.000 Communications                          5,660.00          502.48        5,157.52       8.88%           0.00
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210-5-16-10-540.000 Advertising                             1,350.00          368.16          981.84      27.27%         368.16

210-5-16-10-550.000 Printing and Binding                    1,000.00        2,620.69       -1,620.69     262.07%        -313.56

210-5-16-10-560.000 Postage                                   280.00          163.94          116.06      58.55%           0.00

210-5-16-10-580.000 Travel                                  6,600.00          800.00        5,800.00      12.12%         200.00

210-5-16-10-610.000 General Supplies                        1,000.00           35.02          964.98       3.50%           0.00

210-5-16-10-810.111 BWAC                                   10,000.00            0.00       10,000.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Community Development                               482,813.00      201,842.89      280,970.11      41.81%      50,026.83Total Community Development                               482,813.00      201,842.89      280,970.11      41.81%      50,026.83

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-17-10 Economic Development210-5-17-10 Economic Development

210-5-17-10-831.000 Special or New Programs                 5,000.00        4,328.44          671.56      86.57%       4,328.44

210-5-17-10-850.000 Community Events and Cele              15,000.00          937.69       14,062.31       6.25%           4.99

210-5-17-10-899.000 Matching Grant Funds                   20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Economic Development                                 40,000.00        5,266.13       34,733.87      13.17%       4,333.43Total Economic Development                                 40,000.00        5,266.13       34,733.87      13.17%       4,333.43

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-18-10 Health & Human Services210-5-18-10 Health & Human Services

210-5-18-10-500.000 Training, Conferences, Du               2,000.00            0.00        2,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-18-10-530.000 Communications                          1,560.00            0.00        1,560.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-18-10-800.106 Essex Rescue                          190,620.00      190,620.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-18-10-800.107 Essex Jct. Cemetery Assoc              20,000.00       20,000.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-18-10-800.108 Essex Police Dept                   2,763,113.00    1,381,556.32    1,381,556.68      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Health & Human Services                           2,977,293.00    1,592,176.32    1,385,116.68      53.48%           0.00Total Health & Human Services                           2,977,293.00    1,592,176.32    1,385,116.68      53.48%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-19-10 County & Regional Functio210-5-19-10 County & Regional Functio

210-5-19-10-800.101 CCRPC                                  13,225.00       13,225.01           -0.01     100.00%           0.00

210-5-19-10-800.102 GMT                                   244,355.00      244,355.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-19-10-800.103 County Tax                             54,553.00            0.00       54,553.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-19-10-800.104 Chamber of Commerce                       950.00          935.00           15.00      98.42%           0.00

210-5-19-10-800.105 GBIC                                    3,500.00        3,500.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-19-10-800.109 Winooski Valley Park Dist              30,300.00       30,300.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total County & Regional Functio                           346,883.00      292,315.01       54,567.99      84.27%           0.00Total County & Regional Functio                           346,883.00      292,315.01       54,567.99      84.27%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-25-10 Fire210-5-25-10 Fire

210-5-25-10-120.000 Part Time Salaries                    216,000.00      152,258.13       63,741.87      70.49%      33,037.79

210-5-25-10-210.000 Group Insurance                         3,600.00        2,464.00        1,136.00      68.44%           0.00

210-5-25-10-220.000 Social Security                        16,524.00       11,666.54        4,857.46      70.60%       2,527.43

210-5-25-10-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 20,000.00       11,440.25        8,559.75      57.20%           0.00

210-5-25-10-290.000 Other Employee Benefits                 1,000.00          648.00          352.00      64.80%           0.00

210-5-25-10-330.000 Professional Services                   7,000.00        2,050.00        4,950.00      29.29%       1,065.00

210-5-25-10-430.000 R&M Vehicles & Equipment               26,000.00       13,692.61       12,307.39      52.66%          56.00

210-5-25-10-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                     0.00          280.15         -280.15     100.00%           0.00

210-5-25-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    5,500.00        1,843.46        3,656.54      33.52%           0.00

210-5-25-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                    7,000.00          220.09        6,779.91       3.14%         213.09

210-5-25-10-530.000 Communications                          2,600.00        1,815.82          784.18      69.84%        -222.81

210-5-25-10-570.000 Other Purchased Services               11,000.00       11,154.77         -154.77     101.41%       1,561.18

210-5-25-10-610.000 General Supplies                        4,000.00        3,327.14          672.86      83.18%         155.69

210-5-25-10-611.000 Small Tools and Equipment              45,000.00       34,034.27       10,965.73      75.63%       2,227.84
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210-5-25-10-612.000 Uniforms                               30,000.00        9,070.25       20,929.75      30.23%           0.00

210-5-25-10-613.000 Program Supplies                        6,000.00        1,869.37        4,130.63      31.16%          65.00

210-5-25-10-626.000 Gasoline                                6,000.00        2,554.74        3,445.26      42.58%       2,554.74

210-5-25-10-750.000 Machinery & Equipment                  20,000.00       21,733.75       -1,733.75     108.67%           0.00

210-5-25-10-920.000 Transfer btwn funds (capi             118,260.00       59,130.00       59,130.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Fire                                                545,484.00      341,253.34      204,230.66      62.56%      43,240.95Total Fire                                                545,484.00      341,253.34      204,230.66      62.56%      43,240.95

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-30-10 EJRP Administration210-5-30-10 EJRP Administration

210-5-30-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                      395,061.00      271,082.21      123,978.79      68.62%      59,933.56

210-5-30-10-120.000 Part Time Salaries                          0.00        3,241.29       -3,241.29     100.00%       1,035.00

210-5-30-10-210.000 Group Insurance                       162,427.00       94,209.22       68,217.78      58.00%      12,332.89

210-5-30-10-220.000 Social Security                        30,453.00       21,070.21        9,382.79      69.19%       4,624.38

210-5-30-10-230.000 Retirement                             33,729.00       31,216.42        2,512.58      92.55%       7,093.77

210-5-30-10-330.000 Professional Services                   1,764.00        6,634.00       -4,870.00     376.08%        -336.00

210-5-30-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    6,068.00        1,731.20        4,336.80      28.53%         900.00

210-5-30-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                   10,825.00        5,316.21        5,508.79      49.11%           0.00

210-5-30-10-530.000 Communications                          1,980.00       12,413.53      -10,433.53     626.95%         330.00

210-5-30-10-540.000 Advertising                             3,000.00            0.00        3,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-30-10-550.000 Printing and Binding                        0.00           50.00          -50.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-30-10-561.000 CC Processing Fees                          0.00           28.98          -28.98     100.00%           0.00

210-5-30-10-610.000 General Supplies                        7,200.00        8,136.40         -936.40     113.01%         281.72

210-5-30-10-832.000 Scholarships                            4,000.00            0.00        4,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-30-10-850.000 Community Events & Celebr              17,500.00       10,000.00        7,500.00      57.14%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total EJRP Administration                                 674,007.00      465,129.67      208,877.33      69.01%      86,195.32Total EJRP Administration                                 674,007.00      465,129.67      208,877.33      69.01%      86,195.32

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-30-12 EJRP Parks and Facilities210-5-30-12 EJRP Parks and Facilities

210-5-30-12-110.000 Regular Salaries                      139,626.00       97,402.58       42,223.42      69.76%      21,165.56

210-5-30-12-120.000 Part Time Salaries                     46,574.00       42,646.02        3,927.98      91.57%       4,329.14

210-5-30-12-130.000 Overtime                                    0.00        1,173.36       -1,173.36     100.00%           0.00

210-5-30-12-210.000 Group Insurance                        38,170.00       20,025.50       18,144.50      52.46%       2,719.91

210-5-30-12-220.000 Social Security                        14,337.00       11,304.60        3,032.40      78.85%       2,028.07

210-5-30-12-230.000 Retirement                             14,033.00        9,535.00        4,498.00      67.95%       2,136.64

210-5-30-12-330.000 Professional Services                  12,573.00       12,232.15          340.85      97.29%         942.00

210-5-30-12-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                 4,532.00        5,791.35       -1,259.35     127.79%           0.00

210-5-30-12-441.000 Rental Land/Buildings                     500.00          500.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-30-12-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   4,743.00          600.00        4,143.00      12.65%           0.00

210-5-30-12-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    3,902.00          907.18        2,994.82      23.25%         907.18

210-5-30-12-530.000 Communications                          1,320.00            0.00        1,320.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-30-12-610.000 General Supplies                       28,759.00       12,500.44       16,258.56      43.47%      -3,915.98

210-5-30-12-626.000 Gasoline                                1,500.00            0.00        1,500.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total EJRP Parks and Facilities                           310,569.00      214,618.18       95,950.82      69.10%      30,312.52Total EJRP Parks and Facilities                           310,569.00      214,618.18       95,950.82      69.10%      30,312.52

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-30-13 Adult Programs210-5-30-13 Adult Programs

210-5-30-13-110.000 Regular Salaries                       26,166.00        2,080.00       24,086.00       7.95%       2,080.00

210-5-30-13-210.000 Group Insurance                        13,055.00            0.00       13,055.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-30-13-220.000 Social Security                         2,048.00          159.12        1,888.88       7.77%         159.12

210-5-30-13-230.000 Retirement                              2,254.00            0.00        2,254.00       0.00%           0.00
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210-5-30-13-330.000 Professional Services                  20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%        -132.00

210-5-30-13-500.000 Training, Conferences, Du               2,000.00            0.00        2,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-30-13-610.000 General Supplies                            0.00          410.08         -410.08     100.00%         152.98

210-5-30-13-900.000 Transfer between Town/Cit              50,379.00       50,382.24           -3.24     100.01%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Adult Programs                                      115,902.00       53,031.44       62,870.56      45.76%       2,260.10Total Adult Programs                                      115,902.00       53,031.44       62,870.56      45.76%       2,260.10

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-35-10 Brownell Library210-5-35-10 Brownell Library

210-5-35-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                      463,760.00      297,982.65      165,777.35      64.25%      67,115.54

210-5-35-10-120.000 Part Time Salaries                    125,170.00       82,706.87       42,463.13      66.08%      18,704.63

210-5-35-10-190.000 Board Member Payments                       0.00          250.00         -250.00     100.00%           0.00

210-5-35-10-210.000 Group Insurance                       138,896.00       87,921.64       50,974.36      63.30%      11,205.61

210-5-35-10-220.000 Social Security                        45,552.00       29,543.44       16,008.56      64.86%       6,561.32

210-5-35-10-230.000 Retirement                             48,256.00       31,373.72       16,882.28      65.02%       7,053.74

210-5-35-10-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                      0.00          172.26         -172.26     100.00%           0.00

210-5-35-10-340.000 Technical Services                      2,000.00            0.00        2,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-35-10-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   3,000.00        1,720.40        1,279.60      57.35%         322.92

210-5-35-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    5,500.00        1,247.10        4,252.90      22.67%           0.00

210-5-35-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                   12,500.00        7,799.99        4,700.01      62.40%         270.46

210-5-35-10-530.000 Communications                          2,640.00        1,595.00        1,045.00      60.42%         715.00

210-5-35-10-540.000 Advertising                               700.00            0.00          700.00       0.00%        -250.00

210-5-35-10-560.000 Postage                                 3,000.00        1,038.98        1,961.02      34.63%           0.00

210-5-35-10-610.000 General Supplies                       14,000.00        4,852.39        9,147.61      34.66%         252.44

210-5-35-10-640.201 Adult Collection                       50,000.00       25,864.31       24,135.69      51.73%       1,052.81

210-5-35-10-640.202 Juvenille Collection                   25,000.00       15,136.43        9,863.57      60.55%         688.19

210-5-35-10-735.000 Tech: Equip/Hardware                    8,660.00        1,559.79        7,100.21      18.01%           0.00

210-5-35-10-750.000 Machinery & Equipment                   8,000.00        2,950.00        5,050.00      36.88%           0.00

210-5-35-10-840.201 Adult Programs                          1,500.00          369.19        1,130.81      24.61%          45.51

210-5-35-10-840.202 Childrens Programs                      4,500.00        2,854.77        1,645.23      63.44%         242.14

210-5-35-10-845.000 Employee/Volunteer Recogn               1,500.00           98.83        1,401.17       6.59%           0.00

210-5-35-10-890.000 Federal Grant Expenditure                   0.00          410.75         -410.75     100.00%         204.38

210-5-35-10-895.000 State and Other Grant Exp                   0.00          800.00         -800.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Brownell Library                                    964,134.00      598,248.51      365,885.49      62.05%     114,184.69Total Brownell Library                                    964,134.00      598,248.51      365,885.49      62.05%     114,184.69

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-40-12 Highways210-5-40-12 Highways

210-5-40-12-110.000 Regular Salaries                      232,291.00      138,716.42       93,574.58      59.72%      34,574.51

210-5-40-12-120.000 Part Time Salaries                     21,973.00        7,033.33       14,939.67      32.01%         520.89

210-5-40-12-130.000 Overtime                               26,974.00        9,956.81       17,017.19      36.91%       3,012.83

210-5-40-12-190.000 Board Member Payments                   3,000.00            0.00        3,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-12-210.000 Group Insurance                       121,401.00       51,426.19       69,974.81      42.36%       6,307.24

210-5-40-12-220.000 Social Security                        21,962.00       12,527.71        9,434.29      57.04%       2,884.63

210-5-40-12-230.000 Retirement                             22,855.00       29,187.01       -6,332.01     127.71%       7,533.42

210-5-40-12-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                    250.00          146.73          103.27      58.69%           0.00

210-5-40-12-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 12,600.00        8,702.04        3,897.96      69.06%           0.00

210-5-40-12-330.000 Professional Services                  18,000.00        8,782.48        9,217.52      48.79%           0.00

210-5-40-12-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                 3,500.00        1,277.09        2,222.91      36.49%           0.00

210-5-40-12-422.000 Snow Removal                           21,000.00        8,725.72       12,274.28      41.55%           0.00

210-5-40-12-425.000 Trash Removal                           9,100.00       10,033.47         -933.47     110.26%       2,014.07

210-5-40-12-430.000 R&M Vehicles & Equipment               38,000.00       95,237.84      -57,237.84     250.63%      12,184.68
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210-5-40-12-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                10,000.00        1,846.15        8,153.85      18.46%           0.00

210-5-40-12-441.000 Rental Land/Buildings                  13,000.00        9,926.26        3,073.74      76.36%       2,230.00

210-5-40-12-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   3,000.00        2,458.65          541.35      81.96%         145.18

210-5-40-12-451.000 Summer Construction Servi             300,000.00      353,772.05      -53,772.05     117.92%           0.00

210-5-40-12-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    2,000.00          180.00        1,820.00       9.00%           0.00

210-5-40-12-520.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 17,800.00       11,785.44        6,014.56      66.21%           0.00

210-5-40-12-521.000 Insurance Deductibles                   1,000.00        1,310.00         -310.00     131.00%         310.00

210-5-40-12-530.000 Communications                          4,500.00        2,875.00        1,625.00      63.89%         233.50

210-5-40-12-571.000 Streetscape Maintenance                20,000.00        9,661.92       10,338.08      48.31%       4,925.00

210-5-40-12-572.000 Traffic Control                        33,000.00        9,738.27       23,261.73      29.51%           0.00

210-5-40-12-573.000 Sidewalk and Curb Maint                 6,000.00            0.00        6,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-12-600.000 Salt, Sand and Gravel                 145,000.00       75,444.05       69,555.95      52.03%      32,538.35

210-5-40-12-605.000 Summer Construction Suppl              45,000.00        3,818.74       41,181.26       8.49%           0.00

210-5-40-12-609.000 Safety Supplies                         3,000.00            0.00        3,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-12-610.000 General Supplies                       35,000.00       12,804.87       22,195.13      36.59%         956.19

210-5-40-12-610.200 Streetlight Supplies                   15,000.00       17,003.15       -2,003.15     113.35%         992.75

210-5-40-12-612.000 Uniforms                                3,510.00        4,062.05         -552.05     115.73%         395.88

210-5-40-12-621.000 Natural Gas/Heating                     4,200.00        1,703.87        2,496.13      40.57%         614.60

210-5-40-12-622.000 Electricity                             4,200.00        5,823.72       -1,623.72     138.66%         801.95

210-5-40-12-622.200 Streetlight Electricity               138,000.00       82,567.09       55,432.91      59.83%      12,911.27

210-5-40-12-626.000 Gasoline                               42,000.00       23,058.69       18,941.31      54.90%       6,262.82

210-5-40-12-750.000 Machinery & Equipment                   7,000.00            0.00        7,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-12-810.112 Tree Advisory Committee                10,000.00            5.95        9,994.05       0.06%         541.20

210-5-40-12-920.000 Transfer to Capital                   151,440.00       75,720.00       75,720.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Highways                                          1,566,556.00    1,087,318.76      479,237.24      69.41%     132,890.96Total Highways                                          1,566,556.00    1,087,318.76      479,237.24      69.41%     132,890.96

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-40-13 Stormwater210-5-40-13 Stormwater

210-5-40-13-110.000 Regular Salaries                       30,247.00       13,008.77       17,238.23      43.01%       2,927.84

210-5-40-13-120.000 Part Time Salaries                     17,760.00            0.00       17,760.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-13-210.000 Group Insurance                         8,302.00        4,144.18        4,157.82      49.92%         607.59

210-5-40-13-220.000 Social Security                         3,679.00          971.28        2,707.72      26.40%         222.48

210-5-40-13-230.000 Retirement                              2,571.00        1,777.15          793.85      69.12%         205.31

210-5-40-13-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                     25.00           12.76           12.24      51.04%           0.00

210-5-40-13-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                  2,200.00        1,795.26          404.74      81.60%           0.00

210-5-40-13-330.000 Professional Services                  20,000.00        8,176.41       11,823.59      40.88%         266.00

210-5-40-13-451.000 Summer Construction Servi              16,000.00            0.00       16,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-13-500.000 Training, Conferences, Du               2,000.00            0.00        2,000.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-40-13-510.000 Permit, License, Registra              19,000.00       17,467.53        1,532.47      91.93%           0.00

210-5-40-13-570.000 Other Purchased Services                5,000.00        3,912.00        1,088.00      78.24%         891.00

210-5-40-13-575.000 Storm Sewer Maintenance                25,000.00        4,186.66       20,813.34      16.75%           0.00

210-5-40-13-580.000 Travel                                  2,500.00          131.67        2,368.33       5.27%           0.00

210-5-40-13-830.000 Regular Programs                        1,200.00          583.16          616.84      48.60%           0.00

210-5-40-13-899.000 Matching Grant Funds                   12,000.00       14,040.00       -2,040.00     117.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Stormwater                                          167,484.00       70,206.83       97,277.17      41.92%       5,120.22Total Stormwater                                          167,484.00       70,206.83       97,277.17      41.92%       5,120.22

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-41 Buildings210-5-41 Buildings

210-5-41-20 2 Lincoln Street210-5-41-20 2 Lincoln Street

210-5-41-20-400.000 Contracted Services                     3,000.00        1,486.36        1,513.64      49.55%         120.00
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210-5-41-20-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                 1,500.00          277.43        1,222.57      18.50%           0.00

210-5-41-20-420.000 Cleaning Services                      22,000.00        9,464.17       12,535.83      43.02%       1,451.75

210-5-41-20-425.000 Trash Removal                           3,600.00        1,826.54        1,773.46      50.74%         316.49

210-5-41-20-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                20,000.00        2,283.31       17,716.69      11.42%         495.57

210-5-41-20-530.000 Communications                          8,968.00        8,577.34          390.66      95.64%       1,182.01

210-5-41-20-610.000 General Supplies                        5,000.00          295.44        4,704.56       5.91%          53.96

210-5-41-20-621.000 Natrual Gas/Heating                     6,500.00        2,546.04        3,953.96      39.17%         828.96

210-5-41-20-622.000 Electricity                            11,000.00        4,719.83        6,280.17      42.91%         764.45

210-5-41-20-755.000 Furniture and Fixtures                  7,000.00            0.00        7,000.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total 2 Lincoln Street                                     88,568.00       31,476.46       57,091.54      35.54%       5,213.19Total 2 Lincoln Street                                     88,568.00       31,476.46       57,091.54      35.54%       5,213.19

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-41-21 Brownell Library210-5-41-21 Brownell Library

210-5-41-21-400.000 Contracted Services                     4,750.00        5,967.31       -1,217.31     125.63%       1,231.56

210-5-41-21-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                   700.00          207.97          492.03      29.71%           0.00

210-5-41-21-420.000 Cleaning Services                      30,000.00       14,088.70       15,911.30      46.96%       2,177.62

210-5-41-21-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                25,175.00       13,504.38       11,670.62      53.64%       3,469.36

210-5-41-21-530.000 Communications                          4,090.00        2,443.39        1,646.61      59.74%         335.02

210-5-41-21-621.000 Natrual Gas/Heating                     7,200.00        3,491.70        3,708.30      48.50%       1,153.68

210-5-41-21-622.000 Electricity                            14,750.00        9,514.49        5,235.51      64.51%       1,380.90

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Brownell Library                                     86,665.00       49,217.94       37,447.06      56.79%       9,748.14Total Brownell Library                                     86,665.00       49,217.94       37,447.06      56.79%       9,748.14

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-41-22 Fire Station210-5-41-22 Fire Station

210-5-41-22-400.000 Contracted Services                       600.00          736.27         -136.27     122.71%           0.00

210-5-41-22-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                   500.00          177.10          322.90      35.42%           0.00

210-5-41-22-420.000 Cleaning Services                         500.00            0.00          500.00       0.00%           0.00

210-5-41-22-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                 8,000.00        4,964.11        3,035.89      62.05%       1,041.77

210-5-41-22-530.000 Communications                          2,400.00        4,536.57       -2,136.57     189.02%         524.55

210-5-41-22-610.000 General Supplies                        1,100.00        1,464.62         -364.62     133.15%         341.06

210-5-41-22-621.000 Natrual Gas/Heating                     4,000.00        2,044.35        1,955.65      51.11%         792.42

210-5-41-22-622.000 Electricity                             7,000.00        4,719.79        2,280.21      67.43%         764.46

210-5-41-22-626.000 Gasoline                                    0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%      -2,220.49

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Fire Station                                         24,100.00       18,642.81        5,457.19      77.36%       1,243.77Total Fire Station                                         24,100.00       18,642.81        5,457.19      77.36%       1,243.77

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-41-23 Park Street School210-5-41-23 Park Street School

210-5-41-23-400.000 Contracted Services                     1,000.00        4,583.00       -3,583.00     458.30%           0.00

210-5-41-23-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                 1,500.00          407.40        1,092.60      27.16%           0.00

210-5-41-23-420.000 Cleaning Services                      32,500.00        9,922.33       22,577.67      30.53%       2,405.03

210-5-41-23-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                15,000.00       16,588.70       -1,588.70     110.59%           0.00

210-5-41-23-530.000 Communications                          3,100.00        2,107.07          992.93      67.97%         307.60

210-5-41-23-621.000 Natrual Gas/Heating                     3,500.00          450.69        3,049.31      12.88%         495.63

210-5-41-23-622.000 Electricity                             5,900.00        2,608.29        3,291.71      44.21%         364.62

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Park Street School                                   62,500.00       36,667.48       25,832.52      58.67%       3,572.88Total Park Street School                                   62,500.00       36,667.48       25,832.52      58.67%       3,572.88

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-41-26 Maple St. Park and Pool210-5-41-26 Maple St. Park and Pool

210-5-41-26-400.000 Contracted Services                     1,000.00        2,504.04       -1,504.04     250.40%           0.00

210-5-41-26-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                 7,800.00        1,872.05        5,927.95      24.00%           0.00
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210-5-41-26-420.000 Cleaning Services                      32,500.00       15,048.78       17,451.22      46.30%       2,405.02

210-5-41-26-425.000 Trash Removal                           4,716.00        2,078.47        2,637.53      44.07%         440.15

210-5-41-26-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                30,000.00          340.17       29,659.83       1.13%           0.00

210-5-41-26-530.000 Communications                          8,900.00        6,469.35        2,430.65      72.69%         843.88

210-5-41-26-621.000 Natrual Gas/Heating                     6,500.00        3,175.54        3,324.46      48.85%       1,093.37

210-5-41-26-622.000 Electricity                            37,500.00       22,422.57       15,077.43      59.79%       2,007.53

210-5-41-26-626.000 Gasoline                                    0.00        2,531.39       -2,531.39     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Maple St. Park and Pool                             128,916.00       56,442.36       72,473.64      43.78%       6,789.95Total Maple St. Park and Pool                             128,916.00       56,442.36       72,473.64      43.78%       6,789.95

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Buildings                                           390,749.00      192,447.05      198,301.95      49.25%      26,567.93Total Buildings                                           390,749.00      192,447.05      198,301.95      49.25%      26,567.93

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-90-00 Transfers and Misc.210-5-90-00 Transfers and Misc.

210-5-90-00-640.201 Adult Collection replacem                   0.00          347.47         -347.47     100.00%          16.00

210-5-90-00-640.202 Juvenille Collection repl                   0.00          258.33         -258.33     100.00%           0.00

210-5-90-00-920.000 Transfer btwn funds (capi             694,356.00      307,308.50      387,047.50      44.26%           0.00

210-5-90-00-922.000 Contribution to FB/Reserv               5,000.00        2,500.00        2,500.00      50.00%           0.00

210-5-90-00-991.000 Library Donation Expense                    0.00        3,947.32       -3,947.32     100.00%         226.15

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Transfers and Misc.                                 699,356.00      314,361.62      384,994.38      44.95%         242.15Total Transfers and Misc.                                 699,356.00      314,361.62      384,994.38      44.95%         242.15

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

210-5-95-00 Debt Service210-5-95-00 Debt Service

210-5-95-00-900.000 Transfer Between Town/Cit             203,203.00      101,601.48      101,601.52      50.00%           0.00

210-5-95-00-950.903 Capital Imp Principal                 135,135.00      135,300.00         -165.00     100.12%           0.00

210-5-95-00-955.903 Capital Imp Interest                   64,190.00       29,255.87       34,934.13      45.58%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Debt Service                                        402,528.00      266,157.35      136,370.65      66.12%           0.00Total Debt Service                                        402,528.00      266,157.35      136,370.65      66.12%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                     11,421,171.00    6,921,535.12    4,499,635.88      60.60%     683,675.47Total Expenditures                                     11,421,171.00    6,921,535.12    4,499,635.88      60.60%     683,675.47

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total GENERAL FUND                                              0.00    4,040,265.18   -4,040,265.18    -100.00%    -634,366.67Total GENERAL FUND                                              0.00    4,040,265.18   -4,040,265.18    -100.00%    -634,366.67

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                      ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

220-4-00-00-010.000 Property Taxes                        112,000.00      113,342.86       -1,342.86     101.20%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                            112,000.00      113,342.86       -1,342.86     101.20%           0.00Total Revenues                                            112,000.00      113,342.86       -1,342.86     101.20%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

220-5-00-00-720.002 1 Main; Road Res-Q                          0.00        4,522.50       -4,522.50     100.00%       2,362.50

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                              0.00        4,522.50       -4,522.50     100.00%       2,362.50Total Expenditures                                              0.00        4,522.50       -4,522.50     100.00%       2,362.50

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND                           112,000.00      108,820.36     -220,820.36      97.16%      -2,362.50Total ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND                           112,000.00      108,820.36     -220,820.36      97.16%      -2,362.50

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                         MEMORIAL PARK FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Revenues                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                              0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Expenditures                                              0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total MEMORIAL PARK FUND                                        0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total MEMORIAL PARK FUND                                        0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                             ARPA FUNDS

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

223-4-90-00-040.000 Federal Grant: ARPA                         0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                                  0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97Total Revenues                                                  0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

223-5-23-10-910.000 Transfer btwn funds (non-                   0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                              0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97Total Expenditures                                              0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total ARPA FUNDS                                                0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total ARPA FUNDS                                                0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                          LOCAL OPTION TAX

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

224-4-00-00-015.000 LOT Revenue                           745,000.00      508,335.25      236,664.75      68.23%     223,554.85

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                            745,000.00      508,335.25      236,664.75      68.23%     223,554.85Total Revenues                                            745,000.00      508,335.25      236,664.75      68.23%     223,554.85

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

224-5-00-00-330.000 Professional Services                  70,000.00       21,250.00       48,750.00      30.36%           0.00

224-5-00-00-570.000 Other Purchased Services               14,375.00            0.00       14,375.00       0.00%           0.00

224-5-00-00-899.000 Matching Grant Funds                   28,000.00            0.00       28,000.00       0.00%           0.00

224-5-00-00-910.000 Transfer btwn Funds (non-              60,158.00            0.00       60,158.00       0.00%           0.00

224-5-00-00-920.000 Transfer to Capital                    79,739.00       39,869.50       39,869.50      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                        252,272.00       61,119.50      191,152.50      24.23%           0.00Total Expenditures                                        252,272.00       61,119.50      191,152.50      24.23%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total LOCAL OPTION TAX                                    492,728.00      447,215.75     -939,943.75      90.76%     223,554.85Total LOCAL OPTION TAX                                    492,728.00      447,215.75     -939,943.75      90.76%     223,554.85

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                        GEN FUND CAP RESERVE

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

230-4-00-00 Revenue230-4-00-00 Revenue

230-4-00-00-055.000 Contributions/Assessments              15,606.00            0.00       15,606.00       0.00%           0.00

230-4-00-00-092.000 Transfer to Capital                   611,324.00      265,792.50      345,531.50      43.48%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenue                                             626,930.00      265,792.50      361,137.50      42.40%           0.00Total Revenue                                             626,930.00      265,792.50      361,137.50      42.40%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

230-4-16-10-040.824 Cres. Connector                             0.00    1,760,163.61   -1,760,163.61     100.00%           0.00

230-4-40-13-041.830 BC2058 Brickyard Culvert                    0.00      110,430.00     -110,430.00     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                            626,930.00    2,136,386.11   -1,509,456.11     340.77%           0.00Total Revenues                                            626,930.00    2,136,386.11   -1,509,456.11     340.77%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

230-5-16-10-890.824 Cres. Connector                             0.00    1,395,309.17   -1,395,309.17     100.00%      10,352.50

230-5-40-10-720.002 Iroquois Ave Road and Wat             111,976.00            0.00      111,976.00       0.00%           0.00

230-5-40-13-722.001 Hiawatha Infiltration Sys              50,000.00            0.00       50,000.00       0.00%           0.00

230-5-40-13-895.830 BC2058 Brickyard Culvert                    0.00      847,613.15     -847,613.15     100.00%           0.00

230-5-41-10-730.000 Facilities Assessment                  20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%           0.00

230-5-41-25-730.000 Public Works Facility                  20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                        201,976.00    2,242,922.32   -2,040,946.32   1,110.49%      10,352.50Total Expenditures                                        201,976.00    2,242,922.32   -2,040,946.32   1,110.49%      10,352.50

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total GEN FUND CAP RESERVE                                424,954.00     -106,536.21     -318,417.79     -25.07%     -10,352.50Total GEN FUND CAP RESERVE                                424,954.00     -106,536.21     -318,417.79     -25.07%     -10,352.50

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                         ROLLING STOCK FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

231-4-00-00-020.024 Vac Truck Rental                            0.00          695.52         -695.52     100.00%           0.00

231-4-00-00-092.000 Transfer to Capital                   269,700.00      134,850.00      134,850.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                            269,700.00      135,545.52      134,154.48      50.26%           0.00Total Revenues                                            269,700.00      135,545.52      134,154.48      50.26%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

231-5-40-12-750.005 Landscape Trailer                      15,000.00       12,206.73        2,793.27      81.38%          57.00

231-5-40-12-751.007 4Wd Pickup Trk #4                      52,021.00        1,000.00       51,021.00       1.92%           0.00

231-5-40-12-751.008 Dump Truck #7                         248,399.00            0.00      248,399.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                        315,420.00       13,206.73      302,213.27       4.19%          57.00Total Expenditures                                        315,420.00       13,206.73      302,213.27       4.19%          57.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total ROLLING STOCK FUND                                  -45,720.00      122,338.79      -76,618.79    -267.58%         -57.00Total ROLLING STOCK FUND                                  -45,720.00      122,338.79      -76,618.79    -267.58%         -57.00

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                         BUILDING MAINT FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

232-4-00-00-091.832 Transfer btwn funds (non-                   0.00       28,762.22      -28,762.22     100.00%         913.97

232-4-00-00-092.000 Transfer to Capital                    50,000.00       25,000.00       25,000.00      50.00%           0.00

232-4-00-00-098.000 Misc Revenue                                0.00       27,619.31      -27,619.31     100.00%      27,619.31

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                             50,000.00       81,381.53      -31,381.53     162.76%      28,533.28Total Revenues                                             50,000.00       81,381.53      -31,381.53     162.76%      28,533.28

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

232-5-41-20-890.832 2 Lincoln Street Renovati                   0.00       69,790.97      -69,790.97     100.00%      44,590.50

232-5-41-21-730.001 Roof                                  300,000.00        1,093.08      298,906.92       0.36%         463.18

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                        300,000.00       70,884.05      229,115.95      23.63%      45,053.68Total Expenditures                                        300,000.00       70,884.05      229,115.95      23.63%      45,053.68

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total BUILDING MAINT FUND                                -250,000.00       10,497.48      239,502.52      -4.20%     -16,520.40Total BUILDING MAINT FUND                                -250,000.00       10,497.48      239,502.52      -4.20%     -16,520.40

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                          EJRP CAP RESERVE

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

233-4-00-00-092.000 Transfer to Capital                   112,771.00       56,385.50       56,385.50      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                            112,771.00       56,385.50       56,385.50      50.00%           0.00Total Revenues                                            112,771.00       56,385.50       56,385.50      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

233-5-00-00-721.001 Pedestrian Paths                       15,626.00            0.00       15,626.00       0.00%           0.00

233-5-00-00-730.001 Lighting and Technology                10,800.00       18,278.19       -7,478.19     169.24%           0.00

233-5-00-00-740.001 Landscaping                            12,000.00        5,504.86        6,495.14      45.87%           0.00

233-5-00-00-740.002 Resurfacing                             2,350.00            0.00        2,350.00       0.00%           0.00

233-5-00-00-740.005 Park Amenitites                        39,374.00            0.00       39,374.00       0.00%           0.00

233-5-00-00-740.006 Pool Improvements                      22,121.00        9,914.38       12,206.62      44.82%           0.00

233-5-00-00-750.001 Maintenance Equipment                  10,500.00       -1,500.00       12,000.00     -14.29%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                        112,771.00       32,197.43       80,573.57      28.55%           0.00Total Expenditures                                        112,771.00       32,197.43       80,573.57      28.55%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total EJRP CAP RESERVE                                          0.00       24,188.07      -24,188.07    -100.00%           0.00Total EJRP CAP RESERVE                                          0.00       24,188.07      -24,188.07    -100.00%           0.00

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                        LAND ACQUISITION FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Revenues                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total LAND ACQUISITION FUND                                     0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total LAND ACQUISITION FUND                                     0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                             WATER FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

254-4-54-20 Water Revenues254-4-54-20 Water Revenues

254-4-54-20-021.000 Water User Fees                     1,550,730.00    1,083,092.21      467,637.79      69.84%     507,638.73

254-4-54-20-021.001 Water Large User Fees                 139,263.00      101,304.84       37,958.16      72.74%      11,355.82

254-4-54-20-024.000 Utility Connection Fees                 7,000.00        1,100.00        5,900.00      15.71%           0.00

254-4-54-20-060.000 Interest Income                           800.00            0.00          800.00       0.00%           0.00

254-4-54-20-085.000 Penalties                               5,000.00        5,012.33          -12.33     100.25%           0.00

254-4-54-20-098.000 Misc Revenue                              150.00          278.06         -128.06     185.37%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Water Revenues                                    1,702,943.00    1,190,787.44      512,155.56      69.93%     518,994.55Total Water Revenues                                    1,702,943.00    1,190,787.44      512,155.56      69.93%     518,994.55

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

254-4-54-70 Nonoperating Revenues254-4-54-70 Nonoperating Revenues

254-4-54-70-021.400 Water Passthrough - Globa                   0.00    2,051,563.38   -2,051,563.38     100.00%     225,575.25

254-4-54-70-092.000 Transfer to Capital                   460,000.00      230,000.00      230,000.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Nonoperating Revenues                               460,000.00    2,281,563.38   -1,821,563.38     495.99%     225,575.25Total Nonoperating Revenues                               460,000.00    2,281,563.38   -1,821,563.38     495.99%     225,575.25

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                          2,162,943.00    3,472,350.82   -1,309,407.82     160.54%     744,569.80Total Revenues                                          2,162,943.00    3,472,350.82   -1,309,407.82     160.54%     744,569.80

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

254-5-54-20 Operating Expenses254-5-54-20 Operating Expenses

254-5-54-20-110.000 Regular Salaries                      143,158.00       98,958.99       44,199.01      69.13%      19,695.65

254-5-54-20-120.000 Part Time Salaries                          0.00        2,073.58       -2,073.58     100.00%         268.33

254-5-54-20-130.000 Overtime                               19,970.00        5,500.82       14,469.18      27.55%       2,260.27

254-5-54-20-210.000 Group Insurance                        84,631.00       47,234.98       37,396.02      55.81%       6,308.26

254-5-54-20-220.000 Social Security                        12,717.00        8,047.66        4,669.34      63.28%       1,676.01

254-5-54-20-230.000 Retirement                             14,778.00        2,335.26       12,442.74      15.80%         252.88

254-5-54-20-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                    135.00           66.84           68.16      49.51%           0.00

254-5-54-20-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                  7,200.00        5,337.82        1,862.18      74.14%           0.00

254-5-54-20-330.000 Professional Services                   1,000.00            0.00        1,000.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-335.000 Audit                                   4,806.00        5,698.13         -892.13     118.56%           0.00

254-5-54-20-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                   200.00           50.84          149.16      25.42%           0.00

254-5-54-20-411.000 CWD Water Purchase                    631,689.00      386,609.08      245,079.92      61.20%      47,427.18

254-5-54-20-430.000 R&M Vehicles & Equipment                4,000.00        4,467.88         -467.88     111.70%           0.00

254-5-54-20-433.000 R&M Infrastructure                     20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-441.000 Rental Land/Buildings                     150.00            0.00          150.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-491.000 Administrative Fees                   184,005.00       92,002.50       92,002.50      50.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    3,000.00          560.00        2,440.00      18.67%           0.00

254-5-54-20-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                    1,000.00        3,512.13       -2,512.13     351.21%           0.00

254-5-54-20-520.000 Workers Comp Insurance                  6,300.00        1,771.59        4,528.41      28.12%           0.00

254-5-54-20-521.000 Insurance Deductibles                   1,000.00            0.00        1,000.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-530.000 Communications                          2,500.00        1,416.70        1,083.30      56.67%          49.48

254-5-54-20-550.000 Printing and Binding                    2,500.00            0.00        2,500.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-560.000 Postage                                 3,500.00        1,298.76        2,201.24      37.11%         566.08

254-5-54-20-609.000 Safety Supplies                         3,000.00            0.00        3,000.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-610.000 General Supplies                        7,000.00        4,998.19        2,001.81      71.40%         316.44

254-5-54-20-612.000 Uniforms                                1,755.00        1,503.90          251.10      85.69%           0.00

254-5-54-20-614.000 Meters and Parts                        6,000.00        1,909.95        4,090.05      31.83%           0.00

254-5-54-20-621.000 Natural Gas/Heating                     3,000.00        1,394.48        1,605.52      46.48%         515.00

254-5-54-20-622.000 Electricity                             1,400.00          530.88          869.12      37.92%          95.53

254-5-54-20-626.000 Gasoline                                3,000.00        1,357.01        1,642.99      45.23%         126.27
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                                                             WATER FUND

Account                                                                                       Budget

                                                              Budget          Actual         Balance % of Budget     Pd to Date

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

254-5-54-20-735.000 Tech: Equip/Hardware                    2,700.00            0.00        2,700.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-750.000 Machinery & Equipment                   7,000.00            0.00        7,000.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-920.000 Transfer btwn funds (capi             460,000.00      230,000.00      230,000.00      50.00%           0.00

254-5-54-20-955.000 Interest on Long Term Deb              59,850.00            0.00       59,850.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Operating Expenses                                1,702,944.00      908,637.97      794,306.03      53.36%      79,557.38Total Operating Expenses                                1,702,944.00      908,637.97      794,306.03      53.36%      79,557.38

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

254-5-54-70 NonOperating Expenses254-5-54-70 NonOperating Expenses

254-5-54-70-411.400 CWD Water Purchase - Glob                   0.00    1,773,616.11   -1,773,616.11     100.00%     225,575.25

254-5-54-70-723.004 Main St Water Line                          0.00    2,460,567.64   -2,460,567.64     100.00%     191,612.99

254-5-54-70-723.005 Iriquois Ave Water Line               412,398.00            0.00      412,398.00       0.00%           0.00

254-5-54-70-723.006 Service Line Inventoy                       0.00       36,714.03      -36,714.03     100.00%           0.00

254-5-54-70-750.001 Meter Replacement Program                   0.00       27,063.88      -27,063.88     100.00%      14,681.33

254-5-54-70-955.000 Bond Interest Expense                       0.00       66,271.67      -66,271.67     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total NonOperating Expenses                               412,398.00    4,364,233.33   -3,951,835.33   1,058.26%     431,869.57Total NonOperating Expenses                               412,398.00    4,364,233.33   -3,951,835.33   1,058.26%     431,869.57

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                      2,115,342.00    5,272,871.30   -3,157,529.30     249.27%     511,426.95Total Expenditures                                      2,115,342.00    5,272,871.30   -3,157,529.30     249.27%     511,426.95

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total WATER FUND                                           47,601.00   -1,800,520.48    1,752,919.48  -3,782.53%     233,142.85Total WATER FUND                                           47,601.00   -1,800,520.48    1,752,919.48  -3,782.53%     233,142.85

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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255-4-55-30 Operating Revenue255-4-55-30 Operating Revenue

255-4-55-30-022.000 Sewer User Fees                       964,646.00      684,831.31      279,814.69      70.99%     331,405.89

255-4-55-30-022.001 City: Septage Discharg                 50,000.00       96,111.00      -46,111.00     192.22%       8,703.50

255-4-55-30-022.002 City: Leachate Revenue                    500.00        2,632.57       -2,132.57     526.51%       1,414.63

255-4-55-30-025.001 Tri-Town: WWTF Charge - E             746,504.00      559,878.00      186,626.00      75.00%     186,626.00

255-4-55-30-025.002 Tri-Town: WWTF Charge - W           1,095,511.00      821,633.25      273,877.75      75.00%     273,877.75

255-4-55-30-025.003 Tri-Town: Septage                      20,000.00            0.00       20,000.00       0.00%           0.00

255-4-55-30-025.004 Tri-Town: Leachate                        100.00            0.00          100.00       0.00%           0.00

255-4-55-30-025.005 Tri-Town: Pump Station In              36,000.00       18,000.00       18,000.00      50.00%           0.00

255-4-55-30-085.000 Penalties                               3,500.00        3,354.08          145.92      95.83%           0.00

255-4-55-30-098.000 Misc Revenue                                0.00       17,136.00      -17,136.00     100.00%       2,450.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Operating Revenue                                 2,916,761.00    2,203,576.21      713,184.79      75.55%     804,477.77Total Operating Revenue                                 2,916,761.00    2,203,576.21      713,184.79      75.55%     804,477.77

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

255-4-55-70 Nonoperating Revenues255-4-55-70 Nonoperating Revenues

255-4-55-70-042.008 Essex Debt Payment                          0.00      287,904.69     -287,904.69     100.00%           0.00

255-4-55-70-042.009 Williston Debt Payment                      0.00      287,904.69     -287,904.69     100.00%    -263,483.53

255-4-55-70-092.000 Transfer to Capital                   440,000.00      220,000.00      220,000.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Nonoperating Revenues                               440,000.00      795,809.38     -355,809.38     180.87%    -263,483.53Total Nonoperating Revenues                               440,000.00      795,809.38     -355,809.38     180.87%    -263,483.53

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                          3,356,761.00    2,999,385.59      357,375.41      89.35%     540,994.24Total Revenues                                          3,356,761.00    2,999,385.59      357,375.41      89.35%     540,994.24

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

255-5-55-30 Operating Expenses255-5-55-30 Operating Expenses

255-5-55-30-110.000 Regular Salaries                      493,131.00      301,242.99      191,888.01      61.09%      49,499.83

255-5-55-30-120.000 Part Time Salaries                          0.00       15,116.69      -15,116.69     100.00%       3,050.26

255-5-55-30-130.000 Overtime                               44,955.00       33,646.03       11,308.97      74.84%       5,975.01

255-5-55-30-210.000 Group Insurance                       162,045.00       46,705.13      115,339.87      28.82%      10,061.72

255-5-55-30-220.000 Social Security                        42,912.00       26,829.85       16,082.15      62.52%       4,455.42

255-5-55-30-230.000 Retirement                             46,817.00       29,384.73       17,432.27      62.77%       5,347.44

255-5-55-30-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                    527.00          251.25          275.75      47.68%           0.00

255-5-55-30-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 25,400.00       15,362.37       10,037.63      60.48%           0.00

255-5-55-30-320.000 Legal Services                          3,000.00          517.50        2,482.50      17.25%           0.00

255-5-55-30-330.000 Professional Services                  12,000.00       15,251.39       -3,251.39     127.09%         214.12

255-5-55-30-335.000 Audit                                   4,553.00        5,400.94         -847.94     118.62%           0.00

255-5-55-30-340.000 Technical Services                     40,000.00        3,536.09       36,463.91       8.84%         130.00

255-5-55-30-340.001 Lab Testing                                 0.00        6,221.05       -6,221.05     100.00%         210.00

255-5-55-30-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                 4,000.00          956.76        3,043.24      23.92%           0.00

255-5-55-30-421.000 Grit Disposal                          16,500.00        8,468.87        8,031.13      51.33%       1,260.81

255-5-55-30-430.000 R&M Vehicles & Equipment                4,000.00        1,715.12        2,284.88      42.88%       1,636.04

255-5-55-30-431.000 R&M Buildings                           3,000.00        3,216.93         -216.93     107.23%       2,014.73

255-5-55-30-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   1,500.00        1,326.10          173.90      88.41%         161.48

255-5-55-30-491.000 Administrative Fees                   106,003.00       53,001.50       53,001.50      50.00%           0.00

255-5-55-30-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    8,500.00        7,895.68          604.32      92.89%       1,484.27

255-5-55-30-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                    3,000.00        5,219.60       -2,219.60     173.99%       1,015.00

255-5-55-30-510.000 Permits, Licenses, Reg                 11,000.00          710.00       10,290.00       6.45%           0.00

255-5-55-30-520.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 39,800.00       31,847.98        7,952.02      80.02%           0.00

255-5-55-30-530.000 Communications                         12,675.00       10,966.60        1,708.40      86.52%       1,836.87
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255-5-55-30-567.000 Biosolids Land Applicatio             190,000.00      102,600.00       87,400.00      54.00%           0.00

255-5-55-30-568.000 Biosolids Subcontractor               255,000.00      135,326.21      119,673.79      53.07%       9,108.00

255-5-55-30-570.000 Other Purchased Services              195,000.00      129,019.14       65,980.86      66.16%      10,207.86

255-5-55-30-609.000 Safety Supplies                         3,000.00        3,752.26         -752.26     125.08%       3,025.63

255-5-55-30-610.000 General Supplies                       12,000.00        6,619.43        5,380.57      55.16%         295.92

255-5-55-30-612.000 Uniforms                                7,898.00        2,239.11        5,658.89      28.35%          74.90

255-5-55-30-618.000 Laboratory Supplies                    22,000.00       13,720.32        8,279.68      62.37%         119.92

255-5-55-30-619.000 Chemicals                             500,000.00      326,347.11      173,652.89      65.27%      33,892.75

255-5-55-30-621.000 Natural Gas/Heating                    25,650.00        9,388.44       16,261.56      36.60%       2,321.64

255-5-55-30-622.000 Electricity                           170,000.00      116,561.26       53,438.74      68.57%      28,926.60

255-5-55-30-626.000 Gasoline                                4,500.00        1,743.43        2,756.57      38.74%         160.59

255-5-55-30-735.000 Tech Hardware, Software,                6,396.00            0.00        6,396.00       0.00%           0.00

255-5-55-30-910.000 Transfer btwn funds (non-                   0.00          750.00         -750.00     100.00%           0.00

255-5-55-30-920.000 Transfer btwn funds (capi             440,000.00      220,000.00      220,000.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Operating Expenses                                2,916,762.00    1,692,857.86    1,223,904.14      58.04%     176,486.81Total Operating Expenses                                2,916,762.00    1,692,857.86    1,223,904.14      58.04%     176,486.81

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

255-5-55-70 Nonoperating Expenses255-5-55-70 Nonoperating Expenses

255-5-55-70-722.008 Vt Phos Challenge PePhlo               50,000.00            0.00       50,000.00       0.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-722.013 Cogen                                       0.00       54,153.45      -54,153.45     100.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-722.014 Digester Maintenance                   42,500.00            0.00       42,500.00       0.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-722.015 Automatic Samplers                     27,000.00       26,467.22          532.78      98.03%           0.00

255-5-55-70-722.016 Submersible Pumps                      25,000.00       26,993.63       -1,993.63     107.97%           0.00

255-5-55-70-722.017 O2 Reduction Controller R              14,000.00       14,000.00            0.00     100.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-730.001 Energy Conservation                         0.00          435.00         -435.00     100.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-730.003 10 Year Engineer Evaluati              50,000.00       11,472.00       38,528.00      22.94%       1,912.00

255-5-55-70-751.003 Service Truck w/Crane                  60,000.00            0.00       60,000.00       0.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-955.001 ARRA Loan-AR1-004 Admin                     0.00          459.72         -459.72     100.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-955.002 RZEDB Interest                              0.00       18,263.48      -18,263.48     100.00%           0.00

255-5-55-70-955.003 CWSRF RF1-148 Admin Fee                     0.00      179,406.57     -179,406.57     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Nonoperating Expenses                               268,500.00      331,651.07      -63,151.07     123.52%       1,912.00Total Nonoperating Expenses                               268,500.00      331,651.07      -63,151.07     123.52%       1,912.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                      3,185,262.00    2,024,508.93    1,160,753.07      63.56%     178,398.81Total Expenditures                                      3,185,262.00    2,024,508.93    1,160,753.07      63.56%     178,398.81

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total WASTEWATER FUND                                     171,499.00      974,876.66   -1,146,375.66     568.44%     362,595.43Total WASTEWATER FUND                                     171,499.00      974,876.66   -1,146,375.66     568.44%     362,595.43

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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256-4-56-40 Operating Revenues256-4-56-40 Operating Revenues

256-4-56-40-023.000 Sanitation User Fees                  778,137.00      561,336.05      216,800.95      72.14%     274,206.75

256-4-56-40-023.001 Essex Pump Station Fees                33,125.00       18,207.58       14,917.42      54.97%      11,167.83

256-4-56-40-023.002 Two party agreement                    15,000.00            0.00       15,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-4-56-40-024.000 Utility Connection Fees                30,000.00       11,529.70       18,470.30      38.43%       7,509.90

256-4-56-40-026.000 Allocation Fees                             0.00        7,168.00       -7,168.00     100.00%           0.00

256-4-56-40-060.000 Interest Income                         5,000.00            0.00        5,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-4-56-40-085.000 Penalties                               3,000.00        2,682.12          317.88      89.40%           0.00

256-4-56-40-098.000 Misc Revenue                              500.00          876.54         -376.54     175.31%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Operating Revenues                                  864,762.00      601,799.99      262,962.01      69.59%     292,884.48Total Operating Revenues                                  864,762.00      601,799.99      262,962.01      69.59%     292,884.48

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

256-4-56-70 Nonoperating Revenues256-4-56-70 Nonoperating Revenues

256-4-56-70-042.007 WWTF Capacity Sale                          0.00      141,300.00     -141,300.00     100.00%           0.00

256-4-56-70-092.000 Transfer to Capital                    95,000.00       47,500.00       47,500.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Nonoperating Revenues                                95,000.00      188,800.00      -93,800.00     198.74%           0.00Total Nonoperating Revenues                                95,000.00      188,800.00      -93,800.00     198.74%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                            959,762.00      790,599.99      169,162.01      82.37%     292,884.48Total Revenues                                            959,762.00      790,599.99      169,162.01      82.37%     292,884.48

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

256-5-56-40 Operating Expenses256-5-56-40 Operating Expenses

256-5-56-40-110.000 Regular Salaries                      126,885.00       96,422.40       30,462.60      75.99%      20,038.55

256-5-56-40-120.000 Part Time Salaries                          0.00        2,073.58       -2,073.58     100.00%         268.33

256-5-56-40-130.000 Overtime                               19,369.00        8,936.38       10,432.62      46.14%       4,528.63

256-5-56-40-210.000 Group Insurance                        40,894.00       40,331.30          562.70      98.62%       5,136.51

256-5-56-40-220.000 Social Security                        11,792.00        8,200.41        3,591.59      69.54%       1,894.86

256-5-56-40-230.000 Retirement                             13,798.00        4,852.07        8,945.93      35.17%         923.88

256-5-56-40-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                    135.00           58.23           76.77      43.13%           0.00

256-5-56-40-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                  6,100.00        4,884.54        1,215.46      80.07%           0.00

256-5-56-40-330.000 Professional Services                   4,000.00            0.00        4,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-335.000 Audit                                   2,529.00        3,000.90         -471.90     118.66%           0.00

256-5-56-40-340.000 Technical Services                      9,000.00        4,480.00        4,520.00      49.78%         560.00

256-5-56-40-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                   500.00          133.00          367.00      26.60%           0.00

256-5-56-40-430.000 R&M Vehicles & Equipment                2,000.00            0.00        2,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                 6,000.00        2,579.19        3,420.81      42.99%      -4,131.51

256-5-56-40-433.000 R&M Infrastructure                     16,000.00       10,017.81        5,982.19      62.61%       8,326.86

256-5-56-40-434.001 Susie Wilson PS Costs                  14,000.00        8,504.41        5,495.59      60.75%         966.95

256-5-56-40-434.002 West Street PS Costs                   15,000.00       11,618.59        3,381.41      77.46%       1,095.80

256-5-56-40-441.000 Rental Land/Buildings                   1,800.00        1,937.65         -137.65     107.65%           0.00

256-5-56-40-491.000 Administrative Fees                   220,005.00      110,002.50      110,002.50      50.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    4,500.00            0.00        4,500.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                      750.00        4,314.10       -3,564.10     575.21%           0.00

256-5-56-40-520.000 Workers Comp Insurance                  5,700.00        1,554.29        4,145.71      27.27%           0.00

256-5-56-40-521.000 Insurance Deductibles                   1,000.00            0.00        1,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-550.000 Printing and Binding                    1,500.00            0.00        1,500.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-560.000 Postage                                 5,750.00        2,636.85        3,113.15      45.86%       1,149.32

256-5-56-40-609.000 Safety Supplies                         3,000.00            0.00        3,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-610.000 General Supplies                        1,000.00          288.06          711.94      28.81%          36.45
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256-5-56-40-612.000 Uniforms                                1,755.00          510.00        1,245.00      29.06%         135.00

256-5-56-40-621.000 Natural Gas/Heating                     2,000.00          664.66        1,335.34      33.23%         137.25

256-5-56-40-622.000 Electricity                            13,000.00        7,872.19        5,127.81      60.56%       1,708.25

256-5-56-40-626.000 Gasoline                                4,500.00        3,231.21        1,268.79      71.80%         307.16

256-5-56-40-735.000 Tech: Equip/Hardware                    3,000.00            0.00        3,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-750.000 Machinery & Equipment                   5,000.00            0.00        5,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-40-920.000 Transfer btwn funds (capi              95,000.00       47,500.00       47,500.00      50.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Operating Expenses                                  657,262.00      386,604.32      270,657.68      58.82%      43,082.29Total Operating Expenses                                  657,262.00      386,604.32      270,657.68      58.82%      43,082.29

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

256-5-56-70 Nonoperating Expenses256-5-56-70 Nonoperating Expenses

256-5-56-70-722.001 Manhole Rehab                          40,000.00            0.00       40,000.00       0.00%           0.00

256-5-56-70-722.006 Collection Sys Capacity S              28,300.00        7,659.21       20,640.79      27.06%           0.00

256-5-56-70-722.007 HS PS Gas Detection Syste              15,325.00        7,080.00        8,245.00      46.20%           0.00

256-5-56-70-750.001 Meter Replacement Program                   0.00       22,866.51      -22,866.51     100.00%       2,604.90

256-5-56-70-955.001 ARRA Loan-AR1-004 Admin                     0.00        2,080.18       -2,080.18     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Nonoperating Expenses                                83,625.00       39,685.90       43,939.10      47.46%       2,604.90Total Nonoperating Expenses                                83,625.00       39,685.90       43,939.10      47.46%       2,604.90

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                        740,887.00      426,290.22      314,596.78      57.54%      45,687.19Total Expenditures                                        740,887.00      426,290.22      314,596.78      57.54%      45,687.19

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total SANITATION FUND                                     218,875.00      364,309.77     -583,184.77     166.45%     247,197.29Total SANITATION FUND                                     218,875.00      364,309.77     -583,184.77     166.45%     247,197.29

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Revenues                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

257-5-57-50-330.000 Professional Services                       0.00        2,960.00       -2,960.00     100.00%       1,667.50

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                              0.00        2,960.00       -2,960.00     100.00%       1,667.50Total Expenditures                                              0.00        2,960.00       -2,960.00     100.00%       1,667.50

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total STORMWATER FUND                                           0.00       -2,960.00        2,960.00    -100.00%      -1,667.50Total STORMWATER FUND                                           0.00       -2,960.00        2,960.00    -100.00%      -1,667.50

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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258-4-33-13-020.310 Senior Center Payments                  3,000.00        1,414.32        1,585.68      47.14%           0.00

258-4-33-13-050.000 Donation Revenue                        2,000.00          285.00        1,715.00      14.25%           0.00

258-4-33-13-050.002 Fund Raising Revenue                      300.00            0.00          300.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                              5,300.00        1,699.32        3,600.68      32.06%           0.00Total Revenues                                              5,300.00        1,699.32        3,600.68      32.06%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

258-5-33-13-330.000 Professional Services                   1,500.00        1,598.08          -98.08     106.54%           0.00

258-5-33-13-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                   500.00            0.00          500.00       0.00%           0.00

258-5-33-13-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                     600.00          808.46         -208.46     134.74%           0.00

258-5-33-13-610.000 General Supplies                          500.00          447.70           52.30      89.54%           0.00

258-5-33-13-830.000 Regular Programs                        2,000.00          708.85        1,291.15      35.44%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                          5,100.00        3,563.09        1,536.91      69.86%           0.00Total Expenditures                                          5,100.00        3,563.09        1,536.91      69.86%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total SENIOR CENTER FUND                                      200.00       -1,863.77        1,663.77    -931.89%           0.00Total SENIOR CENTER FUND                                      200.00       -1,863.77        1,663.77    -931.89%           0.00

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============
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259-4-30-10-040.000 Federal Grant Revenue                       0.00      113,071.34     -113,071.34     100.00%           0.00

259-4-30-10-041.000 State and Other Grant Rev                   0.00      272,914.00     -272,914.00     100.00%      43,569.00

259-4-30-11-020.304 Pool Day Admissions                    68,444.00       60,227.90        8,216.10      88.00%           0.00

259-4-30-11-020.305 Pool Memberships                       40,843.00       13,421.50       27,421.50      32.86%           0.00

259-4-30-11-020.306 Swim Lessons                           49,052.00        2,828.00       46,224.00       5.77%           0.00

259-4-30-12-020.308 Facility & Field Rental                18,379.00        9,952.50        8,426.50      54.15%           0.00

259-4-30-14-020.311 Youth Programs                        250,040.00      128,086.87      121,953.13      51.23%         785.00

259-4-30-14-020.312 Adult Programs                        146,320.00      100,528.00       45,792.00      68.70%           5.00

259-4-30-14-050.000 Donation Revenue                       38,850.00        1,000.00       37,850.00       2.57%           0.00

259-4-30-15-020.313 Childcare - AS                      1,369,027.00      915,382.19      453,644.81      66.86%      55,363.20

259-4-30-15-020.315 Shared Staffing Contract              141,707.00            0.00      141,707.00       0.00%           0.00

259-4-30-16-020.313 Childcare - PS                        438,868.00      267,002.62      171,865.38      60.84%       4,002.19

259-4-30-17-020.313 Childcare - DC                        618,635.00      184,044.38      434,590.62      29.75%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Revenues                                          3,180,165.00    2,068,459.30    1,111,705.70      65.04%     103,724.39Total Revenues                                          3,180,165.00    2,068,459.30    1,111,705.70      65.04%     103,724.39

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-10 Administration259-5-30-10 Administration

259-5-30-10-110.000 Regular Salaries                            0.00       31,099.94      -31,099.94     100.00%       2,067.11

259-5-30-10-210.000 Group Insurance                             0.00          350.00         -350.00     100.00%           0.00

259-5-30-10-220.000 Social Security                             0.00        2,495.27       -2,495.27     100.00%         179.92

259-5-30-10-230.000 Retirement                                  0.00        2,712.45       -2,712.45     100.00%         175.70

259-5-30-10-250.000 Unemployment Insurance                  4,282.00        1,766.41        2,515.59      41.25%           0.00

259-5-30-10-260.000 Workers Comp Insurance                 50,000.00       24,289.85       25,710.15      48.58%           0.00

259-5-30-10-330.000 Professional Services                   4,500.00        4,588.32          -88.32     101.96%       1,765.00

259-5-30-10-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   2,135.00        3,884.57       -1,749.57     181.95%         711.56

259-5-30-10-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    9,500.00        5,666.75        3,833.25      59.65%          70.00

259-5-30-10-505.000 Tech. Subs, Licenses                        0.00        1,405.39       -1,405.39     100.00%       1,405.39

259-5-30-10-550.000 Printing and Binding                   10,500.00            0.00       10,500.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-10-560.000 Postage                                 7,103.00        4,032.16        3,070.84      56.77%       1,985.50

259-5-30-10-561.000 CC Processing Fees                          0.00       32,883.81      -32,883.81     100.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Administration                                       88,020.00      115,174.92      -27,154.92     130.85%       8,360.18Total Administration                                       88,020.00      115,174.92      -27,154.92     130.85%       8,360.18

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-11 Pool259-5-30-11 Pool

259-5-30-11-120.000 Part Time Salaries                    108,972.00       93,348.26       15,623.74      85.66%           0.00

259-5-30-11-130.000 Overtime                                    0.00        3,092.58       -3,092.58     100.00%           0.00

259-5-30-11-220.000 Social Security                         8,336.00        7,377.71          958.29      88.50%           0.00

259-5-30-11-330.000 Professional Services                   5,080.00            0.00        5,080.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-11-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                     0.00        2,117.94       -2,117.94     100.00%           0.00

259-5-30-11-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                29,189.00       14,017.08       15,171.92      48.02%           0.00

259-5-30-11-610.000 General Supplies                        4,362.00          982.12        3,379.88      22.52%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Pool                                                155,939.00      120,935.69       35,003.31      77.55%           0.00Total Pool                                                155,939.00      120,935.69       35,003.31      77.55%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-12 Parks and Facilities259-5-30-12 Parks and Facilities

259-5-30-12-120.000 Part Time Salaries                      7,922.00        2,187.98        5,734.02      27.62%           0.00

259-5-30-12-220.000 Social Security                           606.00          167.40          438.60      27.62%           0.00

259-5-30-12-330.000 Professional Services                   9,000.00        7,725.06        1,274.94      85.83%           0.00

259-5-30-12-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                  13,800.00        8,003.00        5,797.00      57.99%           0.00
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259-5-30-12-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    4,000.00        5,709.20       -1,709.20     142.73%           0.00

259-5-30-12-530.000 Communications                          1,320.00          880.00          440.00      66.67%         220.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Parks and Facilities                                 36,648.00       24,672.64       11,975.36      67.32%         220.00Total Parks and Facilities                                 36,648.00       24,672.64       11,975.36      67.32%         220.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-14 Recreation Programs259-5-30-14 Recreation Programs

259-5-30-14-110.000 Regular Salaries                       53,745.00        6,201.33       47,543.67      11.54%       6,201.33

259-5-30-14-120.000 Part Time Salaries                     30,968.00       14,586.50       16,381.50      47.10%       1,346.02

259-5-30-14-210.000 Group Insurance                        25,158.00            0.00       25,158.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-14-220.000 Social Security                         6,507.00        1,585.15        4,921.85      24.36%         572.23

259-5-30-14-230.000 Retirement                              4,434.00          527.10        3,906.90      11.89%         527.10

259-5-30-14-290.000 Other Employee Benefits                   350.00            0.00          350.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-14-330.000 Professional Services                 329,262.00      256,280.92       72,981.08      77.83%      78,883.56

259-5-30-14-410.000 Water and Sewer Charges                   800.00          654.67          145.33      81.83%           0.00

259-5-30-14-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                 1,300.00            0.00        1,300.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-14-442.000 Rental Vehicles/Equip                   2,000.00       -2,365.32        4,365.32    -118.27%           0.00

259-5-30-14-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    6,784.00        4,294.49        2,489.51      63.30%         270.00

259-5-30-14-530.000 Communications                              0.00           55.00          -55.00     100.00%          55.00

259-5-30-14-540.000 Advertising                                 0.00        3,585.00       -3,585.00     100.00%           0.00

259-5-30-14-610.000 General Supplies                       34,761.00       31,673.34        3,087.66      91.12%       3,900.60

259-5-30-14-850.150 Memorial Day Parade                         0.00        2,264.17       -2,264.17     100.00%       1,814.17

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Recreation Programs                                 496,069.00      319,342.35      176,726.65      64.37%      93,570.01Total Recreation Programs                                 496,069.00      319,342.35      176,726.65      64.37%      93,570.01

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-15 After School Care259-5-30-15 After School Care

259-5-30-15-110.000 Regular Salaries                      561,969.00      280,537.48      281,431.52      49.92%      65,330.38

259-5-30-15-120.000 Part Time Salaries                    379,133.00      317,309.98       61,823.02      83.69%      98,812.94

259-5-30-15-130.000 Overtime                                    0.00        2,227.47       -2,227.47     100.00%         181.62

259-5-30-15-210.000 Group Insurance                       135,435.00       65,974.71       69,460.29      48.71%       8,434.97

259-5-30-15-220.000 Social Security                        72,289.00       46,117.37       26,171.63      63.80%      12,522.91

259-5-30-15-230.000 Retirement                             43,846.00       32,388.77       11,457.23      73.87%       6,102.32

259-5-30-15-290.000 Other Employee Benefits                 3,850.00            0.00        3,850.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-15-330.000 Professional Services                  51,917.00       31,518.58       20,398.42      60.71%       5,233.68

259-5-30-15-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                   25,045.00       10,173.44       14,871.56      40.62%       6,321.80

259-5-30-15-530.000 Communications                          7,920.00        7,372.34          547.66      93.09%       1,190.62

259-5-30-15-580.000 Travel                                 20,100.00        2,048.57       18,051.43      10.19%           0.00

259-5-30-15-610.000 General Supplies                       57,792.00       50,055.32        7,736.68      86.61%       8,816.39

259-5-30-15-626.000 Gasoline                                5,500.00          643.86        4,856.14      11.71%         167.02

259-5-30-15-751.000 Vehicle Purchases                      17,506.00            0.00       17,506.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total After School Care                                 1,382,302.00      846,367.89      535,934.11      61.23%     213,114.65Total After School Care                                 1,382,302.00      846,367.89      535,934.11      61.23%     213,114.65

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-16 Preschool259-5-30-16 Preschool

259-5-30-16-110.000 Regular Salaries                      249,948.00      179,245.64       70,702.36      71.71%      38,777.52

259-5-30-16-120.000 Part Time Salaries                     12,186.00       10,828.94        1,357.06      88.86%       2,179.40

259-5-30-16-130.000 Overtime                                    0.00          514.00         -514.00     100.00%         145.42

259-5-30-16-210.000 Group Insurance                       126,922.00       48,567.32       78,354.68      38.27%       6,347.51

259-5-30-16-220.000 Social Security                        20,187.00       14,426.93        5,760.07      71.47%       3,098.65

259-5-30-16-230.000 Retirement                             23,098.00        6,800.72       16,297.28      29.44%       1,515.52

259-5-30-16-290.000 Other Employee Benefits                 1,750.00            0.00        1,750.00       0.00%           0.00
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259-5-30-16-330.000 Professional Services                   3,114.00       84,066.41      -80,952.41   2,699.63%          45.00

259-5-30-16-431.000 R&M Buildings & Grounds                     0.00       17,455.85      -17,455.85     100.00%      17,455.85

259-5-30-16-500.000 Training, Conf, Dues                    7,500.00        3,244.88        4,255.12      43.27%          80.00

259-5-30-16-530.000 Communications                              0.00           50.51          -50.51     100.00%           0.00

259-5-30-16-580.000 Travel                                  1,728.00            0.00        1,728.00       0.00%           0.00

259-5-30-16-610.000 General Supplies                        4,500.00       22,226.21      -17,726.21     493.92%         648.08

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Preschool                                           450,933.00      387,427.41       63,505.59      85.92%      70,292.95Total Preschool                                           450,933.00      387,427.41       63,505.59      85.92%      70,292.95

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-17 Summer Day Camps259-5-30-17 Summer Day Camps

259-5-30-17-110.000 Regular Salaries                       73,501.00       48,473.43       25,027.57      65.95%          85.26

259-5-30-17-120.000 Part Time Salaries                    355,071.00      343,407.26       11,663.74      96.72%           0.00

259-5-30-17-130.000 Overtime                                    0.00       17,926.72      -17,926.72     100.00%           0.00

259-5-30-17-220.000 Social Security                        32,786.00       31,261.55        1,524.45      95.35%          40.12

259-5-30-17-330.000 Professional Services                  64,585.00       46,647.63       17,937.37      72.23%       2,327.00

259-5-30-17-580.000 Travel                                 34,300.00       30,648.79        3,651.21      89.36%           0.00

259-5-30-17-610.000 General Supplies                       26,692.00       38,091.50      -11,399.50     142.71%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Summer Day Camps                                    586,935.00      556,456.88       30,478.12      94.81%       2,452.38Total Summer Day Camps                                    586,935.00      556,456.88       30,478.12      94.81%       2,452.38

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

259-5-30-19 Rec Kids259-5-30-19 Rec Kids

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Rec Kids                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00Total Rec Kids                                                  0.00            0.00            0.00       0.00%           0.00

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total Expenditures                                      3,196,846.00    2,370,377.78      826,468.22      74.15%     388,010.17Total Expenditures                                      3,196,846.00    2,370,377.78      826,468.22      74.15%     388,010.17

                                                     --------------- --------------- --------------- ----------- ---------------

Total EJRP PPROGRAMS FUND                                 -16,681.00     -301,918.48      318,599.48   1,809.95%    -284,285.78Total EJRP PPROGRAMS FUND                                 -16,681.00     -301,918.48      318,599.48   1,809.95%    -284,285.78

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============

Total All Funds                                         1,155,456.00    3,878,713.12   -5,034,169.12     335.69%     116,878.07Total All Funds                                         1,155,456.00    3,878,713.12   -5,034,169.12     335.69%     116,878.07

                                                     =============== =============== =============== =========== ===============



ARPA Funds Received 2021 1,622,172.19   

ARPA Funds Received 2022 1,622,936.98   $764.81 additional funds received December 2022

Interest Accrued 39,957.50         

Less:

Balance of assigned amount by Council for 

architect/engineering services contract (133,955.36)     

$231,419 assigned 4/26/23 for Scott & Partners architect and 

engineering services contract

Balance of assigned amount by Council for 

construction manager services (41,229.00)       

$43,729 assigned 9/13/23 for Bread Loaf Corp construction 

manager services

FY24 Budget Transfer Remaining -                     

ARPA Funds Spent to Date (510,630.77)     see Spending Detail worksheet

Balance of ARPA Funds Available 2,599,251.54   

updated 3/6/24

ARPA Funds Balance Detail

S:\Finance\Grants\Village\ARPA\Tracking and Invoices\ARPA Spending Detail



LOT Funds Received FY23 659,341.99      

11/21/22 Disbursement - Q1 1,178.64           

2/9/23 Disbursement - Q2 239,621.26      

5/12/23 Disbursement - Q3 195,435.64      

6/30/23 Disbursement - Q4 219,588.49      

funds received in August, but recorded back to June to properly 

recognize revenue

Interest Accrued 3,517.96           

LOT Funds Received FY24 508,335.25      

11/21/23 Disbursement - Q1 284,780.40      

Q2 223,554.85      

Q3 will be received in May 2024

Q4 will be received in August 2024

Interest Accrued allocated quarterly

Less:

FY23 IT Migration (100,000.00)     

FY24 Expenses (61,119.50)       

Rebranding (27,500.00)       

$40,000 assigned during budget, $12,500 reassigned to 

Strategic Planning by Council

Strategic Planning Balance of Funds Avail. (21,250.00)       

$30,000 assigned during budget, $12,500 added from 

Rebranding by Council

Banners/Signs (14,375.00)       

Capital Transfer Balance of Funds Avail. (39,869.50)       

Paving (40,000.00)       

$20,000 assigned during budget, additonal $20,000 assigned by 

Council 

Stormwater Grant Match (28,000.00)       

Code Enforcement Salary/Benefits (40,158.00)       

Balance of LOT Funds Available 795,405.24      

Projected FY24 LOT Revenue 236,664.75      $745,000 projected, less actual funds received to date

Projected FY24 LOT Fund Balance 1,032,069.99   

updated 3/6/24

LOT Fund Balance Detail

S:\Finance\Monthly Financial Reports\LOT Fund Detail



FY23 Economic Development Fund Balance 737,083.46      

Economic Development Funds Received FY24 113,342.86      

Property Taxes 113,342.86      will be allocated after 9/15 and 3/15 tax payment due dates

Interest Accrued allocated quarterly

Less:

Main St Park (170,543.90)     

$200,000 estimated, less $24,933.60 actual spend in FY23, less 

$4,522.50 actual spend to date in FY24

Balance of Economic Development Funds Available 679,882.42      

Projected FY24 Economic Development Fund Revenue -                    

Projected FY24 Economic Development Fund Balance 679,882.42      

Crescent Connector project may require an additional 

$255,780, remaining balance after Crescent Connector 

expense should cover Amtrak match

updated 3/6/24

Economic Development Fund Balance Detail

S:\Finance\Monthly Financial Reports\Economic Development Fund Detail



 
City of Essex Junction 

Bike/Walk Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes 
February, 2024 

DRAFT 
 
 
Meeting Attendees:  Micah Hagan, Chris Kline, Tacy Lincoln, Russ Miller-Johnson; Michael 
Giguere, John O’Brien; Susan Grasso (Local Motion); UVM Students working on Senior 
Capstone Project with the BWAC- Lukas DeSchepper, Robert Frederic, Anthony Adoniou, 
Michael Giguere, John O’Brien 
 
Meeting Called to Order:  7:10 p.m.  
 
Meeting Minutes: Tacy Lincoln volunteered to take minutes.   
 
Changes to Agenda/Review/Approval of Minutes:  

● Changes:  
- Introductions of new Committee members and guests; as well as Chris Yuen, the 

City’s Director of Community Development, who will serve as the liaison between 
the BWAC and City Council. 

- Chris Yuen added an agenda item: Discussion of the BWAC’s  interest in 
becoming involved with the “Walk to Shop” program. 
 

● Minutes from the January 11,m 2024 meeting were unanimously approved.   
 
Public to be Heard: No comments. 
 
CCRPC (Chittenden County Regional Planning Commission)Unified Planning 
Grant Information Update:  In 2018 a formal assessment of the connectivity gap between 
Susie Wilson Road and Pearl Street by a hired engineering firm resulted in a three million dollar 
project proposal which was never acted upon.   In lieu the cost of the 2018 proposal,  Chris Yuen 
informed the Committee that he submitted a grant application  to secure funding to study 
interim and less invasive measures to ameliorate the continuing concerns about the safety of 
this corridor   If awarded the funding, the City would be obligated to contribute a percentage of 
the total cost of the study.  Chris reported that the City was supportive of this endeavor and will 
keep the Committee updated on the progress of the grant proposal. 
 
UVM Capstone Project: The UVM Engineering Students will focus on improving the safety at 
the North/Grove street intersection.  Additionally, their Capstone project will examine the 
options for safe cycling and pedestrian connections from the southern end of Grove and North 
streets to Ivy Lane and the Crescent Connector.  
 



As part of the discussion, Chris Yuen reported that he had been contacted by students from 
another UVM class who are seeking to engage in a Sustainable Urban Planning project.  After 
discussion, the Committee agreed to propose that this group  research, gather data and report 
on the behavioral patterns of cyclists and pedestrians at key traffic light intersections within the 
City.  The Pearl and South Summit Street intersection was identified as being one that would be 
of most interest to the Committee (there may be others, as well).  Chris will follow up with this 
group as he will serve as their project sponsor.  
 
Annual Bike/Walk Advisory Committee Report:  The Committee must submit the annual 
summary of activities, accomplishments, events, to the City Council by February 23, 2024.  
Micah agreed to compose the summary and will send it to Chris Yuen. 
 
Annual Bike/Walk Advisory Committee Presentation to City Council: The Bike/Walk 
Advisory Committee is scheduled to make a presentation to the City Council on May 22, 2024.  
 
Added Agenda Item: Proposed Partnership Between BWAC and  “Walk to Shop”: 
Chris Yuen informed the Committee that he has been in contact by representatives of the Walk 
to Shop Program, a  Zero Net Vermont initiative that “...seeks to support existing and current 
walkers to travel more efficiently for necessary short trips by walking instead of driving to their 
destinations” through the use of a “trolley that serves as an important accessibility tool allowing 
a greater range of people to make these short shopping trips by walking and having the ability to 
carry up to 40 lbs. comfortably in one trip.”  The trolley retails for $35 (which is a reduced 
price).   More can be learned about this initiative and the product at 
https://vtccc.w3.uvm.edu/walk-to-shop-program/ .  Tacy volunteered to contact the Walk to 
Shop representatives to learn more about their program and product and will report back to the 
Committee at the next meeting. 
 
 
Next Meeting: Monday, March 18 - 7:00 p.m. 
 
Meeting Adjourned: 8:35 p.m. 
 
 
 

https://vtccc.w3.uvm.edu/walk-to-shop-program/


City of Essex Junction 
Tree Advisory Committee 

Minutes of Meeting 
 February 20, 2023  

 
Members Present: Nick Meyer, Nicole Klett, Warren Spinner 
 
In attendance virtually: Steve Rivard and Rich Boyers  
 
I. Call To Order 
The meeting was called to order at 4:40 pm by Warren, second by Rich. 
 
II. Additions or Amendments to Agenda 
No additions 
 
III. Approval of Meeting Minutes 
A motion to approve the January 2024 meeting minutes was made by Warren, second by 
Nicole. 
 
IV.  Tree Planting 2024 
 
Warren reports that Nick has knocked on doors and spoken with a lot of Hayden, Wilkinson and 
Lavoie Street residents about the emerald ash borer. He is keeping record of locations where 
trees will be removed and the requested tree species of homeowners of trees. Have spoken with 
Harland for placing trees in Cascade Park including one as a memorial. A tree vandalized on 
Mansfield ave to replace. 
 
Still looking for a few places to plant since we do not have to use all the 23 trees that  are pulled 
from the nursery this year. Wanting to consolidate so watering is easier to manage. Consider 
West Street, Old Colchester road, Cascade and the Maple Street Park could be future sites. 
 
 
V. UCF Emerald Ash Borer Grant 
 
Warren and Nick announced that we got the grant and the city will sign off on it soon. City 
meeting with management of the grant and attended by Ricky Jones, Regina, Ashley, Warren 
and Nick. TAC will be enrolled in doing that given the timeline of the grant.The announcement of 
EAB in the Junction was posted on the City website. So far 19 Ash trees have been taken out 
on common lands on Wilkinson which we will not replace given they border a tree line. We will 
remove 20 more trees in the public right of way. The grant is a 50/50 match. DPW will remove the 
trees and be responsible for watering the newly planted trees. and we are likely not to replace. We 
will need to remove 20 more trees. This is for public land impacts rather The grant is a 50/50 
match. EW remove the trees and then the trees will be planted and also fund the watering and 
maintenance of planted trees. 
 
VI. Maple Street Park Tree Walk Improvements 
 
 



Nick took a walk and felt like it could be re-worked. Has spoken with Sammel signs who has 
done other signs in the park. They are well versed in park signage and what size is needed. QR 
codes could be done in aluminum. 
 
TAC will meet in June/Summer, walk the park, reduce the trees and make sure that diversity is 
intact. May be able to get volunteers and EJRP as well.  
 
 
Arbor Day or June as Tree Walk  2025 as target. 
 
Aspects of this project needing attention are: 
1.Budget for project 
2.New vision of walk 
3.Outdoor sign design and creation 
4.Signs on trees and purchasing 
5. QR codes on main map and trees 
6.The information to be accessed through the PR codes/websites 
7. New printed maps 
8.Audio version 
9.Miscellaneous 
 
VII. Arbor Day 
 
Nick is in contact with Fleming's principal and has 3 teams that are interested in helping with 
Arbor Day. Will aim for the first Friday in May or so. Need to decide on the location of planting 
there. Hoping students can research about trees and climate change. Steve will be happy to 
help. 
 
 
VIII.  2024 TAC Calendar  
 
Nicole put a folder together to capture info for PSAs. 
 

Will aim for a Tree planting article and announcement for a workshop that may be in April. 

January-Planning Calendar and setting up folder-complete 

February-Public Education around Tree Work/Trimming (Winter is the time to reach out to 
arborist)-incomplete 

March-Public Education around Thinking about planting a tree (So, you want to plant a tree) 

April- Tree Sale /National Arbor Day  

May-Tree Planting /VT Arbor Day @ named school–Mulching, etc. 

June-Tree Walk BOB 

July-Public Education around Tree Planting/Maintenance/Watering 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1iKFIzTcnH8AeEh2K7G05_3ps991NXdca?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1YsSska-S2zSBITNuxzYR4_VtfJtas9s9/edit?usp=sharing&ouid=113818760498066522555&rtpof=true&sd=true


August-Advertise Tree Contest 

September-Form Submission for Tree Contest open after Labor Day 

October-Judging and Announcement of Tree Contest Winner 

November-Public Education around Trees in Fall (Best Handling of Leaves, etc) 

December-Public Education around Tree Decorating/Tradition of Cutting down Christmas 
Tree 

 
IX. Landscape Plans 
 
Nick has plans that were discussed as projects that he and Warren have had some input on. 
Planning and zoning has us included in projects with an eye on landscaping. 
 
17 Park St-continuation of building design (Old Domino’s) similar to building with Boxcar Bakery 
that will have parking as well. TJ Boyle and Assoc has a plan for landscaping that Warren 
reviewed. Detail on tree grates and Silva Cells or Structural Soils for trees was requested by 
Warren. 
 
8 RR-next to Essex Agency, narrow structure with landscape with plans for a fire pit and bbq for 
residents and there’s another meeting about that plan in March. 
 
 
X. Other Business 
 
Tree Walk for EJ may be every other year and the next may be a re-opening of the Maple Street 
Park June 2025. 
 
XI. Date for Next Meeting 
 
The Committee will meet on March 19, 2024 at 4:30 p.m. 
 
Adjournment  
Steve made a motion to adjourn at  5:44 pm, 2nd by Warren. 
 



POLICE COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD 
                                                             REGULAR MEETING 

     MINUTES OF MEETING - DRAFT 
           FEBRUARY 20, 2024  

  
POLICE COMMUNITY ADVISORY BOARD: Gwendolyn Evans, Leo Duque, Christina Hagestad, Dan 
Maguire.    
Absent: Guillamue Teganyi, Arthur Bergeron, Ta-Tanisha Redditta (Advisor), Jody Kamon (Advisor). 
STAFF: Anthony Jackson-Miller (Community Affairs Liaison-Essex Police Department)  
ADMINISTRATION: Ron Hoague (Police Chief)  
OTHERS PRESENT: Dawn Hill-Fleury (remote)  
  
1. CALL TO ORDER  
Chair Leo Duque called the meeting to order at 5:59pm.  
  
2. AGENDA ADDITIONS/CHANGES  
A motion was made to add consideration of a new statewide domestic violence policy specifically 
involving law enforcement or individuals in positions of power. It will be discussed in depth next meeting. 
Lt Rob Kissinger will be in attendance to answer any questions the board may have. 
 
Anthony Jackson-Miller updated the board and answered questions regarding the ongoing process to fill 
vacant seats on the board. 
 
3. AGENDA APPROVAL  
 Agenda Approved.  Minutes from January 23, 2024 approved.   
  
4. PUBLIC TO BE HEARD  
No members of the public were heard. 
 
5. BUSINESS ITEMS  
a. Hannah Toof, Community Outreach, Howard Center.  
Ms. Toof detailed the interactive involvements her organization has with law enforcement. The board 
learned about First Call, local demographics, as well as the impacts and challenges of “houselessness”, 
mental health and substance abuse. Despite staff shortages services are provided across the county 
24/7.  
 
b. Work Plan 2024. 
The board continued to develop its work plan for 2024. As a threshold it was agreed that “getting the 
message out and encouraging others to get involved” was paramount. The CAB will have a presence at 
the “showcase” held the evening before Town Meeting and the CAB will have a place on the Town’s 
website - independent of the police department. Gwen offered and the board welcomed her offer to 
write a blog about her ongoing experience as a CAB board member. The Chair asked for and received a 
“rolodex” of contacts from Anthony that the board could consider reaching out to in efforts to “get the 
message out”. 
 
c. Domestic Violence – new statewide policy involving law enforcement or individuals in positions of 
power. 



The Chief shared the new statewide policy with the board. It will be discussed in more detail at the next 
meeting. The Chief suggested the board review the EPD’s current domestic violence policy in advance of 
the next meeting. 
 
d. Chief’s updates 
The Chief advised that the Citizen’s Academy has 8 applicants, and the program looks good to go. At that 
moment Gwen advised she had also applied, so that there are now 9 applicants. 
 
The Chief spoke of the importance of “wellness” and the ongoing implementation of a “wellness 
response” initiative. The response included peer support, psychological help and confidentiality. He 
reported that the initiative has been well received and the Union leadership has been supportive. 
 
 
6. CONFIRMATION OF TOPICS FOR NEXT MEETINGS AGENDA  
Anthony Jackson-Miller advised the next meeting will include further discussion relative to the board’s 
Work Plan for 2024. 
 
  
7. ADJOURN  
Gwen made a motion to adjourn which was unanimously seconded by the Board.  The meeting 
adjourned at 7:30pm.  
  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Dan Maguire 
CAB Secretary 
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